
 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA                           CITY COUNCIL MEETING & 
 CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS                            PUBLIC HEARING AGENDA 

 

  

October 16th, 2018 5:30 pm 
  

1. Call to Order by Mayor Jonathan McCollar 
 

2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance by Mayor McCollar 
 

3. Recognitions/Public Presentations 
 
A) Proclamation recognizing Domestic Violence Awareness Month 

 
4. Public Comments (Agenda Item): 

 
5. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 

A) Approval of Minutes 
a) 10-02-2018 Council Minutes 

 
6. Second Reading and Consideration of a Motion to approve Ordinance 2018-09: An 

Ordinance Amending Article 2, Section 2 of the City of Statesboro Code of Ordinances 
to establish the Statesboro Commission on Diversity and Inclusion pursuant to City 
Charter 2-6. 
 

7. Second Reading and Consideration of a Motion to approve Ordinance 2018-10: An 
Ordinance Amending Article 2, Section 2 of the City of Statesboro Code of Ordinances 
to establish the Statesboro Youth Commission pursuant to City Charter Section 2-6. 
 

8. Second Reading and Consideration of a Motion to approve Ordinance 2018-11: An 
Ordinance Amending Article 2, Section 2 of the City of Statesboro Code of Ordinances 
to establish the Statesboro Works! Commission pursuant to City Charter Section 2-6. 
 

9. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION CBD 18-
09- 01: Justin Peay requests approval of the proposed architectural plans submitted for 
0.03 acres of property located at 19 Courtland Street, which is located in the Central 
Business District (CBD). Per Article VIII, Section 803, development in the CBD zoning 
district requires a recommendation from City Council to affirm that the plans will keep in 
mind the integrity and harmony of the Central Business District (Tax Parcel S28 000023 
000).  
 

10. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION V 18-09-
02 : Ogburn Realty, Inc. requests a variance from Article X, Section 1003(H) to reduce 
the required rear yard setback in order to construct an auto parts store on 1 acre of 
property located at 1044 South Main Street (Tax Parcel MS43 000018 000). 
 
 



 
 

11. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION RZ 18-09- 
03: Bethany Assisted Living, Inc. requests a zoning map amendment of 26.477 acres, a 
portion of a larger 39.86 acre tract located at 77 Bethany Way from PUD (Planned Unit 
Development) to the R-4 (High Density Residential) zoning district in order to develop 
residential duplex, triplex, and/or single family attached dwelling units (Tax Parcel MS40 
000074 000).  
 

12. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION RZ 18-09- 
04: JGR Development, LLC requests a zoning map amendment of 138.06 acres, a portion 
of a larger 225.45 acre tract located at 2457 Old Register Road from R-40 (Single Family 
Residential) to the PUD (Planned Unit Development) zoning district in order to develop 
the property as mixed use, commercial, office, and residential (Tax Parcel 076 000001 
000). 
 

13. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION RZ 18-09- 
05: JGR Development, LLC requests a zoning map amendment of 19.23 acres, a portion 
of a larger 19.52 acre tract located at 2802 Old Register Road from PUD/CR (Planned 
Unit Development/Commercial Retail) to the PUD (Planned Unit Development) zoning 
district in order to develop a soccer stadium complex (Tax Parcel 076 000001 002).  
 

14. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION V 18-09- 
07: Robert Forrest (Stonewalk Companies) requests a variance from Article XIV, Section 
1402 to reduce the minimum lot size requirements for property to be considered for the 
PUD (Planned Unit Development) zoning district in order to develop mixed use student 
housing on 2.994 acres of property for a combination of parcels addressed 108 Georgia 
Avenue, Georgia Avenue, 15 University Plaza Avenue, 1 University Place, 8 University 
Place, and 6 University Plaza (Tax Parcel(s) MS61 000056 000, MS61 000058 000, 
MS61 000052 B000, MS61 000052 A000, MS61 000055 A000, MS61 000052 000).  
 

15. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION RZ 18-09- 
06: Robert Forrest (Stonewalk Companies) requests a zoning map amendment of 2.994 
acres located at University Plaza from the CR (Commercial Retail) to the PUD (Planned 
Unit Development) zoning district in order to develop mixed use student housing for a 
combination of parcels addressed 108 Georgia Avenue, Georgia Avenue, 15 University 
Plaza Avenue, 1 University Place, 8 University Place, and 6 University Plaza (Tax 
Parcel(s) MS61 000056 000, MS61 000058 000, MS61 000052 B000, MS61 000052 
A000, MS61 000055 A000, MS61 000052 000).  
 

16. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION V 18-09- 
08: Robert Forrest (Stonewalk Companies) requests a variance from Article XVI, Section 
1600 to reduce the minimum parking requirements in order to develop mixed use student 
housing on 2.994 acres of property for a combination of parcels addressed 108 Georgia 
Avenue, Georgia Avenue, 15 University Plaza Avenue, 1 University Place, 8 University 
Place, and 6 University Plaza (Tax Parcel(s) MS61 000056 000, MS61 000058 000, 
MS61 000052 B000, MS61 000052 A000, MS61 000055 A000, MS61 000052 000).  
 



 
 

17. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION RZ 18-09- 
09: Robert Forrest (Stonewalk Companies) requests a variance from Article X, Section 
1002 to increase the allowable building height in order to develop mixed use student 
housing on 2.994 acres of property for a combination of parcels addressed 108 Georgia 
Avenue, Georgia Avenue, 15 University Plaza Avenue, 1 University Place, 8 University 
Place, and 6 University Plaza (Tax Parcel(s) MS61 000056 000, MS61 000058 000, 
MS61 000052 B000, MS61 000052 A000, MS61 000055 A000, MS61 000052 000).  
 

18. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION V 18-09- 
10: Bobby Wilcox (Wilcox Sign Company) requests a variance from Article XV, Section 
1509 to exceed the freestanding sign height limit of 8 feet, in order to place a 8.75 foot 
sign at 6922 Veterans Memorial Parkway(Tax Parcel MS42000012 000). 
 

19. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION V 18-09- 
11: Bobby Wilcox (Wilcox Sign Company) requests a variance from Article XV, Section 
1509 to exceed the freestanding sign height limit of 8 feet, in order to place a 36.708 foot 
sign at 6922 Veterans Memorial Parkway(Tax Parcel MS42000012 000). 
 

20. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION V 18-09- 
12: Bobby Wilcox (Wilcox Sign Company) requests a variance from Article XV, Section 
1509 to exceed the freestanding sign square footage allowance of 120 square feet in order 
to place 2 signs totaling 239.507 square feet at 6922 Veterans Memorial Parkway (Tax 
Parcel MS42000012 000). 
 

21. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION V 18-09- 
13: Bobby Wilcox (Wilcox Sign Company) requests a variance from Article XV, Section 
1509 to exceed the wall sign square footage allowance of 200 square feet in order to 
place signs totaling 330.746 square feet at 6922 Veterans Memorial Parkway (Tax Parcel 
MS24000012 000). 
 

22. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION V 18-09- 
14: Bobby Wilcox (Wilcox Sign Company) requests a variance from Article XV, Section 
1509 to exceed the wall sign limit per elevation to place four (4) wall signs on one 
elevation at 6922 Veterans Memorial Parkway (Tax Parcel MS24000012 000). 
 

23. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION V 18-09- 
15: Bobby Wilcox (Wilcox Sign Company) requests a variance from Article XV, Section 
1509 to exceed the aggregate square footage allowance of 300 square feet in order to 
place signage totaling 570.253 square feet at 6922 Veterans Memorial Parkway (Tax 
Parcel MS24000012 000). 
 

24. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION CUV 18-
09- 16: Journey to Sober Living, LLC request a conditional use variance from Article V 
of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance for 0.55 acres of property located at 24 Carmel Drive 
to utilize the property as a community living arrangement facility (Tax Parcel S59 
000083 000).  
 



 
 

25. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION CUV 18-
09- 17: Journey to Sober Living, LLC request a conditional use variance from Article V 
of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance for 0.48 acres of property located at 17 Carmel Drive 
to utilize the property as a community living arrangement facility (Tax Parcel S59 
000090 000).  
 

26. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION CUV 18-
09- 18: Journey to Sober Living, LLC request a conditional use variance from Article V 
of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance for 0.55 acres of property located at 207 Donaldson 
Street to utilize the property as a community living arrangement facility (Tax Parcel S29 
000123 000).  
 

27. Consideration of a Motion to approve an application for Sec.6-17(d) exemptions to open 
container prohibition.   

A) Eagle Creek Brewing Company   
106 Savannah Ave Suite B  
   

B) The Blue Room  
1830 Chandler Rd   
  

28. Consideration of a Motion to Approve Resolution 2018-27: A Resolution to adopt the 
first amendment to the six-year capital improvements program for the Fiscal Year 2018-
2019 through 2023-2024 for the City of Statesboro, Georgia. 
 

29. Consideration of a Motion to award a contract for the purchase of vehicles to Wade Ford 
as they have submitted the lowest responsive sealed bid for the following vehicles: 
1. Wade Ford (10) Explorer SUVs $29,009.00 each (SWC)                 $290,090.00 Total 
2. Wade Ford (1) F-150 Crew      $26,476.00 each                                  $26,476.00 Total 
3. Wade Ford (2) F-150                $21,397.00 each                                  $42,794.00 Total 
4. Wade Ford (1) Cab & Chas.   $35,297.00 each                                  $35,297.00 Total 

The Police vehicles are funded under CIP# PD-1 with remaining funds from the recent 1 mill 
increase with a budget not to exceed $545,000.00 and the Waste Water Department trucks 
are funded by general operational funds under CIP# WWD-49 ($75,050), WWD-
101($30,000) and WWD-139 ($30,000). 

 
30. Consideration of a Motion to approve a contract to provide a compensation study to 

Condrey and Associates in the amount of $29,900.00. If approved, this would be funded 
out of the General Fund of Human Resources. 
 

31. Consideration of a Motion to award a contract to provide a managed security door system 
for the Police Department in the amount of $34,500.00 for the installation of equipment 
and an amount of $528.00 for monthly monitoring/maintenance to ADS. ADS is the sole 
source provider of the Secure Door brand security system currently in use at the Fire 
Department facilities. This project was approved as a CIP in the amount of $45,000.00. 
 
 



 
 

32. Consideration of a Motion to Adopt Resolution #2018- 28 : A Resolution approving the 
City of Statesboro’s proposed FY 2019 Street Resurfacing List, and further authorizing 
the Mayor to execute the GDOT Local Maintenance Improvement Grant (LMIG) 
Application. GDOT will allocate $300,561.86 to the City of Statesboro and this grant 
requires 30% matching funds. The City will be providing $772,000 in matching funds 
from TSPLOST for a total budget of $1,072,561.86. 
 

33. Consideration of a Motion to Approve Resolution 2018-29: A Resolution to Abandon a 
Portion of West Cherry Street, Between South College Street and Martin Luther King, Jr. 
Drive. 

 
34. Other Business from City Council 
 
35.  City Managers Comments 
 
36. Public Comments (General) 

 
37. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters” 

“Real Estate” and/or “Potential Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A 50-14-3(b) 
 

38. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 



A ProclAmAtion by the mAyor And 

city council of StAteSboro, GeorGiA  
  DOMESTIC VIOLENCE AWARENESS MONTH 

 
WHEREAS,  the crime of domestic violence violates an individual’s privacy, dignity, 

security and humanity due to the systematic use of physical, emotional, 
sexual, psychological and economic control and/or abuse; and  

 
WHEREAS,  domestic violence leaves an imprint of fear and hostility; and  
 
WHEREAS,  the problems of domestic violence are not confined to any group or groups 

of people but cross all economic, racial, affectional preference, and social 
barriers, thereby affecting society as a whole; and  

 
WHEREAS, in the city of Statesboro, adults and children are victims of violence each 

year; and  
 
WHEREAS,  Statesboro City Council is committed to restoring the right to freedom from 

fear in our own homes; and  
 
WHEREAS,  Statesboro City Council is committed to restoring the right to freedom from 

fear in our communities: and  
 
WHEREAS,  in our quest to impose sanctions on those who break the law by perpetrating 

violence, we must also meet the needs of victims of domestic violence and 
their children who often suffer grave financial, physical, and psychological 
losses; and  

 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that in recognition of the important work done 
by domestic violence programs, in cooperation with Safe Haven, I, Jonathan McCollar, Mayor of 
the City of Statesboro and on behalf of the entire City Council, does herby proclaim the month of 
October 2018 as Domestic Violence Awareness Month. We urge all citizens, agencies, and 
businesses to WORK TOGETHER AS A TEAM IN OUR COMMUNITY THROUGH 
PREVENTION, INTERVENTION AND EDUCATION PROGRAMS, to eliminate domestic 
violence and become a violence free community.  

 
 
 

___________________________ 
Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 



  
 

 
 
 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
COUNCIL MINUTES 

OCTOBER 2, 2018 
 
A regular meeting of the Statesboro City Council was held on October 2nd, 2018 at 9:00p.m. in the 
Council Chambers at City Hall. Present were Mayor Jonathan McCollar, Council Members: Phil 
Boyum, Sam Lee Jones, Jeff Yawn and Derek Duke. Also present were City Manager Randy 
Wetmore, City Clerk Sue Starling and City Attorney Cain Smith. Councilman John Riggs was 
absent 
  
The Meeting was called to Order by Mayor Jonathan McCollar. 
 
The Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance was led by Councilman Derek Duke 

 
Recognitions/Public Presentations 
 

A)  Recognition of City Employee Brandi Davis and Daviean Lundy for their act of 
service in assisting a disabled citizen in need while working on their route. 

 
Mayor McCollar presented a plaque to Brandi and Davien for their act of service. 
 
Public Comments (Agenda Item): None  
 
Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 

A) Approval of Minutes 
a) 09-18-2018 Council Minutes 
b) 09-18-2018 Executive Session Minutes 

 
Councilman Duke made a motion seconded by Councilman Yawn to approve the consent agenda 
in its entirety. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Duke voted in favor of the motion, the motion 
carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Second Reading and Consideration of a Motion to approve Ordinance 2018-12: An 
Ordinance amending Article 31: SOLAR INSTALLATION AND OPERATION governing 
solar systems within the City of Statesboro. 
 
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Boyum to approve Ordinance 2018-
12: An Ordinance amending Article 31: SOLAR INSTALLATION AND OPERATION governing 
solar systems within the City of Statesboro. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Duke voted in 
favor of the motion, the motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 

 
 



  

 
Public Hearing regarding the closure of West Cherry Street, from Martin Luther King, Jr. 
Drive to South College Street. 
 
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Duke to open the public hearing. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Duke voted in favor of the motion, the motion carried by a 
4-0 vote. 
 
No one spoke for or against the request. 
 
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Duke to close the public hearing. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Duke voted in favor of the motion, the motion carried by a 
4-0 vote. 
 
There was no vote taken. 
 
Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to approve application for an alcohol license   
Sec. 6-5. 

A) VIP Store Inc. ( convenient store) 
301 North Main St 

 
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Duke to open the public hearing. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Duke voted in favor of the motion, the motion carried by a 
4-0 vote. 
 
No one spoke for or against the request. 
 
Councilman Duke made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to close the public hearing. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Duke voted in favor of the motion, the motion carried by a 
4-0 vote. 
 
Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to approve the alcohol 
application for VIP Store Inc. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Duke voted in favor of the 
motion, the motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
 
Consideration of a Motion to approve an application for Sec.6-17(d) exemptions to open 
container prohibition.  

A) Eagle Creek Brewing Company 
106 Savannah Ave. 

B) Eagle Creek Brewing Company 
106 Savannah Ave. 

 
Item B was added during the Council meeting. 



   
  

 
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Duke to approve the application for 
(A) Eagle Creek Brewing Company for October 5th, 2018. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and 
Duke voted in favor of the motion, the motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to approve the application 
for (B) Eagle Creek Brewing Company for October 13th, 2018. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn 
and Duke voted in favor of the motion, the motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION RZ 18-07-02: Windward South requests 
a zoning map amendment of 19.2 acres from a 54.12 acre property located on S&S Railroad Bed 
Road from R-10/R-8 (Single Family Residential) to the PUD (Planned Unit Development) zoning 
district in order to develop a multifamily residential subdivision (Tax Parcel #107 000009 000). 
 
Councilman Duke gave a summary of where we are on the request and that the requestors are 
within the guidelines to start construction on the project. Jason Boyles gave update on the traffic 
study and Frank Neal gave update on staff recommendations. 
Robert Costameris spoke against the request as he represented several other in the audience. 
Councilman Boyum also spoke against the request while asking for a better plan. 
Councilman Duke made a motion, seconded by Councilman Jones to approve APPLICATION 
RZ 18-07-02: Windward South requests a zoning map amendment of 19.2 acres from a 54.12 acre 
property located on S&S Railroad Bed Road from R-10/R-8 (Single Family Residential) to the 
PUD (Planned Unit Development) zoning district in order to develop a multifamily residential 
subdivision (Tax Parcel #107 000009 000). Councilman Jones, Yawn and Duke voted in favor of 
the motion, the motion carried by a 3-1 vote. Councilman Boyum voted against the motion. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to Approve Award of Contract to Chandler Roofing in the 
amount of $126,300.00 for the City Hall/Averitt Center for the Arts Roof Restoration 
Project.  Funding is provided by 2013 SPLOST funds. 
 
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Boyum to award a Contract to 
Chandler Roofing in the amount of $126,300.00 for the City Hall/Averitt Center for the Arts Roof 
Restoration Project.  Funding is provided by 2013 SPLOST funds. Councilman Boyum, Jones, 
Yawn and Duke voted in favor of the motion, the motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Discussion and Consideration of a Motion to approve the reorganization of the City 
Manager’s Office. 
 
Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to approve the reorganization 
of the City Manager’s Office. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Duke voted in favor of the 
motion, the motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Discussion regarding prioritization and schedule of TSPLOST projects. 
 
Director of Public Works and engineering Jason Boyles updated Council on the list of TSPLOST 
projects. 
 



  

Other Business from City Council: None 
 

City Managers Comments 
 
There will be a called Council meeting for October 30, 2018 at 7:30 am to discuss TSPLOST and 
the Davenport project at City Hall. 
Councilman Boyum stated the new dog park will open on Saturday at 11:00 am. 
Police Chief Broadhead gave Council an updated on crime in the City. He stated the violent crime 
throughout the City is down. 

 
Public Comments (General) None 

 
Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters” 
“Real Estate” and/or “Potential Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A.§50-14-3 (2012)(b) 
 
There was no Executive Session. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 
 
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Jones to adjourn. Councilman 
Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Duke voted in favor of the motion, the motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 10:08 am. 
  



 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan J McCollar, Mayor 
Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

Sue Starling, City Clerk 
I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Sam Lee Jones 
Jeff B. Yawn 
John C. Riggs 
Derek Duke 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To: Randy Wetmore, City Manager and Sue Starling, City Clerk 
 
 
From: Cain Smith, City Attorney 
 
 
Date: October 2, 2018 
 
 
RE: October 16, 2018 City Council Agenda Items 
 
 
Policy Issue: Amending Article 2, Section 2 of the City of Statesboro Code of 
Ordinances to establish the Statesboro Commission on Diversity and Inclusion 
pursuant to City Charter Section 2-6. 
 
 
Recommendation: Mayor Jonathan McCollar requested Ordinance revisions to 
establish said commission be brought before City Council for consideration. 
 
 
Background: Second reading and Consideration 
 
 
Budget Impact: TBD 
 
 
Council Person and District: N/A 
 
 
Attachments: Proposed Ordinance 2019-09 
 
 
 
   



Ordinance #2018-09 

An Ordinance Amending Article 2 (Authorities, Boards and Commissions) of Chapter 2 
(Administration) of the Statesboro Code of Ordinances 

WHEREAS, the City has previously adopted ordinances creating certain Authorities, Boards and 
Commissions; and 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council has determined there is sufficient reason and need to 
amend certain sections of Article 2 (Authorities, Boards and Commissions) of Chapter 2 
(Administration) of the Code of Ordinances, City of Statesboro, Georgia to create the 
Commission on Diversity and Inclusion 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of 
Statesboro, Georgia, in regular session assembled as follows: 

SECTION 1: 

Article 2 (Authorities, Boards and Commissions) of Chapter 2 (Administration) of the Code of 
Ordinances, City of Statesboro, Georgia is hereby amended to read as follows: 

Sec. 2-55 Establishment; appointment; terms; compensation; removal. 

Sec. 2-56 Chairman; rules of procedure and bylaws; meetings. 

Sec. 2-57. Scope of Authority. 

secs. 2-58-59 Reserved. 

Sec. 2-55. - Establishment; appointment; terms; compensation; removal. 

There is hereby created a board to be known as the Commission on Diversity and Inclusion. The 
Commission on Diversity and Inclusion shall consist of eight (8) members who shall be residents 
of Bulloch County. The term of office of each appointed member shall be two years, and the 
term shall begin on October 1st, and end at the stroke of midnight on September 30th. The initial 
term for initial members of the Commission on Diversity and Inclusion shall end on September 
30, 2020. The initial members of the Commission on Diversity and Inclusion have been 
appointed at the time this chapter takes effect and shall hold office for the balance of their terms 
then remaining, and their successors shall be appointed by the Mayor and City Council for a term 
of two years. Vacancies on the Commission on Diversity and Inclusion occurring other than by 
expiration of term shall be filled by an interim appointment for the unexpired term by the Mayor 
and City Council. The Mayor and City Council shall have the authority to remove any member 
of the Commission on Diversity and Inclusion by a majority vote for cause, on written charges, 
after a public hearing. The Mayor and City Council in consultation with the Commission on 
Diversity and Inclusion may appoint non-voting ex officio members to said Commission to 
provide Administrative Support and/or subject matter expertise. All members shall serve without 
compensation. 

Sec. 2-56. - Chair; rules of procedure and bylaws; meetings; records. 



a. The Commission on Diversity and Inclusion shall elect a chair from among its 
members who shall serve for a term of one year and who shall be eligible for re-election 
as chairman. 

b. The Commission on Diversity and Inclusion shall make its own bylaws and rules 
of procedure and shall determine its time and place of meetings. 

c. The transactions of the Commission on Diversity and Inclusion are governed by 
the Georgia Open Meetings Act O.C.G.A. §§ 50-14-1 et. seq., and it shall be the joint 
and several responsibility of the members to comply with the Georgia Open Meetings 
Act.  

Sec. 2-57. — Scope of Authority. 

The Commission on Diversity and Inclusion shall have the authority to prepare studies and 
reports, strategies, education efforts and programs for the purpose of informing the governing 
body on policy matters related to promoting diversity, inclusion, and equity among the citizens 
of Statesboro connected to issues of poverty and prosperity. 
 

  

SECTION 2: All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with this ordinance are hereby 
repealed. 

SECTION 3: This ordinance shall become effective immediately upon its adoption by the City 
Council. 

SO ORDAINED, this ____ day of _______________ 2018 in Statesboro, Georgia. 

First Reading and Consideration: September 18, 2018 
Second Reading:  October 16, 2018 
                                                                                           ________________________________ 

    Jonathan J McCollar, in his capacity as  
Mayor of Statesboro, Georgia 

 
ATTEST: 

 
                                                                                          _________________________________ 

Sue Starling, in her capacity as City  
Clerk of Statesboro, Georgia 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan J McCollar, Mayor 
Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

Sue Starling, City Clerk 
I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Sam Lee Jones 
Jeff B. Yawn 
John C. Riggs 
Derek Duke 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To: Randy Wetmore, City Manager and Sue Starling, City Clerk 
 
 
From: Cain Smith, City Attorney 
 
 
Date: October 2, 2018 
 
 
RE: October 16, 2018 City Council Agenda Items 
 
 
Policy Issue: Amending Article 2, Section 2 of the City of Statesboro Code of 
Ordinances to establish the Statesboro Youth Commission pursuant to City 
Charter Section 2-6. 
 
 
Recommendation: Mayor Jonathan McCollar requested Ordinance revisions to 
establish said commission be brought before City Council for consideration. 
 
 
Background: Second Reading and Consideration 
 
 
Budget Impact: TBD 
 
 
Council Person and District: N/A 
 
 
Attachments: Proposed Ordinance 2018-10 
 
 
 
   



Ordinance #2018-10 

An Ordinance Amending Article 2 (Authorities, Boards and Commissions) of Chapter 2 
(Administration) of the Statesboro Code of Ordinances 

WHEREAS, the City has previously adopted ordinances creating certain Authorities, Boards and 
Commissions; and 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council has determined there is sufficient reason and need to 
amend certain sections of Article 2 (Authorities, Boards and Commissions) of Chapter 2 
(Administration) of the Code of Ordinances, City of Statesboro, Georgia to create the Youth 
Commission 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of 
Statesboro, Georgia, in regular session assembled as follows: 

SECTION 1: 

Article 2 (Authorities, Boards and Commissions) of Chapter 2 (Administration) of the Code of 
Ordinances, City of Statesboro, Georgia is hereby amended to read as follows: 

Sec. 2-81 Establishment; appointment; terms; compensation; removal. 

Sec. 2-82 Chair; rules of procedure and bylaws; meetings. 

Sec. 2-83 Scope of Authority. 

Secs. 2-84-85 Reserved. 

Sec. 2-81. - Establishment; appointment; terms; compensation; removal. 

There is hereby created a board to be known as the Youth Commission. The Youth Commission 
shall consist of nine (9) members who shall be residents of Bulloch County. The term of office of 
each appointed member shall be two years, and the term shall begin on October 1st, and end at 
the stroke of midnight on September 30th. The initial term for initial members of the Youth 
Commission shall end on September 30, 2020. The initial members of the Youth Commission 
have been appointed at the time this chapter takes effect and shall hold office for the balance of 
their terms then remaining, and their successors shall be appointed by the Mayor and City 
Council for a term of two years. Vacancies on the Youth Commission occurring other than by 
expiration of term shall be filled by an interim appointment for the unexpired term by the Mayor 
and City Council. The Mayor and City Council shall have the authority to remove any member 
of the Youth Commission by a majority vote for cause, on written charges, after a public hearing. 
The Mayor and City Council in consultation with the Youth Commission may appoint non-
voting ex officio members to said Commission to provide Administrative Support and/or subject 
matter expertise. All members shall serve without compensation. 

Sec. 2-82. - Chair; rules of procedure and bylaws; meetings; records. 

a. The Youth Commission shall elect a chair from among its members who shall 
serve for a term of one year and who shall be eligible for re-election as chair. 



b. The Youth Commission shall make its own bylaws and rules of procedure and 
shall determine its time and place of meetings. 

c. The transactions of the Youth Commission are governed by the Georgia Open 
Meetings Act O.C.G.A. §§ 50-14-1 et. seq., and it shall be the joint and several 
responsibility of the members to comply with the Georgia Open Meetings Act.  

Sec. 2-83 — Scope of Authority. 

The Youth Commission shall have the authority to prepare studies and reports, strategies, 
education efforts and programs for the purpose of informing the governing body on policy 
matters related to youth civic engagement, education, leadership, service learning opportunities, 
job training and development and the empowerment,  
 

SECTION 2: All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with this ordinance are hereby 
repealed. 

SECTION 3: This ordinance shall become effective immediately upon its adoption by the City 
Council. 

SO ORDAINED, this ____ day of _______________ 2018 in Statesboro, Georgia. 

First Reading and Consideration: September 18, 2018 
Second reading: October 16, 2018 
                                                                                           ________________________________ 

    Jonathan J McCollar, in his capacity as  
Mayor of Statesboro, Georgia 

 
ATTEST: 

 
                                                                                          _________________________________ 

Sue Starling, in her capacity as City  
Clerk of Statesboro, Georgia 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan J McCollar, Mayor 
Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

Sue Starling, City Clerk 
I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Sam Lee Jones 
Jeff B. Yawn 
John C. Riggs 
Derek Duke 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To: Randy Wetmore, City Manager and Sue Starling, City Clerk 
 
 
From: Cain Smith, City Attorney 
 
 
Date: October 2, 2018 
 
 
RE: September 16, 2018 City Council Agenda Items 
 
 
Policy Issue: Amending Article 2, Section 2 of the City of Statesboro Code of 
Ordinances to establish the Statesboro Works! Commission pursuant to City 
Charter Section 2-6. 
 
 
Recommendation: Mayor Jonathan McCollar requested Ordinance revisions to 
establish said commission be brought before City Council for consideration. 
 
 
Background: Second Reading and Consideration 
 
 
Budget Impact: TBD 
 
 
Council Person and District: N/A 
 
 
Attachments: Proposed Ordinance 2018-11 
 
 
 
   



Ordinance #2018-11 

An Ordinance Amending Article 2 (Authorities, Boards and Commissions) of Chapter 2 
(Administration) of the Statesboro Code of Ordinances 

WHEREAS, the City has previously adopted ordinances creating certain Authorities, Boards and 
Commissions; and 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council has determined there is sufficient reason and need to 
amend certain sections of Article 2 (Authorities, Boards and Commissions) of Chapter 2 
(Administration) of the Code of Ordinances, City of Statesboro, Georgia to create the Statesboro 
Works! Commission 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of 
Statesboro, Georgia, in regular session assembled as follows: 

SECTION 1: 

Article 2 (Authorities, Boards and Commissions) of Chapter 2 (Administration) of the Code of 
Ordinances, City of Statesboro, Georgia is hereby amended to read as follows: 

Sec. 2-60 Establishment; appointment; terms; compensation; removal. 

Sec. 2-61 Chair; rules of procedure and bylaws; meetings. 

Sec. 2-62 Scope of Authority. 

Secs. 2-63-65 Reserved. 

Sec. 2-60. - Establishment; appointment; terms; compensation; removal. 

There is hereby created a board to be known as the Statesboro Works! Commission. The 
Statesboro Works! Commission shall consist of ten (10) members who shall be residents of 
Bulloch County. The term of office of each appointed member shall be two years, and the term 
shall begin on October 1st, and end at the stroke of midnight on September 30th. The initial term 
for initial members of the Statesboro Works! Commission shall end on September 30, 2020. The 
initial members of the Statesboro Works! Commission  have been appointed at the time this 
chapter takes effect and shall hold office for the balance of their terms then remaining, and their 
successors shall be appointed by the Mayor and City Council for a term of two years. Vacancies 
on the Statesboro Works! Commission occurring other than by expiration of term shall be filled 
by an interim appointment for the unexpired term by the Mayor and City Council. The Mayor 
and City Council shall have the authority to remove any member of the Statesboro Works! 
Commission by a majority vote for cause, on written charges, after a public hearing. The Mayor 
and City Council in consultation with the Statesboro Works! Commission may appoint non-
voting ex officio members to said Commission to provide Administrative Support and/or subject 
matter expertise. All members shall serve without compensation. 

Sec. 2-61. - Chair; rules of procedure and bylaws; meetings; records. 



a. The Statesboro Works! Commission shall elect a chair from among its members 
who shall serve for a term of one year and who shall be eligible for re-election as chair. 

b. The Statesboro Works! Commission shall make its own bylaws and rules of 
procedure and shall determine its time and place of meetings. 

c. The transactions of the Statesboro Works! Commission are governed by the 
Georgia Open Meetings Act O.C.G.A. §§ 50-14-1 et. seq., and it shall be the joint and 
several responsibility of the members to comply with the Georgia Open Meetings Act.  

Sec. 2-62 — Scope of Authority. 

The Statesboro Works! Commission shall have the authority to prepare studies and reports 
strategies, education efforts and programs for the purpose of informing the governing body on 
policy matters related to promoting an inclusive workforce where job seekers are able to 
maximize their career potential by developing skills and educational credentials to earn a living 
wage and businesses with the talent they need to prosper. 

 

SECTION 2: All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with this ordinance are hereby 
repealed. 

SECTION 3: This ordinance shall become effective immediately upon its adoption by the City 
Council. 

SO ORDAINED, this ____ day of _______________ 2018 in Statesboro, Georgia. 

First Reading and Consideration: September 18, 2018 
Second reading: October 16, 2018 
                                                                                           ________________________________ 

    Jonathan J McCollar, in his capacity as  
Mayor of Statesboro, Georgia 

 
ATTEST: 

 
                                                                                          _________________________________ 

Sue Starling, in her capacity as City  
Clerk of Statesboro, Georgia 

 

 

 

 

 

 



CITY OF STATESBORO 
 

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum, District 1 

Sam Jones, District 2 

Jeff Yawn, District 3 

John Riggs, District 4 

Derek Duke, District 5 

 
 

 

Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 

Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

Sue Starling, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 • STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence    Certified City of Ethics  

Telephone: (912) 764-5468      Fax: (912) 764-4691                                                                   

www.statesboroga.gov  

To: Randy Wetmore, City Manager and Sue Starling, City Clerk 

 

From: Owen Dundee, City Planner II 

 

Date: October 8, 2018 

 

RE: October 16, 2018 City Council Agenda Items 

 

Policy Issue: Statesboro Zoning Ordinance: Central Business District Plan Review 

 

Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the Central Business District 

Plan Review requested by CBD 18-09-01 with conditions. 

 

Background: Justin Peay requests approval of the proposed architectural plans 

submitted for 0.03 acres of property located at 19 Courtland Street, which is 

located in the Central Business District (CBD). Per Article VIII, Section 803, 

development in the CBD zoning district requires a recommendation from City 

Council to affirm that the plans will keep in mind the integrity and harmony of 

the Central Business District (Tax Parcel S28 000023 000). 

 

Budget Impact: None 

 

Council Person and District: Boyum (District 1) 

 

Attachments: Development Services Report CBD-18-09-01 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.statesboroga.gov/


 

Development Services Report 

Case CBD 18-09-01 

City of Statesboro-Department of Planning and Development 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
P.O. Box 348    (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia 30458  (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

 CBD 18-09-01 

CBD PLAN REVIEW 

19 COURTLAND STREET 

LOCATION: 19 Courtland Street 

 

REQUEST: 

Approval of architectural plans for 

development on a CBD (Central 

Business District) property. 

APPLICANT: Justin Peay 

OWNER(S): Justin Peay Productions LLC 

ACRES: 0.03 Acres 

PARCEL TAX  

MAP #: 
S28 000023 000 

COUNCIL        

DISTRICT:            
District 1 (Boyum) 

PROPOSAL: 

The applicant requests approval of the architectural plans submitted for 0.03 acres of property located 
at 19 Courtland Street, which is located in the Central Business District (CBD). Per Article VIII, Section 803, 
development in the CBD zoning district requires a recommendation from City Council to affirm that the plans 
will keep in mind the integrity and harmony of the Central Business District 

BACKGROUND:     

Located downtown and directly North of the Bulloch County Probate Courthouse, this property is 
currently home to Divvy Desk, a co-working space for the digital creative. The business rents out desk 
spaces in an open-air environment to individuals/companies that do not need an entire office, but do not 
want to work from their homes or coffee shops. Divvy Desk members pay $250 a month for an annual 
membership, and Day-Rate Members pay $20 a day and have access to the lounge area for the day. Perks 
included with a membership include hi-speed internet, free coffee and filtered water, utilities, cleaning 
services, mailing services, printer access, and basic office supplies. Currently, Divvy Desk has 8 desk 
member stations with 6 of them already filled. The proposed expansion will include 2 private offices that will 
be rented out at a premium, a conference room, and 2 phone booths (for individuals that take a phone call in 
the open-air office space and would like some privacy).  
 
SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING:  

 ZONING: LAND USE: 

NORTH: CBD (Central Business District) Business or professional offices and office buildings 

SOUTH: CBD (Central Business District) Bulloch County Probate Courthouse 

EAST: CBD (Central Business District) Bulloch County Judicial Annex, business or professional offices and office 
buildings 

WEST CBD (Central Business District) Retail or wholesale establishments, business or professional offices and 
office buildings 

 
ATTACHMENTS: Exhibit A (Location Map), Exhibit B (Photos of Subject Site), Exhibit C (Proposed 
Architectural Elevations/Building Plans) 



Development Services Report 

Case CBD 18-09-01 

 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: 

The City of Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan’s Future Development Map includes the subject site in 

the following character area: 

“Downtown” 

Vision: 

Downtown is the historic core of the city and should remain the activity and cultural hub 

of the region. In the Urban Core, Traditional development patterns of buildings along 

the sidewalk and a lively streetscape should be respected and promoted. Historic 

buildings should be protected from demolition or inappropriate restoration which can 

degrade the architectural details of the structures. Additional residential opportunities, 

especially in the form of lofts or other residential over retail, should be promoted. 

Street-level uses should be reserved for retail, entertainment, or similar high activity 

uses. 

Suggested 

Development & 

Implementation 

Strategies:  

 

 

 New development should respect historic context of building mass, height and 

setbacks.  

 Ensure that future phases of streetscape enhancements are developed in 

harmony with previous efforts as well as economic development goals of the City 

and the Downtown Statesboro Development Authority (DSDA) / Main Street 

program. 

 Develop architectural guidelines to guide new development and renovations of 

historic buildings. 

Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan, Community Agenda page 14-16. 

ANALYSIS 

 
Whether or not to approve the proposed site and architectural plans  for property in the CBD 
(Central Business District)   

The request should be considered in light of: 

 the standards for and intent of the CBD as defined in Article VIII, section 800 of the of the 
Statesboro Zoning Ordinance 

 the vision and community policies articulated within the Statesboro Comprehensive Plan 
 

STANDARDS: CENTRAL BUSINESS DISTRICT 

Section 803 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance states the following with regarding to requirements for 
development in the CBD zoning district: 

“A site plan and architectural drawings are required prior to issuance of a building permit. The 
planning commission shall review these plans and drawings and submit their findings and 
recommendations to the building inspector and city council prior to the issuance of the building 
permit. The drawings shall keep in mind the integrity and harmony of the central business district 
as designated in the future land use plan and other related studies.” 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case CBD 18-09-01 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff recommends approval of application CBD 18-09-01 based on the submitted architectural building 
plans and exterior elevations dated August 29, 2018 with conditions. 

At the regularly scheduled meeting held on October 2, 2018, at 5:00 PM, the Planning Commission voted 
6-0 to approve application CBD 18-09-01 with the following staff recommendations and conditions: 

(a) Exterior building materials must be composed of brick or smooth hardie plank panels. Traditional 
siding will not be allowed. 



Development Services Report 

Case CBD 18-09-01 

EXHIBIT A:  LOCATION MAP 

 



Development Services Report 

Case CBD 18-09-01 

EXHIBIT B: SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTY PHOTOS 

Picture 1: Front view of subject site, looking north from Courtland Street. 

 

 

Picture 2: Front view of subject site, looking northwest from Courtland St. 

 



Development Services Report 

Case CBD 18-09-01 

EXHIBIT B: SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTY PHOTOS (Continued) 

Picture 3: Looking south from the alley located to the rear of the subject, the proposed expansion area for Divvy Desk. 

 
 

Picture 4: Looking southwest from the alley located to the rear of the subject site, the proposed expansion area for 

Divvy Desk 

 



Development Services Report 

Case CBD 18-09-01 

EXHIBIT B: SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTY PHOTOS (Continued) 

Picture 5: Looking west along the alley located to the rear of the subject site.  

 
 

Picture 6: Looking east along the alley located to the rear of the subject site.  

 



Development Services Report 

Case CBD 18-09-01 

EXHIBIT C : PROPOSED ARCHITECTURAL ELEVATIONS/BUILDING PLANS 

 



CITY OF STATESBORO 
 

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum, District 1 

Sam Jones, District 2 

Jeff Yawn, District 3 

John Riggs, District 4 

Derek Duke, District 5 

 
 

 

Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 

Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

Sue Starling, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 • STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence    Certified City of Ethics  

Telephone: (912) 764-5468      Fax: (912) 764-4691                                                                   

www.statesboroga.gov  

To: Randy Wetmore, City Manager and Sue Starling, City Clerk 

 

From: Owen Dundee, City Planner II 

 

Date: October 8, 2018 

 

RE: October 16, 2018 City Council Agenda Items 

 

Policy Issue: Statesboro Zoning Ordinance: Variance Request 

 

Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the variance requested by 

application V 18-09-02. 

 

Background: Ogburn Realty, Inc. requests a variance from Article X, Section 

1003(H) to reduce the required rear yard setback in order to construct an auto 

parts store on 1 acre of property located at 1044 South Main Street (Tax Parcel 

MS43 000018 000). 

 

Budget Impact: None 

 

Council Person and District: Yawn (District 3) 

 

Attachments: Development Services Report V-18-09-02 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

http://www.statesboroga.gov/


 

Development Services Report 

Case V-18-09-02 

City of Statesboro-Department of Planning and Development 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
P.O. Box 348    (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia 30458  (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

 V-18-09-02 

VARIANCE REQUEST 

1044 SOUTH MAIN STREET 

LOCATION: 1044 South Main Street 

 

REQUEST: 

Variance from Article X Section 1003 

(H) Table regarding the rear yard 

setback requirements.  

APPLICANT: Ogburn Realty, Inc. 

OWNER(S): Thomas David Lambie 

ACRES: 1 acre 

PARCEL TAX  

MAP #: 
MS43 000018 000 

COUNCIL        

DISTRICT:            
District 3 (Yawn) 

 

PROPOSAL: 

The applicant requests a variance from Article X: Section: 1003(H) of the Statesboro Zoning 

Ordinance, which requires a minimum rear yard set back of twenty-five (25) feet. The applicant is proposing 

a ten (10) foot rear yard set back in order to allow for an additional row of parking in the front of the site. Per 

Article II: Section 201: 42(b), a rear yard is defined as “a yard extending the full width of the lot along the rear 

lot line and extending in depth from the rear lot line to the nearest point of any structure on the lot. This 

variance is being requested for the construction of new O’Reilly Auto Parts store (See Exhibit F – 

Applicant’s Reason for Requested Variance Letter).  

BACKGROUND:   

This one (1) acre lot contains a 4,275 square foot concrete block building that was built in 1987 and 

was the original home of Dive South, a SCUBA diving business. After being vacant for several years, City 

Council approved SE 09-04-03 on May 5, 2009, allowing Wayne’s Mobile Home Supplies, LLC to utilize the 

property for a building material supply business. On February 3, 2015, City Council denied SE 14-10-03 to 

allow the operation of a used car dealership and other commercial uses for the subject site located at 1044 

South Main Street.  

 

 

 
ATTACHMENTS: Exhibit A (Location Map), Exhibit B (Future Development Map), Exhibit C (Photos of 
Subject Site), Exhibit D (Topographic Survey), Exhibit E (Conceptual Site Plan), Exhibit F(Applicant’s 
Reason for Request Letter) 



Development Services Report 

Case V-18-09-02 

SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING:  

 ZONING: LAND USE: 

NORTH: R-4 (High Density Residential  & 
EXPT (Exempt) 

Apartment Community (The Hudson) and Georgia Southern University’s 
Shooting Sports Education Center (SSEC) 

SOUTH: CR (Commercial Retail) Parker’s Gas Station, Uncle Shug’s Chicken Barn, Advance Auto Parts,  
Subway restaurant, and Flash Foods Gas Station 

EAST: EXPT (Exempt) Georgia Southern University’s Shooting Sports Education Center (SSEC) 

WEST HOC (Highway Oriented 
Commercial) 

New construction site for the JC Lewis Ford Dealership 

The subject property is located within the CR (Commercial Retail) district. Surrounding parcels include a 
variety of uses, such as restaurants, commercial retail, Georgia Souther University property, highway oriented 
commercial, and high density residential (See Exhibit A –Location Map, Exhibit B—Future Development 
Map & Exhibit C—Photos of Subject Site). 

 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: 

The City of Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan’s Future Development Map includes the subject site in 

the following character area: 

“Gateways – City Limits” 

Vision Suggested Development & Implementation Strategies 

Gateways into Statesboro, which are 

primarily located on major arterials at 

their intersections with the by-pass, 

should make it clear to residents and 

visitors that they are entering into the 

incorporated area of the City through 

careful attention to development 

standards, signage, landscaping, and 

similar elements. 

 There should be good vehicular and pedestrian/bike 

connections to retail/commercial services as well as 

internal street network connectivity, connectivity to 

adjacent properties/subdivisions, and multiple site access 

points. 

 Encourage compatible architecture styles that maintain 

regional character. 

 Screen parking areas from view through attractive 

landscaping, low fencing, etc. Where feasible, locate 

parking beside or behind buildings. 

 Install streetscape improvements which reflect the 

character of Statesboro. 

 
Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan, Community Agenda page 32-33. 

In addition, the subject site lies adjacent to the “Commercial Redevelopment” character area. Per the 

Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan and Future Development Map & Narrative, the proposed use for the 

subject site will align with the vision of this area, which states:  

“The Commercial Redevelopment areas are currently in decline with vacant or undertilized properties. 

These areas are characterized by a high degree of access by vechicular traffic; onsite parking; and a low 

degree of open space. It is the desire of the community to identify and target these areas for 

redevelopment and investment, thus returning these areas to their intended state of a thriving commercial 

and/or mixed use district.” 

Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan, Community Agenda page 26 
 



Development Services Report 

Case V-18-09-02 

ANALYSIS 

 
I. Variance from Article X: Section 1003(H): Rear Yard Setback Requirements.  
The applicant is requesting a variance from Article X: Section 1003(H), which states the minimum required 
rear yard set back distance from the nearest point of any building and/or structure to the rear lot line of the 
property. The subject site is located in the CR (Commercial Retail) zoning district and is regulated by Article 
X of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance. The ordinance states that there shall be a rear yard setback of no 
less than 25 feet.  
 
The variance in question is regarding the proposed rear yard setback distance from the rear lot line of the 
subject property, which is stated to be 10 feet. Per the project’s engineering firm, the applicant typically 
attempts to develop the property using parking in the front and double loaded parking on the sides when the 
depth of the property is a constraint. However with +/- 48 feet needing to be free and clear of obstructions, 
the applicant is looking at having to squeeze in a single bay of parking along the side and will need to double 
load the front parking area to get the parking spaces needed. In order to fit this parking, the applicant  is 
requesting the rear yard set back to be reduced to 10 feet to allow the engineer to shift the building backward 
and allow for the additional row of parking in the front of the site (See Exhibit F – Applicant’s Reason for 
Request Letter). 
 
The Statesboro Zoning Ordinance provides for the award of variances by the City Council from the zoning 
regulations stating that “approval of a variance must be in the public interest, the spirit of the ordinance must 
be observed, public safety and welfare secured, and substantial justice done”.  
 
Section 1801 states that the Mayor and Council [should] consider if the following are true in its 
considersation of a variance request: 
 

1. There are special conditions pertaining to the land or structure in question because of its 
size, shape, topography, or other physical characteristic and that condition is not common to 
other land or buildings in the general vicinity or in the same zoning district 
 

2. The special conditions and circumstances do not result from the actions of the applicant; 
 

3. The application of the ordinance to this particular piece of property would create an 
unnecessary hardship; and 
 

4. Relief, if granted, would not cause substantial detriment to the public good or impair the 
purposes and intent of the zoning regulations. 
 

In the course of exercising any of the above powers, the zoning board of appeals may attach 
conditions to its approval. 
 

 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

 
Staff recommends approval of this variance requested by application V 18-09-02 with staff 
recommendations and conditions. 
 
At the regularly scheduled meeting held Tuesday, October 2, 2018 at 5:00 PM, the Planning Commission 
voted 6-0 to approve application V 18-09-02 with the following staff recommendations and condition(s): 
 

(a) Approval of this variance does not grant site plan approval as submitted. Project will be required 
to meet all City Ordinances. 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case V-18-09-02 

EXHIBIT A:  LOCATION MAP 

 



Development Services Report 

Case V-18-09-02 

EXHIBIT B: FUTURE DEVELOPMENT MAP 

 

 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case V-18-09-02 

EXHIBIT C: SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTY PHOTOS 

Picture 1: View of the subject site, looking north from South Main street. 

 

 

 

Picture 2: View of the subject site, looking east from South Main street.  

 



Development Services Report 

Case V-18-09-02 

EXHIBIT C: SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTY PHOTOS (Continued) 

Picture 3: View of the subject site, looking northwest from South Main street. 

 

Picture 4: View of the subject site’s site frontage, looking north along South Main street. 

 



Development Services Report 

Case V-18-09-02 

EXHIBIT C: SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTY PHOTOS (Continued) 

Picture 5: View of the subject site’s frontage and surrounding properties, looking south along South Main street. 

 
 

Picture 6: View of the adjacent property to the south, currently Flash Foods Gas Station. 

 



Development Services Report 

Case V-18-09-02 

EXHIBIT C: SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTY PHOTOS (Continued) 

Picture 7: View of the surrounding property to the west of the subject site, currently new construction site for JC 
Lewis Ford Car Dealership. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case V-18-09-02 

EXHIBIT D: Topographic Survey 

 



Development Services Report 

Case V-18-09-02 

EXHIBIT E: Conceptual Site Plan 

 



Development Services Report 

Case V-18-09-02 

EXHIBIT F: Applicant’s Reason for Request Letter 

 



CITY OF STATESBORO 
 

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum, District 1 

Sam Jones, District 2 

Jeff Yawn, District 3 

John Riggs, District 4 

Derek Duke, District 5 

 
 

 

Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 

Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

Sue Starling, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 • STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence    Certified City of Ethics  

Telephone: (912) 764-5468      Fax: (912) 764-4691                                                                   

www.statesboroga.gov  

To: Randy Wetmore, City Manager and Sue Starling, City Clerk 

 

From: Owen Dundee, City Planner II 

 

Date: October 8, 2018 

 

RE: October 16, 2018 City Council Agenda Items 

 

Policy Issue: Statesboro Zoning Ordinance: Zoning Map Amendment Request 

 

Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the zoning map amendment 

requested by application RZ 18-09-03 with conditions. 

 

Background: Bethany Assisted Living, Inc. requests a zoning map amendment of 

26.477 acres, a portion of a larger 39.86 acre tract located at 77 Bethany Way 

from PUD (Planned Unit Development) to the R-4 (High Density Residential) 

zoning district in order to develop residential duplex, triplex, and/or single family 

attached dwelling units (Tax Parcel MS40 000074 000). 

 

Budget Impact: None 

 

Council Person and District: Jones (District 2) 

 

Attachments: Development Services Report RZ-18-09-03 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

http://www.statesboroga.gov/


 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-09-03 

City of Statesboro-Department of Planning and Development 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
P.O. Box 348    (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia 30458  (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

 RZ 18-09-03 

ZONING MAP AMENDMENT REQUEST 

77 Bethany Way 

LOCATION: West Jones Avenue & Cypress Lake 

Road; 77 Bethany Way 

 

REQUEST: 

Zoning map amendment from PUD 

(Planned Unit Development) to R-4 

(High Density Residential). 

APPLICANT: Bethany Assisted Living, Inc. 

OWNER(S): Bethany Assisted Living, Inc.  

ACRES: 
26.477 Acres (Portion of a larger 

39.86 acre tract) 

PARCEL TAX  

MAP #: 
MS40 000074 000 

COUNCIL        

DISTRICT:            
District 2 (Jones) 

PROPOSAL: 

The applicant requests a zoning map amendment from the PUD (Planned Unit Development) zoning district to 

the R-4 (High Density Residential) zoning district in order to develop residential duplex, triplex, and/or single 

family attached dwelling units, which is not an allowed use in the existing zoning designation. The proposal would 

allow for a wide variety of age-restricted housing for seniors, 55 years and older. Although, the developer is only 

proposing four duplexes under “phase one”, this zoning map amendment request would entitle the subject site 

for 317 multi-family apartment units if approved. 

BACKGROUND:     

The subject site is currently undeveloped. The proposed cottages development is currently designated as the 

PUD (Planned Unit Development) zoning district. The PUD was approved by City Council in June of 2010. Per 

the 2010 PUD approved site plan, the proposed “phase one” land area for the cottages development is 

reserved for Commercial Retail (CR) land uses. Also, the remaining acreage to be re-zoned (under this 

request) for future phases of development was originally approved for R-10 (Single Family Residential) land 

uses per the 2010 PUD approved site plan. Multi-family cottages, duplexes, are not a permitted use in these 

areas of the approved PUD site plan. Re-designation or relocation of land area inconsistent with the land uses 

section of the PUD is considered a major amendment. The subject site currently adheres to all applicable 

provisions of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance and the general requirements for zoning map amendment #RZ 

10-04-04 (Exhibit G). Major Amendments to the PUD will require the submittal of a zoning map amendment by 

the applicant consistent with the provisions of Article XX (Amendments) of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance. 

Any major amendments shall incorporate revisions to all those portions of the approved conceptual 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-09-03 

development, which illustrates intended uses, buildings, parking, streets, etc. (Exhibit(s) D, E, &F). Hence, the 

applicants request for a zoning map amendment on the subject site.  

SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING:  

 ZONING: LAND USE: 

NORTH: R-4 (High Density Residential) Grace Crossing Apartments, Senior Living 

SOUTH: R-20 (Single Family Residential) Undeveloped 

EAST: R-20 (Single Family Residential) Single Family Homes 

WEST: PUD (Planned Unit Development) The Lodge at Bethany, Senior Assisted Living  

The subject property is located within the PUD (Planned Unit Development) district. Surrounding parcels include 
single family residential, multi-family senior living, and undeveloped land (See Exhibit A – Location Map, 
Exhibit B — Future Development Map, & Exhibit C —Photos of Subject Site). 

ATTACHMENTS: Exhibit A (Location Map), Exhibit B (Future Development Map), Exhibit C (Photos of 
Subject Site), Exhibit D (Conceptual Site Plan), Exhibit E (Rezoning Plan), Exhibit F (Parcel Plan),  Exhibit 
G (General Requirements for #RZ 10-04-04), Exhibit H (2006 approved Site Plan/Current 2010 PUD approved 
site plan) 

 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: 

The City of Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan’s Future Development Map includes the subject site in the 

following character area: 

“Residential Redevelopment” 

Vision: 

This character area has most of its original housing stock in place, but has worsening 

housing conditions due to low rates of homeownership and neglect of property 

maintenance. There may be a lack of neighborhood identity and gradual invasion of 

different type and intensity of use that may not be compatible with the neighborhood 

residential use, or a neighborhood that has declined sufficiently that housing conditions are 

bad, there may be large areas of vacant land or deteriorating, unoccupied structures.  

Suggested 

Development & 

Implementation 

Strategies:  

 

 

 Appropriate land uses include: (1) Single Family detached housing; (2) Lower density, 

Single Family attached housing. 

 Focus on strategic public investments to improve conditions, appropriate infill 

development on scatted vacant sites, and encouraging more homeownership and 

maintenance or upgrade of existing properties. 

 The redevelopment strategy for the area should focus on preserving what remains of 

original housing stock, while rebuilding on the remaining land, a new, attractive 

neighborhood following the principles of traditional neighborhood development. 

 The neighborhood should include a well-designed new neighborhood activity center at 

the appropriate location, which would provide a focal point for the neighborhood, while 

also providing a suitable location for a grocery store, hardware store, school, and 

similar appropriately scaled retail establishments serving neighborhood residents. 

 Strong pedestrian and bicycle connections should also be provided to encourage 

residents to walk/bike to work, shopping, or other destinations in the area. 

 New streets should be connected (i.e. minimize or prohibit cul-de-sacs), to disperse 

traffic, shorten walking/biking trips. 

 Design features that encourage safe, accessible streets should be employed – such 

as, narrower streets, on street parking, sidewalks, street trees, and landscaped raised 

median for minor collectors and wider streets. 
Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan, Community Agenda page 21. 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-09-03 

 

The subject area lies adjacent to the “Urban Core/Downtown” and “Established Residential Neighborhood” 
character areas. 

“Urban Core/Downtown” “Established Residential Neighborhood” 

Vision:  
Downtown is the historic core of the city and should 
remain the activity and cultural hub of the region. In 
the Urban Core, Traditional development patterns of 
buildings along the sidewalk and a lively streetscape 
should be respected and promoted. Historic buildings 
should be protected from demolition or inappropriate 
restoration which can degrade the architectural details 
of the structures. Additional residential opportunities, 
especially in the form of lofts or other residential over 
retail, should be promoted, Street-level uses should be 
reserved for retail, entertainment, or similar high-
activity uses.  

Vision:  
The traditional residential neighborhoods in the 
Established area were developed from the late 19th to 
mid-20th century, and feature connected street grids 
linked with downtown. Sidewalks should be located on 
both sides of major street; lesser streets may have 
limited facilities. Major corridors in this area may 
support a mix of residential and commercial uses. As 
corridors transition from residential to commercial, the 
original structures should be maintained and 
renovated whenever possible. Any new structures 
should respect the existing fabric of the neighborhood, 
through similar front, side, and rear setbacks.  

Per Article VII, Section 700, the Appendix A of the Code of Ordinances of Statesboro, Georgia:  

High density residential purposes shall be “in accordance with the objectives, policies, and proposals of the 
future land use plan; to permit a variety of housing; to assure the suitable design of apartments in order to 
protect the surrounding environment of adjacent and nearby neighborhoods; and to insure that the proposed 
development will constitute a residential environment of sustained desirability and stability and not produce 
a volume of traffic in excess of the capacity for which access streets are designed”. 

ANALYSIS 

TRANSPORTATION: 

Vehicular access to the site will be provided by West Jones Avenue, Cypress Lake Road, and Country Club 
Road. A review of the Bulloch County/Statesboro 2035 Long Range Transportation Plan (LRTP) currently lists 
no level of service deficiencies for major thoroughfares which access the site. Under any prior or current 
development scenario, full development of the subject property will generate substantial motor vehicle traffic 
on surrounding thoroughfares – and must be mitigated. As this zoning map amendment request has the 
potential to significantly increase vehicle trips on existing streets, a traffic study in order to determine the trip 
generation potential of the site, and what type of operational improvements to surrounding thoroughfares may 
be required by the developer.   

Additionally, the Statesboro Comprehensive Plan and the LRTP both promote development patterns which 
include interconnected street systems to allow for traffic dispersal, and reduce the need for expensive capacity 
improvements such as adding travel lanes (which may not be practical for some of the site’s surrounding 
thoroughfares). The LRTP specifically cites the need for – and recommends the construction of a new east-
west street connection between Country Club Drive and U.S. 301 South. Both the original 2006 and revised 
2010 site plan adhere to this long-range planning objective by providing a linkage between Country Club Road 
and Bruce Drive (See Exhibit H – Previous Site Plans). The applicant’s provision of a north/south public street 
(Future Extension of Gesmon Nevil Lane, as shown on Exhibit E &F) linking West Jones Avenue with Country 
Club Road promotes the recommendations of the City’s long-range transportation plans. However, it should be 
noted that the proposed 2018 site plan no longer illustrates the proposed Country Club Road/Bruce Drive 
connector.  

COMMUNITY FACILITIES:  

The subject site is currently served by city services including water, sewer, sanitation, and public safety. No 
significant impact is expected on community facilities or services as a result of this request. 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-09-03 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL: 

The subject property lies outside of the 100 and 500 year floodplains. Per Exhibit D and Bulloch County GIS, 
the subject property is bordered by wetlands primarily along the southwestern property line, but it should not 
impact this request. Any potential issues will be brought forth and discussed during standard permitting and 
review procedures.  

ZONING CONSIDERATIONS: 
Whether or not to grant a zoning map amendment from the PUD (Planned Unit Development) zoning 
district to the R-4 (High Density Residential) zoning district.   

The request should be considered in light of: 

 the standards for determination of zoning map amendments given in Section 2007 of the 
Statesboro Zoning Ordinance 

 the vision and community policies articulated within the Statesboro Comprehensive Plan 

 the 2035 Bulloch County/City of Statesboro Long Range Transportation Plan 

 the potential for the property to develop and be utilized in conformance with the requirements of 
the proposed R-4 (High Density Residential) district as set forth in the Statesboro 
Zoning Ordinance. 
 

Current Zoning 

Under # RZ 10-04-04, The Planned Unit 
Development/Commercial Retail (PUD) district can 
accommodate Commercial Retail, Single-Family 
Residential, High Density Residential, and Senior 
Community uses. However, each use is only currently 
allowed within the areas designated per the current 
2010 PUD approved site plan (See Exhibit H).  

Requested Zoning 

The R-4 (High Density Residential) district allows for 
the construction of Residential Duplex, Triplex, and/or 
Single Family Attached Dwelling Units, which is the 
applicant’s intended use for the subject property. It 
should be noted that the property owner would be 
allowed to develop 317 multi-family apartment unit by 
right if the zoning map amendment is approved. 

STANDARDS: ZONING MAP AMENDMENT 

Section 2007 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance provides eight (8) standards for the Mayor and City Council 
to consider “in making its determination” regarding a zoning map amendment, in “balancing the promotions 
of the public health, safety, morality (morals), and general welfare against the right of unrestricted use 
of property.” Those standards are as follows: 

(1) Existing uses and zoning or (of) property nearby 

a. Existing uses and zoning of property nearby varies. The surrounding lots are zoned R-20 
(Single Family Residential), R-4 (High Density Residential), and PUD (Planned Unit 
Development), and are occupied by senior living facilities, single family residences, and 
undeveloped land. 

(2) The extent to which property values are diminished by the particular zoning restrictions. 

a. The proposed use is not expected to have an adverse effect on property values in the area 
given the surrounding uses. Please note that staff has not consulted a professional appraiser 
regarding the impact of the requested zoning map amendment on the property value.  

(3) The extent to which the description of property values of the property owner promotes the 
health, safety, morals or general welfare of the public.  

(4) The relative gain to the public, as compared to the hardship imposed upon the property owner.  

a. The subject site is currently zoned PUD (Planned Unit Development). Per RZ #10-04-04, this 
parcel can currently be occupied by land uses permitted by the PUD approved site plan 
(Exhibit H) and listed under the General Requirements section of the PUD (Exhibit G). 
However, high density residential developments are specifically restricted to R-4 zoned 
properties. Under the proposed zoning, the applicant would be able to develop residential 
duplexes, triplexes, and/or single family attached dwelling units.   



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-09-03 

 

b. A review of the approved 2010 PUD and proposed site plans for this land area would suggest 
the pubic would potentially gain the provision of a north/south public street linking West Jones 
Avenue with Country Club Road; a substantial area of conservation buffer; and, a limitation 
of the eligible type of multi-family housing stock proposed on the property. 

(5) The suitability of the subject property for the zoned purposes.  

(6) The length of time the property has been vacant as zoned, considered in the context of land 
development in the area in the vicinity of the property.  

a. In June 2010, the property was re-zoned to PUD (Planned Unit Development). The property 
is currently undeveloped land. 

(7) The extent the proposed change would impact the following: population density in the area; 
community facilities; living conditions in the area; traffic patterns and congestion; 
environmental aspects; existing and future land use patterns; property values in adjacent 
areas; and  

a. Impacts on local traffic should be considered. 

b. Proposed land use change would cause an increase in population density. 

c. Positive impact on the existing and future land use patterns as the proposed use is compatible 
with the surrounding area. 

(8) Consistency with other governmental land use, transportation, and development plans for the 
community. 

a. While the provisions for Residential Redevelopment areas provide guidance as to the type of 
design features that may be desirable on this property, use of the property as high density 
residential is not a land use generally deemed appropriate in the vision and guiding principles 
of the “Residential Redevelopment” character area as articulated within the Statesboro 
Comprehensive Plan. 

b. Both the original 2006 and revised 2010 site plan adhered to the LRTP by providing a linkage 
between Country Club Road and Bruce Drive. Under this zoning map amendment request, 
the proposed site plan no longer illustrates this proposed connection road. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff recommends approval of this zoning map amendment with conditions. 
 
At the regularly scheduled meeting held Tuesday, October 2, 2018 at 5:00 PM, the Planning Commission voted 
6-0 to approve application RZ 18-09-03 with the following staff recommendations and conditions:  

(a) Staff approval based on revised site plan dated September 4, 2018. 

(b) 26.477 acres not to exceed 317 dwelling units. 

(c) Zoning map amendment is for an age-restricted tenant population, 55 years and older. Any other type 
of development would require City Council approval. 

 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-09-03 

EXHIBIT A:  LOCATION MAP 

 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-09-03 

EXHIBIT B: FUTURE DEVELOPMENT MAP 

 

 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-09-03 

EXHIBIT C: SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTY PHOTOS 

Picture 1: Looking east from the intersection of Cypress Lake Road and Country Club Road, view of the subject site 
and proposed “phase one” land area (four duplex buildings). 

 

Picture 2: Looking east from Cypress Lake Road, additional view of the subject site and proposed “phase one” land 
area (four duplex buildings). 

 
 

 

 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-09-03 

 

 

 

Picture 3: Looking south along Cypress Lake Road/West Jones Avenue, the western boundary of the subject site. 

 

Picture 4: Looking north along West Jones Avenue/Cypress Lake Road, the western boundary of the subject site. 

 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-09-03 

 

Picture 5: Looking south from the northern adjacent property across Bethany Way, view of the subject site. 

 

 

Picture 6: Looking north from the subject site, currently The Lodge at Bethany, Senior Assisted Living Facility. 

  

 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-09-03 

Picture 7: Looking northeast from the subject site, currently an age-restricted, rent-restricted apartment community, 
Grace Crossing Apartments. 

 

Picture 8: Looking northwest from the subject site along West Jones Avenue, view of the surrounding property uses 
– single family residential. 

 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-09-03 

EXHIBIT D: Conceptual Site Plan (Independent Living – Phase One) 

 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-09-03 

EXHIBIT E: Rezoning Plan 

 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-09-03 

EXHIBIT F: Parcel Plan 

 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-09-03 

EXHIBIT G: General Requirements #RZ 10-04-04 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-09-03 

EXHIBIT G: General Requirements #RZ 10-04-04 (Continued) 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-09-03 

EXHIBIT G: General Requirements #RZ 10-04-04 (Continued) 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-09-03 

EXHIBIT G: General Requirements #RZ 10-04-04 (Continued) 

 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-09-03 

EXHIBIT H: 2006 Approved Site Plan & Current 2010 Approved Site Plan 

 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-09-03 

EXHIBIT H: 2006 Approved Site Plan & Current 2010 Approved Site Plan (continued) 

 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-09-03 

EXHIBIT H: 2006 Approved Site Plan & Current 2010 Approved Site Plan (continued) 

 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-09-03 

EXHIBIT H: 2006 Approved Site Plan & Current 2010 Approved Site Plan (continued) 

 



CITY OF STATESBORO 
 

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum, District 1 

Sam Jones, District 2 

Jeff Yawn, District 3 

John Riggs, District 4 

Derek Duke, District 5 

 
 

 

Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 

Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

Sue Starling, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 • STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence    Certified City of Ethics  

Telephone: (912) 764-5468      Fax: (912) 764-4691                                                                   

www.statesboroga.gov  

To: Randy Wetmore, City Manager and Sue Starling, City Clerk 

 

From: Owen Dundee, City Planner II 

 

Date: October 8, 2018 

 

RE: October 16, 2018 City Council Agenda Items 

 

Policy Issue: Statesboro Zoning Ordinance: Variance Request 

 

Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the zoning map amendment 

requested by application RZ 18-09-04 with conditions. 

 

Background: JGR Development, LLC requests a zoning map amendment of 

138.06 acres, a portion of a larger 225.45 acre tract located at 2457 Old Register 

Road from R-40 (Single Family Residential) to the PUD (Planned Unit 

Development) zoning district in order to develop the property as mixed use, 

commercial, office, and residential (Tax Parcel 076 000001 000). 

 

Budget Impact: None 

 

Council Person and District: Yawn (District 3) 

 

Attachments: Development Services Report RZ-18-09-04 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

http://www.statesboroga.gov/


 

 
ATTACHMENTS: Exhibit A (Location Map), Exhibit B (Future Development Map), Exhibit C (Photos of 
Subject Site), Exhibit D (Conceptual Site Plan) 

 

City of Statesboro-Department of Planning and Development 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
P.O. Box 348    (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia 30458  (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

 RZ 18-09-04 

ZONING MAP AMENDMENT REQUEST 

2457 OLD REGISTER ROAD 

LOCATION: 2457 Old Register Road 

 

REQUEST: 

Zoning map amendment from R-40 

(Single Family Residential) to PUD 

(Planned Unit Development). 

APPLICANT: JGR Development, LLC 

OWNER(S): J. Edwards Akins Farms LTD 

ACRES: 
138.06 Acres (Portion of a larger 

225.45 acre tract) 

PARCEL TAX  

MAP #: 
076 000001 000 

COUNCIL        

DISTRICT:            
District 3 (Yawn) 

PROPOSAL: 

The applicant requests a zoning map amendment from the R-40 (Single Family Residential) zoning district to the 
PUD (Planned Unit Development) zoning district in order to develop the property as mixed use (commercial, office, 
and residential), which is not an allowed use in the existing zoning designation. 

BACKGROUND:     

The parcel is currently undeveloped land. In July 2010, the City previously received an annexation and zoning 
map amendment application (AN 10-06-01) to annex and rezone 291.74 acres; 227.69 acres was proposed to 
be zoned R-40 (Single Family Residential) District and the remaining 64.05 acres proposed to be zoned PUD-
CR (Planned Unit Development – Commercial Retail) District. In August 2010, the city approved the annexation 
and zoning map amendment request under Ordinance #2010-17.  
  
SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING:  

 ZONING: LAND USE: 

NORTH: HC (Highway Commercial – 
Bulloch County) 

Auto Service Center/Georgia Power Utility Substation 

SOUTH: PUD/CR (Planned Unit 
Development/Commercial Retail) 

Hackers/Clubhouse Entertainment Complex 

EAST: PUD (Planned Unit Development   
– Bulloch County) 

Undeveloped 

WEST: HC (Highway Commercial – 
Bulloch County) 

The Boiling Shrimp Restaurant, Parkwood RV Park & Cottages, JC Lewis      
Ford Lincoln of Statesboro, and Georgia Chrysler Dodge Jeep Car Dealership 

The subject property is located within the R-40 (Single Family Residential) district. A variety of highway 
commercial uses are located nearby. Surrounding parcels include an auto service center, Hackers/Clubhouse 
entertainment complex, Boiling Shrimp Restaurant, Car Dealerships, Parkwood RV Park & Cottages, and a utility 
substation (See Exhibit A – Location Map, Exhibit B — Future Development Map, & Exhibit C —Photos of 
Subject Site). 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-09-04 

 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: 

The City of Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan’s Future Development Map includes the subject site in the 

following character area: 

“Emerging Business” 

Vision: 

The Emerging Business area will support the creation of a park to support office and 

business development opportunities. This area is ideally situated adjacent to the Veteran’s 

Memorial By-pass, Highway 301, the rail line, and near AgriBusiness Center. This 

business incubator center is well-positioned to coordinate with the College of Information 

Technology at Georgia Southern University. Some of this area is currently outside the city 

limits, but water and sewer is readily available. This character area is shown as a gradient 

on the future development map (Exhibit B) to indicate that the boundaries of this area are 

not specific.   

Suggested 

Development & 

Implementation 

Strategies:  

 

 

 There should be good vehicular and pedestrian/bike connections to retail/commercial 

services as well as internal street network connectivity, connectivity to adjacent 

properties/subdivisions, and multiple site access points. 

 Encourage compatible architecture styles that maintain regional character. 

 Screen parking areas from view through attractive landscaping, low fencing, etc. 

Where feasible, locate parking beside or behind buildings. 

 Install streetscape improvements which reflect the character of Statesboro through 

special treatment of sidewalks (such as pavers, scored concrete, etc.), pedestrian-

scaled lighting, street trees, hardscape, seasonal plantings, etc. 

Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan, Community Agenda page 33. 

The subject area is also adjacent to the “Activity Centers/Regional Centers” character area. 

“Activity Centers/Regional Centers” 

Vision:  
Currently dominated by auto-oriented design and large 
surface parking lots, the Activity Centers will evolve 
into pedestrian-oriented shopping, office, and 
entertainment places that may also accommodate 
high-density residential development. Where excess 
parking is located, infill development can break up 
large surface lots. Tree plantings and landscaping will 
be generous to soften the development intensity in 
these areas. Access to these activity centers will be 
easily achieved for pedestrians, cyclists, and drivers 
alike. 

Suggested Development & Implementation Strategy: 

 Appropriate land uses include: (1) Small, mid-

size, and regional retail and commercial, 

including big box stores; (2) Entertainment; (3) 

Employment Centers. 

 Infill and redevelopment in these areas should 

occur according to a master plan that allows for 

mixed uses, transportation choices and urban 

design that mitigates the appearance of auto-

dependence. 

  

Per the 2014 update to the City of Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan and the Future Development Map 
Narrative:  

“Mixed use is listed as a preferred development strategy. True mixed use developments place a high priority on 
scale and design to create places which encourage pedestrian activity through relationships between buildings, 
interesting streetscapes, and appropriate treatment of parking. Simply placing one use next to another does not 
constitute mixed use. The components must be evaluated in context with their surroundings for mixed use to be 
successful”. 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-09-04 

ANALYSIS 

TRANSPORTATION: 

Vehicular access to the site will likely be confined to Old Register Road frontage, which is classified as an 
Urban Collector road. A review of the Bulloch County/Statesboro 2035 Long Range Transportation Plan (LRTP) 
further suggests no expected capacity deficiencies on Old Register Road. The LRTP does, however, 
recommend that Old Register Road warrants further study and potential operational upgrades to ensure long-
term carrying capacity. Additionally, the LRTP recommends further study to consider intersection improvements 
at Old Register Road and Veterans Memorial Parkway.  

As this zoning map amendment request has the potential to significantly increase vehicle trips on existing 
streets, a traffic study in order to determine the trip generation potential of the site, and what type of operational 
improvements to Old Register Road may be required by the developer.  Additionally, City Council should 
consider certain street improvements as well as pedestrian and bicycle system improvements which may not 
be otherwise incorporated into a standard development 

COMMUNITY FACILITIES:  

City services including water, sewer, sanitation, and public safety are currently serving the land parcels located 
just east of the subject site. 

 ENVIRONMENTAL: 

Per Exhibit D and Bulloch County GIS, the subject property does contain wetlands, but it should not impact this 
request. Any potential issues will be brought forth and discussed during standard permitting and review 
procedures.  

 
ZONING CONSIDERATIONS: 
Whether or not to grant a zoning map amendment from the R-40 (Single Family Residential) zoning 
district to the PUD (Planned Unit Development) zoning district.   

The request should be considered in light of: 

 the standards for determination of zoning map amendments given in Section 2007 of the 
Statesboro Zoning Ordinance 

 the vision and community policies articulated within the 2014 update to the City of Statesboro 
Comprehensive Master Plan 

 the 2035 Bulloch County/City of Statesboro Long Range Transportation Plan 

 the potential for the property to develop and be utilized in conformance with the requirements of 
the proposed PUD (Planned Unit Development) district as set forth in the Statesboro 
Zoning Ordinance. 
 

Current Zoning 

The single family residential (R-40) district can 
accommodate a variety of business, educational, 
municipal, and some residential uses. However, 
“Mixed Use Development,” is not listed as a 
permissible use allowable by right in the R-40 district.    

Requested Zoning 

The PUD (Planned Unit Development) district has the 
declared purpose of “is to permit flexibility in situations 
where modifications of specific provisions of this 
ordinance will not be contrary to its intent and 
purpose”. 

STANDARDS: ZONING MAP AMENDMENT 

Section 2007 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance provides eight (8) standards for the Mayor and City Council 
to consider “in making its determination” regarding a zoning map amendment, in “balancing the promotions 
of the public health, safety, morality (morals), and general welfare against the right of unrestricted use 
of property.” Those standards are as follows: 

(1) Existing uses and zoning or (of) property nearby 

a. Existing uses and zoning of property nearby varies. The surrounding lots are zoned HC 
(Highway Commercial – Bulloch County), R-40 (Single Family Residential – City of 
Statesboro), PUD/CR (Planned Unit Development/Commercial Retail Overlay – City of 
Statesboro), and PUD (Planned Unit Development – Bulloch County), and are occupied 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-09-04 

by an entertainment complex/driving range, auto service center, Georgia Power Substation, 
car dealerships, RV park, restaurant, and undeveloped land. 

(2) The extent to which property values are diminished by the particular zoning restrictions. 

a. The proposed use is not expected to have an adverse effect on property values in the area 
given the surrounding uses. Please note that staff has not consulted a professional appraiser 
regarding the impact of the requested zoning map amendment on the property value.  

(3) The extent to which the description of property values of the property owner promotes the 
health, safety, morals or general welfare of the public.  

(4) The relative gain to the public, as compared to the hardship imposed upon the property owner.  

a. The subject site is currently zoned R-40 (Single Family Residential). Per Article VII, section 
701-E., this parcel can currently be occupied by single family detached dwelling units, 
educational institutions, municipal uses, and professional offices/home occupations. 
However, mixed use developments proposing a variety of uses such as commercial, office 
and residential, should consider a zoning district with a variety of flexibility. Under the 
proposed PUD zoning, the applicant would be able to develop all of the aforementioned uses. 
This request gives the applicant an opportunity to serve members of the community and 
neighborhood while contributing with a mixed use development as encouraged by the 
Comprehensive Plan. 

(5) The suitability of the subject property for the zoned purposes.  

(6) The length of time the property has been vacant as zoned, considered in the context of land 
development in the area in the vicinity of the property.  

a. In August 2010, the property was annexed into the city limits and re-zoned to R-40 (Single 
Family Residential). The property is currently undeveloped land. 

(7) The extent the proposed change would impact the following: population density in the area; 
community facilities; living conditions in the area; traffic patterns and congestion; 
environmental aspects; existing and future land use patterns; property values in adjacent 
areas; and  

a. Impacts on local traffic should be considered. 

b. Positive impact on the existing and future land use patterns as the proposed use is compatible 
with the surrounding area as well as consistent with the 2014 Future Development Map and 
the Statesboro Comprehensive Plan.  

(8) Consistency with other governmental land use, transportation, and development plans for the 
community. 

a. Use of the property as a new mixed use development is consistent with the vision and guiding 
principles of the “Future Development Map Narrative” as articulated within the Statesboro 
Comprehensive Plan which promotes a mix of residential, commercial uses, and community 
facilities.  

 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff recommends approval of this zoning map amendment with conditions. 

At the regularly scheduled meeting held Tuesday, October 2, 2018 at 5:00 PM, the Planning Commission voted 
6-0 to approve application RZ 18-09-04 with the following staff recommendations and conditions:  

(a) Staff approval of PUD site plan dated September 18, 2018. 

(b) By-laws and restrictive covenants are to be recorded prior to construction commencement. 

 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-09-04 

EXHIBIT A:  LOCATION MAP 

 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-09-04 

EXHIBIT B: FUTURE DEVELOPMENT MAP 

 

 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-09-04 

EXHIBIT C: SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTY PHOTOS 

Picture 1: Looking south from the northern adjacent property, a view of the subject site. 

 

Picture 2: Looking northeast from subject site, currently undeveloped land recently approved for a zoning map 
amendment to the CR (Commercial Retail) zoning district under RZ 18-08-02. 

 
 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-09-04 

EXHIBIT C: SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTY PHOTOS (continued) 

Picture 3: Looking east from the subject site, currently Hackers/Clubhouse Entertainment Complex. 

 

Picture 4: Looking north from the subject site, currently an automotive services center.  

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-09-04 

EXHIBIT C: SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTY PHOTOS (continued) 

Picture 5: Looking north from the subject site, currently a Georgia Power utility substation located along the subject 
site’s northern boundary 

 

 

Picture 6: Looking east from the subject site, currently a portion of the Hackers/Clubhouse entertainment complex 
and undeveloped land being considered for a zoning map amendment to PUD (Planned Unit Development) under RZ 
18-09-05. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-09-04 

EXHIBIT C: SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTY PHOTOS (continued) 

Picture 7: Looking south along Old Register Road, the eastern boundary of the subject site.  

 
 

Picture 8: Looking north along Old Register Road, an additional view of the eastern boundary of the subject site. 

 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-09-04 

EXHIBIT D: Conceptual Site Plan 

 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-09-04 

Exhibit E: Boundary Plat (highlighted area to be considered under RZ 18-09-04) 

 



CITY OF STATESBORO 
 

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum, District 1 

Sam Jones, District 2 

Jeff Yawn, District 3 

John Riggs, District 4 

Derek Duke, District 5 

 
 

 

Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 

Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

Sue Starling, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 • STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence    Certified City of Ethics  

Telephone: (912) 764-5468      Fax: (912) 764-4691                                                                   

www.statesboroga.gov  

To: Randy Wetmore, City Manager and Sue Starling, City Clerk 

 

From: Owen Dundee, City Planner II 

 

Date: October 8, 2018 

 

RE: October 16, 2018 City Council Agenda Items 

 

Policy Issue: Statesboro Zoning Ordinance: Zoning Map Amendment Request 

 

Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the zoning map amendment 

requested by application RZ 18-09-05 with conditions. 

 

Background: JGR Development, LLC requests a zoning map amendment of 

19.23 acres, a portion of a larger 19.52 acre tract located at 2802 Old Register 

Road from PUD/CR (Planned Unit Development/Commercial Retail) to the PUD 

(Planned Unit Development) zoning district in order to develop a soccer stadium 

complex (Tax Parcel 076 000001 002).  

 

Budget Impact: None 

 

Council Person and District: Yawn (District 3) 

 

Attachments: Development Services Report RZ-18-09-05 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

http://www.statesboroga.gov/


 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-09-05 

City of Statesboro-Department of Planning and Development 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
P.O. Box 348    (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia 30458  (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

 RZ 18-09-05 

ZONING MAP AMENDMENT REQUEST 

2802 OLD REGISTER ROAD 

LOCATION: 2802 Old Register Road 

 

REQUEST: 

Zoning map amendment from 

PUD/CR (Planned Unit 

Development/Commercial Retail) to 

PUD (Planned Unit Development). 

APPLICANT: JGR Development, LLC 

OWNER(S): BVT-AKINS 

ACRES: 
19.23 Acres (Portion of a larger 

19.52 acre tract) 

PARCEL TAX  

MAP #: 
076 000001 002 

COUNCIL        

DISTRICT:            
District 3 (Yawn) 

PROPOSAL: 

The applicant requests a zoning map amendment from the PUD/CR (Planned Unit Development/Commercial 

Retail) zoning district to the PUD (Planned Unit Development) zoning district in order to develop a soccer 

stadium, which is not an allowed use in the existing zoning designation. 

BACKGROUND:     

The subject site is currently occupied by a portion of the Hackers/Clubhouse entertainment complex. This 

indoor and outdoor entertainment facility includes a bowling alley, arcade, mini-golf course, driving range, 

batting cages, and a go cart racing track. The subject site will occupy the current location of the driving range, 

miniature golf course, and batting cages. In July 2010, the City previously received an annexation and zoning 

map amendment application to annex and rezone 291.74 acres; 227.69 acres was zoned R-40 (Single Family 

Residential) District and the remaining 64.05 acres was zoned PUD/CR (Planned Unit Development – 

Commercial Retail) District. In August 2010, the city approved the annexation and zoning map amendment 

request under Ordinance #2010-17. The subject site currently adheres to all applicable provisions of the 

Statesboro Zoning Ordinance and the general requirements for annexation case #AN 10-06-01 (Exhibit E). 

Major Amendments to the PUD will require the submittal of a zoning map amendment by the applicant 

consistent with the provisions of Article XX (Amendments) of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance. Any major 

amendments shall incorporate revisions to all those portions of the approved conceptual development, which 

illustrates intended uses, buildings, parking, streets, etc. Hence, the applicants request for a zoning map 

amendment on the subject site.  

  



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-09-05 

 

SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING: 
 

 ZONING: LAND USE: 

NORTH: R-40 (Single Family Residential) Undeveloped (currently being considered for a zoning map amendment to 
the CR (Commercial Retail) zoning district under RZ 18-08-02). 

SOUTH: PUD/CR (Planned Unit 
Development/Commercial Retail) 

Hackers/Clubhouse Entertainment Complex 

EAST: PUD (Planned Unit Development   
– Bulloch County) 

Undeveloped. 

WEST: R-40 (Single Family Residential), 
HC (Highway Commercial) 

Auto Service Center, Georgia Power Utility Substation, and Undeveloped 
(Currently being considered for a zoning map amendment to PUD (Planned 
Unit Development) zoning district under RZ 18-09-04).  

The subject property is located within the PUD/CR (Planned Unit Development/Commercial Retail) district. 
Surrounding parcels include Hackers/Clubhouse entertainment complex, an automotive service center, Georgia 
Power Utility substation, and undeveloped land (See Exhibit A – Location Map, Exhibit B — Future 
Development Map, & Exhibit C —Photos of Subject Site). 

ATTACHMENTS: Exhibit A (Location Map), Exhibit B (Future Development Map), Exhibit C (Photos of 
Subject Site), Exhibit D (Master Site Plan), Exhibit E (General Requirements for case # 10-06-01), Exhibit F 
(Boundary Plat) 

 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: 

The City of Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan’s Future Development Map includes the subject site in the 

following character area: 

“Activity Centers/Regional Centers” 

Vision: 

Currently dominated by auto-oriented design and large surface parking lots, the Activity 

Centers will evolve into pedestrian-oriented shopping, office, and entertainment places 

that may also accommodate high-density residential development. Where excess parking 

is located, infill development can break up large surface lots. Tree plantings and 

landscaping will be generous to soften the development intensity in these areas. Access to 

these activity centers will be easily achieved for pedestrians, cyclists, and drivers alike.  

Suggested 

Development & 

Implementation 

Strategies:  

 

 

 Appropriate land uses include: (1) Small, mid-size, regional retail and commercial, 

including big box stores; (2) Entertainment; (3) Employment Centers. 

 Infill and redevelopment in these areas should occur according to a master plan that 

allows for mixed uses, transportation choices and urban design that mitigates the 

appearance of auto-dependence. 

 Future developments and highway improvements within these areas should include 

pedestrian and bicycle access to surrounding neighborhoods. 

 Require shade trees to be planted in parking lots and along highway corridors. 

 Incorporate inter-parcel connectivity, especially along major thoroughfares. 

 Include community gathering places, such as squares, plazas, etc. into commercial 

and mixed used developments. 

 Use infrastructure availability to steer development away from areas of natural, 

cultural, and environmentally sensitive resources. 
Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan, Community Agenda page 25-26. 

 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-09-05 

 

The subject area lies between “Emerging Business” character area and the “Potential Annexation” area. 

“Emerging Business” “Potential Annexation” 

Vision:  
The Emerging Business area will support the 
creation of a park to support office and business 
development opportunities. This area is ideally 
situated adjacent to the Veteran’s Memorial By-pass, 
Highway 301, the rail line, and near AgriBusiness 
Center. This business incubator center is well-
positioned to coordinate with the College of 
Information Technology at GSU. 

Vision:  
The establishment of an annexation policy can 
provide clear guidance to community leaders in 
evaluating annexation requests or proposals to extend 
the city limits. Annexation should be linked to the 
ability to provide adequate city services. A component 
of the annexation policy should be to identify the 
appropriate character area for the newly annexed 
property.  

Per the 2014 update to the City of Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan and the Issues & Opportunities 
Narrative:  

“Planned unit developments, or PUDs, typically offer greater flexibility in development standards than a 
conventional zoning district. With this flexibility, there is also an opportunity to include housing diversity, 
mixed uses, and amenities. A PUD should be viewed as an alternative available for regulating development 
when existing land use regulations may not adequately address unique circumstances or opportunities for 
a particular development. The City may grant more leeway in the certain areas of the regulations for a PUD, 
but in exchange, there are expectations of the development community for additional design features, 
amenities, etc. As mentioned previously, an update of the city’s land use regulations can provide better 
alternatives for producing quality development without necessitating the use of a PUD.” 

ANALYSIS 

TRANSPORTATION: 

Vehicular access to the site will be provided by Old Register Road and a proposed extension of Akins 
Boulevard, which will serve the northern boundary of the subject site. A review of the Bulloch County/Statesboro 
2035 Long Range Transportation Plan (LRTP) further suggests no expected capacity deficiencies on Old 
Register Road. The LRTP does, however, recommend that Old Register Road warrants further study and 
potential operational upgrades to ensure long-term carrying capacity. Additionally, the LRTP recommends 
further study to consider intersection improvements at Old Register Road and Veterans Memorial Parkway.  

As this zoning map amendment request has the potential to significantly increase vehicle trips on existing 
streets, a traffic study in order to determine the trip generation potential of the site, and what type of operational 
improvements to Old Register Road may be required by the developer.  Additionally, City Council should 
consider certain street improvements as well as pedestrian and bicycle system improvements which may not 
be otherwise incorporated into a standard development. 

COMMUNITY FACILITIES:  

The subject site is currently served by city services including water, sewer, sanitation, and public safety. No 
significant impact is expected on community facilities or services as a result of this request. 

ENVIRONMENTAL: 

Per Exhibit D and Bulloch County GIS, the subject property is bordered by wetlands to the east, but it should 
not impact this request. Any potential issues will be brought forth and discussed during standard permitting and 
review procedures.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-09-05 

ZONING CONSIDERATIONS: 
Whether or not to grant a zoning map amendment from the PUD/CR (Planned Unit 
Development/Commercial Retail) zoning district to the PUD (Planned Unit Development) zoning district.   

The request should be considered in light of: 

 the standards for determination of zoning map amendments given in Section 2007 of the 
Statesboro Zoning Ordinance 

 the vision and community policies articulated within the Statesboro Comprehensive Plan 

 the 2035 Bulloch County/City of Statesboro Long Range Transportation Plan 

 the potential for the property to develop and be utilized in conformance with the requirements of 
the proposed PUD (Planned Unit Development) district as set forth in the Statesboro 
Zoning Ordinance. 
 

Current Zoning 

Under # AN 10-06-01, The Planned Unit 
Development/Commercial Retail (PUD/CR) district 
can accommodate land uses permitted in Article X 
(Commercial Retail District) of the Statesboro Zoning 
Ordinance as well as agencies, studios, schools. Also, 
commercial recreation uses such as bowling alleys, 
skating rinks, theatres, arcades, amusement parks, 
golf courses, and golf driving ranges. However, a 
soccer stadium complex is not a permitted land use 
under the current zoning regulations.  

Requested Zoning 

The PUD (Planned Unit Development) district typically 
offers greater flexibility in development standards than 
the conventional zoning district. With this flexibility, 
there is also an opportunity to include housing 
diversity, mixed uses, and amenities. A PUD should 
be viewed as an alternative available for regulating 
development when existing land use regulations are 
not adequate for a particular development, such as a 
soccer stadium, which is the applicant’s intended use. 

STANDARDS: ZONING MAP AMENDMENT 

Section 2007 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance provides eight (8) standards for the Mayor and City Council 
to consider “in making its determination” regarding a zoning map amendment, in “balancing the promotions 
of the public health, safety, morality (morals), and general welfare against the right of unrestricted use 
of property.” Those standards are as follows: 

(1) Existing uses and zoning or (of) property nearby 

a. Existing uses and zoning of property nearby varies. The surrounding lots are zoned HC 
(Highway Commercial), R-40 (Single Family Residential), and PUD/CR (Planned Unit 
Development/Commercial Retail), and are occupied by an entertainment complex/driving 
range, auto service center, Georgia Power Substation, and undeveloped land. 

(2) The extent to which property values are diminished by the particular zoning restrictions. 

a. The proposed use is not expected to have an adverse effect on property values in the area 
given the surrounding uses. Please note that staff has not consulted a professional appraiser 
regarding the impact of the requested zoning map amendment on the property value.  

(3) The extent to which the description of property values of the property owner promotes the 
health, safety, morals or general welfare of the public.  

(4) The relative gain to the public, as compared to the hardship imposed upon the property owner.  

a. The subject site is currently zoned PUD/CR (Planned Unit Development/Commercial Retail). 
Per AN #10-06-01, this parcel can currently be occupied by land use permitted in Article X 
Commercial Retail District of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance as well as agencies, studios, 
and schools. Also, commercial recreation uses such as bowling alleys, skating rinks, theatres, 
arcades, amusement parks, golf courses, and golf driving ranges. Under the proposed zoning, 
the applicant would be able to develop a soccer stadium complex as a PUD zoning provides 
the subject site greater flexibility in development standards than a conventional zoning district. 
This request gives the applicant an opportunity to serve members of the community and 
neighborhood while contributing with an entertainment use as encouraged by the 
Comprehensive Plan. 

(5) The suitability of the subject property for the zoned purposes.  



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-09-05 

(6) The length of time the property has been vacant as zoned, considered in the context of land 
development in the area in the vicinity of the property.  

a. In August 2010, the property was annexed into the city limits and re-zoned to R-40 (Single 
Family Residential. The property is currently undeveloped land. 

(7) The extent the proposed change would impact the following: population density in the area; 
community facilities; living conditions in the area; traffic patterns and congestion; 
environmental aspects; existing and future land use patterns; property values in adjacent 
areas; and  

a. Impacts on local traffic should be considered. 

b. Positive impact on the existing and future land use patterns as the proposed use is compatible 
with the surrounding area as well as consistent with the 2014 Future Development Map and 
the Statesboro Comprehensive Plan.  

(8) Consistency with other governmental land use, transportation, and development plans for the 
community. 

a. Use of the property as a soccer stadium complex is consistent with the vision and guiding 
principles of the “Activity Centers/Regional Centers” character area as articulated within the 
Statesboro Comprehensive Plan which promotes the development of entertainment places. 

b. Further, this request will assist in the achievement of the City of Statesboro Vision Statement 
for the 2014 Comprehensive Plan by providing an attractive destination for residents in the 
form of an entertainment establishment.  

RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff recommends approval of this zoning map amendment with condition(s).  

At the regularly scheduled meeting held Tuesday, October 2, 2018 at 5:00 PM, the Planning Commission voted 
6-0 to approve application RZ 18-09-05 with the following staff recommendations and conditions: 

(a) Staff approval of PUD site plan dated September 10, 2018. 

 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-09-05 

EXHIBIT A:  LOCATION MAP 

 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-09-05 

EXHIBIT B: FUTURE DEVELOPMENT MAP 

 

 

 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-09-05 

EXHIBIT C: SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTY PHOTOS 

Picture 1: View of the subject site, currently a portion of the Hackers/Clubhouse entertainment complex. 

 

 

Picture 2: Looking north from subject site, currently undeveloped land being recently approved for a zoning map 
amendment to the CR (Commercial Retail) zoning district under RZ 18-08-02. 

 
 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-09-05 

EXHIBIT C: SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTY PHOTOS (continued) 

Picture 3: Looking south along Old Register Road, the western boundary of the subject site. 

 

Picture 4: Looking west from the subject site across Old Register Road, currently undeveloped land being considered 
for a zoning map amendment to the PUD (Planned Unit Development) zoning district under RZ 18-09-04. 

 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-09-05 

EXHIBIT C: SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTY PHOTOS (continued) 

Picture 5: Looking south from subject site, currently Hackers/Clubhouse Entertainment Complex and a portion of the 
western boundary of the subject site. 

 

 

Picture 6: Looking west from subject site, currently an automotive services center. 

 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-09-05 

EXHIBIT C: SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTY PHOTOS (continued) 

Picture 7: Looking west from the subject site, currently a Georgia Power utility substation. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-09-05 

EXHIBIT D: Master Site Plan (dated September 10, 2018) 

 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-09-05 

EXHIBIT E: General Requirements #AN 10-06-01 (Continued) 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-09-05 

EXHIBIT E: General Requirements #AN 10-06-01 (Continued) 

 

 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-09-05 

 

EXHIBIT E: General Requirements #AN 10-06-01 (Continued) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-09-05 

EXHIBIT E: General Requirements #AN 10-06-01 (Continued) 

 

 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-09-05 

EXHIBIT E: General Requirements #AN 10-06-01 (Continued) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-09-05 

EXHIBIT E: General Requirements #AN 10-06-01 (Continued) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-09-05 

EXHIBIT E: General Requirements #AN 10-06-01 (Continued) 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 18-09-05 

 

EXHIBIT F: Boundary Plat (Highlighted Area to be considered under RZ 18-09-05) 

 



CITY OF STATESBORO 
 

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum, District 1 

Sam Jones, District 2 

Jeff Yawn, District 3 

John Riggs, District 4 

Derek Duke, District 5 

 
 

 

Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 

Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

Sue Starling, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 • STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence    Certified City of Ethics  

Telephone: (912) 764-5468      Fax: (912) 764-4691                                                                   

www.statesboroga.gov  

To: Randy Wetmore, City Manager and Sue Starling, City Clerk 

 

From: Owen Dundee, City Planner II 

 

Date: October 8, 2018 

 

RE: October 16, 2018 City Council Agenda Items 

 

Policy Issue: Statesboro Zoning Ordinance: Variance Request 

 

Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the variance requested by 

application V 18-09-07. 

 

Background: Robert Forrest (Stonewalk Companies) requests a variance from 

Article XIV, Section 1402 to reduce the minimum lot size requirements for 

property to be considered for the PUD (Planned Unit Development) zoning 

district in order to develop mixed use student housing on 2.994 acres of property 

for a combination of parcels addressed 108 Georgia Avenue, Georgia Avenue, 

15 University Plaza Avenue, 1 University Place, 8 University Place, and 6 University 

Plaza (Tax Parcel(s) MS61 000056 000, MS61 000058 000, MS61 000052 B000, MS61 

000052 A000, MS61 000055 A000, MS61 000052 000).  

 

Budget Impact: None 

 

Council Person and District: Riggs (District 4) 

 

Attachments: Development Services Report V-18-09-07, RZ 18-09-06, V-18-09-08, 

V-18-09-09 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

http://www.statesboroga.gov/


CITY OF STATESBORO 
 

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum, District 1 

Sam Jones, District 2 

Jeff Yawn, District 3 

John Riggs, District 4 

Derek Duke, District 5 

 
 

 

Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 

Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

Sue Starling, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 • STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence    Certified City of Ethics  

Telephone: (912) 764-5468      Fax: (912) 764-4691                                                                   

www.statesboroga.gov  

To: Randy Wetmore, City Manager and Sue Starling, City Clerk 

 

From: Owen Dundee, City Planner II 

 

Date: October 8, 2018 

 

RE: October 16, 2018 City Council Agenda Items 

 

Policy Issue: Statesboro Zoning Ordinance: Zoning Map Amendment Request 

 

Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the zoning map amendment 

requested by application RZ 18-09-06. 

 

Background: Robert Forrest (Stonewalk Companies) requests a zoning map 

amendment of 2.994 acres located at University Plaza from the CR (Commercial 

Retail) to the PUD (Planned Unit Development) zoning district in order to develop 

mixed use student housing for a combination of parcels addressed 108 Georgia 

Avenue, Georgia Avenue, 15 University Plaza Avenue, 1 University Place, 8 

University Place, and 6 University Plaza (Tax Parcel(s) MS61 000056 000, MS61 

000058 000, MS61 000052 B000, MS61 000052 A000, MS61 000055 A000, MS61 

000052 000).  

 

Budget Impact: None 

 

Council Person and District: Riggs (District 4) 

 

Attachments: Development Services Report V-18-09-07, RZ 18-09-06, V-18-09-08, 

V-18-09-09 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

http://www.statesboroga.gov/


CITY OF STATESBORO 
 

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum, District 1 

Sam Jones, District 2 

Jeff Yawn, District 3 

John Riggs, District 4 

Derek Duke, District 5 

 
 

 

Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 

Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

Sue Starling, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 • STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence    Certified City of Ethics  

Telephone: (912) 764-5468      Fax: (912) 764-4691                                                                   

www.statesboroga.gov  

To: Randy Wetmore, City Manager and Sue Starling, City Clerk 

 

From: Owen Dundee, City Planner II 

 

Date: October 8, 2018 

 

RE: October 16, 2018 City Council Agenda Items 

 

Policy Issue: Statesboro Zoning Ordinance: Variance Request 

 

Recommendation: Staff recommends denial of the variance requested by 

application V 18-09-08. 

 

Background: Robert Forrest (Stonewalk Companies) requests a variance from 

Article XVI, Section 1600 to reduce the minimum parking requirements in order to 

develop mixed use student housing on 2.994 acres of property for a 

combination of parcels addressed 108 Georgia Avenue, Georgia Avenue, 15 

University Plaza Avenue, 1 University Place, 8 University Place, and 6 University 

Plaza (Tax Parcel(s) MS61 000056 000, MS61 000058 000, MS61 000052 B000, MS61 

000052 A000, MS61 000055 A000, MS61 000052 000).  

 

Budget Impact: None 

 

Council Person and District: Riggs (District 4) 

 

Attachments: Development Services Report V-18-09-07, RZ 18-09-06, V-18-09-08, 

V-18-09-09 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

http://www.statesboroga.gov/


CITY OF STATESBORO 
 

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum, District 1 

Sam Jones, District 2 

Jeff Yawn, District 3 

John Riggs, District 4 

Derek Duke, District 5 

 
 

 

Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 

Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

Sue Starling, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 • STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence    Certified City of Ethics  

Telephone: (912) 764-5468      Fax: (912) 764-4691                                                                   

www.statesboroga.gov  

To: Randy Wetmore, City Manager and Sue Starling, City Clerk 

 

From: Owen Dundee, City Planner II 

 

Date: October 8, 2018 

 

RE: October 16, 2018 City Council Agenda Items 

 

Policy Issue: Statesboro Zoning Ordinance: Variance Request 

 

Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the variance requested by 

application V 18-09-09. 

 

Background: Robert Forrest (Stonewalk Companies) requests a variance from 

Article X, Section 1002 to increase the allowable building height in order to 

develop mixed use student housing on 2.994 acres of property for a 

combination of parcels addressed 108 Georgia Avenue, Georgia Avenue, 15 

University Plaza Avenue, 1 University Place, 8 University Place, and 6 University 

Plaza (Tax Parcel(s) MS61 000056 000, MS61 000058 000, MS61 000052 B000, MS61 

000052 A000, MS61 000055 A000, MS61 000052 000).  

 

Budget Impact: None 

 

Council Person and District: Riggs (District 4) 

 

Attachments: Development Services Report V-18-09-07, RZ 18-09-06, V-18-09-08, 

V-18-09-09 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.statesboroga.gov/


 

Development Services Report 

Case V 18-09-07, V 18-09-08, V 18-09-09, & RZ 18-09-06 

City of Statesboro-Department of Planning and Development 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

P.O. Box 348    (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia 30458  (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

 V 18-09-07, V 18-09-08, V 18-09-09, & RZ 18-09-06 

VARIANCE & ZONIGN MAP AMENDMENT REQUESTS 

University Place: 108 Georgia Avenue, Georgia Avenue, 15 University Plaza Avenue, 1 
& 8 University Place, and 6 University Plaza 

LOCATION: University Plaza 

 

REQUEST: 

Zoning Map Amendment from CR 

(Commercial Retail) to PUD (Planned Unit 

Development); Variance from Article XIV 

Section 1402 regarding lot regulations; 

Variance from Article XVI Section 1600 

regarding off street parking facilities; Variance 

from Article X Section 1002 regarding 

building height regulations 

APPLICANT: Robert Forrest (Stonewalk Companies) 

OWNER(S): 
LSCG Fund 2 University Plaza LLC, Henry & 

Charlene Doyle, and Doyle Rentals, LLC 

ACRES:  2.994 acres (combined) 

PARCEL TAX  

MAP #: 

MS61 000056 000 (0.33 acres) 

MS61 000058 000 (0.35 acres) 

MS61 000052 B000 (0.30 acres) 

MS61 000052 A000 (0.27 acres) 

MS61 000055 A000 (0.15 acres) 

MS61 000052 000 (1.67 acres) 

COUNCIL        

DISTRICT:            
District 4 (Riggs) 

PROPOSAL: 

The applicant is proposing to construct a new mixed-use development on a combination of parcels 
(University Plaza) located on Georgia Avenue, near the corner of Chandler Road, to be used for student 
housing and retail. The proposed design includes ground floor retail (18,500 SF), leasing office and community 
amenity spaces including an elevated amenity terrace, gym, and study rooms (10, 103 SF), and residential 
units (464 total beds across 116 units). The applicant requests a variance from Article XIV Section 1402 
regarding lot regulations, which requires a minimum lot size of ten (10) acres to be considered for the PUD 
(Planned Unit Development) zoning district. The applicant is proposing a minimum lot size of 2.994 acres. Next, 
the applicant is requesting a zoning map amendment from the CR (Commercial Retail) zoning district to the 
PUD (Planned Unit Development) zoning district in order to develop the property as mixed-use student 
housing, which is not an allowed use in the existing zoning designation. Additionally, the applicant requests a 
variance from Article XVI Section 1600 regarding off street parking facilities, which requires a minimum of four 
hundred and ninety-four (494) parking spaces for type of proposed development. The applicant is proposing a 
minimum of two hundred and seventy (270) parking spaces. Finally, the applicant is requesting a variance from 
Article X Section 1002 regarding building height regulations, which restricts building heights to a maximum 
height of fifty (50) feet when approved by the board of appeals. The applicant is proposing a maximum building 
height of sixty-eight (68) feet (see Exhibit D—Site and Landscape Plan, Exhibit E – Schematic Elevations, 
Exhibit F – ALTA Land Title Survey, Exhibit G – Proposed Development Matrix, Exhibit H – Proposed Floor 
Plans). 

 



Development Services Report 

Case V 18-09-07, V 18-09-08, V 18-09-09, & RZ 18-09-06 

Specifically of note in Exhibit(s) D, E, F, G, and H: 

A. The proposed subject site is less than ten acres in size. 
B. The proposed development is not an allowed used in the existing CR (Commercial Retail) zoning 

designation. 
C. The proposed development only allows enough parking for approximately 0.54 spaces per bed.  

 
D. Proposed development’s schematic elevations exhibit a building height of approximately 70 feet to the top 

of the elevator height. 
 

BACKGROUND: 
 

Located directly adjacent to Georgia Southern University, University Plaza is currently a retail center, 
which contains nightlife destinations, bars, and restaurants. Not including university buildings, convenience 
stores, and/or body piercing businesses, there have been approximately 12 restaurant businesses that have 
been opened or are currently open at the University Plaza location. Currently, the plaza contains Shenanigans 
Bar, Orient Express restaurant, Fast and Easy Convenience Store, Rumrunners Daiquiri’s, Wings & Pizza, 
Jerry’s Barber Shop, Charlie’s Fried Chicken restaurant, and vacant retail space (See Exhibit C – Photos of 
Subject Site). The University Plaza businesses primarily serve the student population due to the location’s 
proximity to student housing and the Georgia Southern University campus.  

 
On February 22, 2002, variance application request #V 02-03-03 regarding Article X: Section 1003: 

Minimum Lot Size, was approved by Council in order to construct a 6,000 square foot commercial building 
within the Plaza. On December 5, 2006, variance application request #V 06-11-03 was denied by Council. This 
variance request was regarding a reduction in the minimum number of parking spaces required for a 
commercial use. The applicant requested a reduction in parking space from 296 to 129. 
 

SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING:  

 ZONING: LAND USE: 

NORTH: CR (Commercial Retail), R-3 (Medium 
Density Multiple Family Residential) 

Dingus Magee’s Restaurant, Apartment Homes, and Single Family 
Homes 

SOUTH: EXPT (Exempt) Georgia Southern University Parking Facilities (C lot and J Lot) and 
Student Housing (Eagle Village)  

EAST:  EXPT (Exempt) Georgia Southern University Parking Facilities  

WEST CR (Commercial Retail), EXPT (Exempt) Zaxby’s Restaurant, Georgia Southern University (GSU) Campus, 
GSU Dining Commons, GSU Student Housing (Centennial Place) 

The subject property is located within the CR (Commercial Retail) zoning district. Surrounding properties include 
Dingus Magee’s Restaurant, single family residences, apartment homes, Georgia Southern University (GSU), 
GSU Student Housing, GSU Parking facilities, GSU Dining Commons, and Zaxby’s Restaurant. (See Exhibit A 
–Location Map, Exhibit C—Photos of Subject Site). 

 

ATTACHMENTS: Exhibit A (Location Map), Exhibit B (Future Development Map) Exhibit C (Photos of Subject Site), Exhibit 
D (Site and Landscape Plan), Exhibit E (Schematic Elevations), Exhibit F (ALTA Land Title Survey), Exhibit G (Proposed 
Development Matrix), and Exhibit H (Proposed Floor Plans) 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case V 18-09-07, V 18-09-08, V 18-09-09, & RZ 18-09-06 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: 

The City of Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan’s Future Development Map includes the subject site in the 

following character area: 

“University District” 

Vision Suggested Development & Implementation Strategies 

The University District is anchored by Georgia 

Southern University, a traditional four-year college 

campus. Academic and administrative buildings, 

residence halls and dorms, student activity centers, 

cafeterias, performing arts venues, and ancillary 

buildings are found in the campus core, which is 

organized around an internal pedestrian circulation 

system. Pedestrian and bicycle connectivity within the 

campus is excellent. Parking lots are found along the 

periphery, allowing students, faculty and staff to park 

and walk to buildings and facilities in the core, but this 

has caused the City exterior circulation issues. 

 Collaboratively address parking needs on campus 

that affects public and private property in 

surrounding areas.  

 Consider the installation of parking structures on 

campus as a parking solution. Potential sites 

include the existing parking areas near the Hwy 67 

entrance, along Old Register Road, and along 

Chandler Road.  

 Strengthen enforcement of code violations for 

private property, including property maintenance, 

parking, and structural conditions.  

Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan, Community Agenda page 
30-31. 

In addition, the Character Areas Narrative of the Comprehensive Plan states the following:  

 “Development within this area, whether on campus or nearby, should focus heavily on pedestrian and bike 
accessibility, as well as transit. Transitioning the area along the northern side of campus into more active 
uses, such as residences, educational buildings, activity centers, etc. could significantly bridge the physical 
gap between downtown and the university.” 

 A suggested development strategy to “ensure adequate bicycle and pedestrian facilities for students 
commuting to and from GSU campus”. 

Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan, Community Agenda pages 30-31. 

Also, the Issues & Opportunities Narrative of the Comprehensive Plan states the following: 

“Planned unit developments, or PUDs, typically offer greater flexibility in development standards than a 
conventional zoning district. With this flexibility, there is also an opportunity to include housing diversity, mixed 
uses, and amenities. A PUD should be viewed as an alternative available for regulating development when 
existing land use regulations may not adequately address unique circumstances or opportunities for a 
particular development. The City may grant more leeway in the certain areas of the regulations for a PUD, 
but in exchange, there are expectations of the development community for additional design features, 
amenities, etc. As mentioned previously, an update of the city’s land use regulations can provide better 
alternatives for producing quality development without necessitating the use of a PUD”. 

Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan, Issues & Opportunities page 67. 

Lastly, the Future Development Map of the Comprehensive Plan states the following: 

“Mixed use is listed as a preferred development strategy. True mixed use developments place a high priority 
on scale and design to create places which encourage pedestrian activity through relationships between 
buildings, interesting streetscapes, and appropriate treatment of parking. Simply placing one use next to 
another does not constitute mixed use. The components must be evaluated in context with their surroundings 
for mixed use to be successful”.  

Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan, Future Development Map Narrative page 10. 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case V 18-09-07, V 18-09-08, V 18-09-09, & RZ 18-09-06 

ANALYSIS 

TRANSPORTATION: 

Per the 2035 Bulloch County/City of Statesboro Long Range Transportation Plan, Georgia Southern University 
(GSU) has a shortage of parking facilities, particularly for students who live off-campus and must commute to 
school. Based on the 2009 parking data, the University estimates that there is a daily demand for 12,000 parking 
spaces, but there are only 8,000 spaces available in the campus core. The Southern Express system does help 
ease this shortage. All students are allowed to park at Paulson Stadium free of charge (no permit required) and 
use the shuttle to get to the center of campus. The University allocates four to five-hundred spaces at Paulson 
Stadium for transit parking. 

As this zoning map amendment request has the potential to significantly increase vehicle trips on existing 
streets, a traffic study in order to determine the trip generation potential of the site, and what type of operational 
improvements to Georgia Avenue may be required by the developer.  Additionally, City Council should consider 
certain street improvements as well as pedestrian and bicycle system improvements which may not be 
otherwise incorporated into a standard development. 

COMMUNITY FACILITIES:  

The subject site is currently served by city services including water, sewer, sanitation, and public safety. No 
significant impact is expected on community facilities or services as a result of this request. 

ENVIRONMENTAL: 

The subject property does not contain wetlands and is not located in a special flood hazard area. There is no 
expected environmental impact associated with this request. Any potential issues will be brought forth and 
discussed during standard permitting and review procedures.  

ZONING CONSIDERATIONS: 
Whether or not to grant a zoning map amendment from the CR (Commercial Retail) zoning district to the 
PUD (Planned Unit Development) zoning district.   

The request should be considered in light of: 

 the standards for determination of zoning map amendments given in Section 2007 of the 
Statesboro Zoning Ordinance 

 the vision and community policies articulated within the Statesboro Comprehensive Plan 

 the 2035 Bulloch County/City of Statesboro Long Range Transportation Plan 

 the potential for the property to develop and be utilized in conformance with the requirements of 
the proposed PUD (Planned Unit Development) district as set forth in the Statesboro 
Zoning Ordinance. 

 

Current Zoning 

The commercial retail (CR) district can accommodate a 
variety of business types and some residential uses. 
These uses include, but are not limited to retail 
establishments, business offices, food service facilities, 
places of indoor amusement, hotel, churches, upper 
floor apartments, and healthcare facilities. However, 
“mixed-use development”, is not listed as a permissible 
use allowable by right in the CR district.   

Requested Zoning 

The PUD (Planned Unit Development) district typically 
offers greater flexibility in development standards than 
the conventional zoning district. With this flexibility, 
there is also an opportunity to include housing 
diversity, mixed uses, and amenities. A PUD should 
be viewed as an alternative available for regulating 
development when existing land use regulations are 
not adequate for a particular development, such as a 
mixed-use student housing development, which is the 
applicant’s intended use. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Development Services Report 

Case V 18-09-07, V 18-09-08, V 18-09-09, & RZ 18-09-06 

STANDARDS: ZONING MAP AMENDMENT 

Section 2007 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance provides eight (8) standards for the Mayor and City Council 
to consider “in making its determination” regarding a zoning map amendment, in “balancing the promotions 
of the public health, safety, morality (morals), and general welfare against the right of unrestricted use 
of property.” Those standards are as follows: 

(1) Existing uses and zoning or (of) property nearby 

a. Existing uses and zoning of property nearby varies. The surrounding lots are zoned CR 
(Commercial Retail), R-3 (Medium Density Multiple Family Residential), and EXPT 
(Exempt), and are occupied by Dingus Magee’s restaurant and bar, apartment homes, single 
family homes, Georgia Southern University (GSU) parking facilities, GSU Student Housing, 
GSU dining commons, GSU campus, and Zaxby’s restaurant. 

(2) The extent to which property values are diminished by the particular zoning restrictions. 

a. The proposed use is not expected to have an adverse effect on property values in the area 
given the surrounding uses. Please note that staff has not consulted a professional appraiser 
regarding the impact of the requested zoning map amendment on the property value.  

(3) The extent to which the description of property values of the property owner promotes the 
health, safety, morals or general welfare of the public.  

(4) The relative gain to the public, as compared to the hardship imposed upon the property owner.  

a. The subject site is currently zoned CR (Commercial Retail). This parcel can currently be 
occupied by land use permitted in Article X Commercial Retail District of the Statesboro Zoning 
Ordinance. Under the proposed zoning, the applicant would be able to develop a mixed-use 
student housing development as a PUD zoning provides the subject site greater flexibility in 
development standards than a conventional zoning district.  

(5) The suitability of the subject property for the zoned purposes.  

(6) The length of time the property has been vacant as zoned, considered in the context of land 
development in the area in the vicinity of the property.  

(7) The extent the proposed change would impact the following: population density in the area; 
community facilities; living conditions in the area; traffic patterns and congestion; 
environmental aspects; existing and future land use patterns; property values in adjacent 
areas; and  

a. Impacts on local traffic should be considered. 

b. Proposed land use change would cause an increase in population density. While population 
growth presents great opportunities, rapid development and lack of direction can erode 
community character. Growth should be guided to ensure Statesboro maintains its defining 
character. 

(8) Consistency with other governmental land use, transportation, and development plans for the 
community. 

a. Use of the property as a mixed use development with both a residential and retail component 
is consistent with the appropriate land uses of the “University District” character area as 
articulated within the Statesboro Comprehensive Plan.  

 

VARIANCE ANALYSIS 

 
I. Variance from Article XIV: Section 1402: Lot regulations. (V 18-09-07) 
 
The applicant is requesting a variance from Article XIV: Section 1402, Lot Regulations, which states: “The 
provisions of this section may be applied upon application of the owner, to any lot exceeding ten acres in size. 
The owner shall file with the planning commission a proposed site plan and detailed description of the structures 
to be erected, the other facilities of the project and the land uses involved. In addition, he shall furnish such other 
information as the planning commission may reasonably require. In acting upon the application, the planning 



Development Services Report 

Case V 18-09-07, V 18-09-08, V 18-09-09, & RZ 18-09-06 

commission may alter setback requirements, height limits, building size limits, off street parking regulations, 
landscaping rules and density and intensity limits but only with approval from the zoning board of appeals”.  
 
The variance in question is regarding the total area of the subject site, which is proposed to be 2.994 acres.  The 
subject site is approximately 7.006 acres less than the minimum 10 (ten) acres required to be considered for the 
planned unit development (PUD) zoning district (see Exhibit F – ALTA Land Title Survey). 
 
II. Variance from Article XVI: Section 1600: Off Street Parking and Loading. (V 18-09-08)  
 
The applicant is requesting a variance from Article XVI: Section 1600, Off Street Parking Facilities, which 
states: Multiple-family uses shall be required to have one (1) parking space per bedroom and one (1) per ten 
(10) dwelling units. Additionally, one (1) parking space per every 1,000 square feet of retail sales area, 
applicable only to restaurant, cafeteria, and fast food uses (with seating). 
 
The variance in question is regarding the total number of proposed parking spaces for this project, which is 
stated to be 270 parking spaces (0.54 per bed). The project, as shown within this development services 
report, does not meet the ordinance requirements for parking. The parking requirements are enforced across 
all zoning districts. Under Article XVI, this type of proposed development would typically be required to 
provide 494 parking spaces (see Exhibit G—Proposed Development Matrix and Exhibit H – Proposed Floor 
Plans).   
 
III. Variance from Article X: Section 1002: Height Regulations. (V 18-09-09) 
 

The applicant is requesting a variance from Article X: Section 1002, which states: “The maximum height of any 
building or other structure erected or used in this district shall be 35 feet except that the height of any such other 
building or structure may be increased to a maximum of 50 feet when approved by the board of appeals. Said 
board shall make a finding that any excess height over 35 feet will not be detrimental to the light, air, privacy, or 
architectural scheme of any other structure or use currently existing or anticipated, provided that for every foot in 
height in excess of 35 feet there shall be added to each yard requirement one corresponding foot of width or depth. 

 

The variance in question is regarding the proposed building height, which is stated to be approximately 70 feet. 
The proposed site plan does include increased front, rear, and side yard setbacks due to the increased building 
height. It should be noted that staff required this variance due to the development’s proposed maximum building 
height exceeding every allowable building height under City of Statesboro Zoning Ordinance. 

 
The Statesboro Zoning Ordinance provides for the award of variances by the City Council from the zoning 
regulations, stating that “approval of a variance must be in the public interest, the spirit of the ordinance must be 
observed, public safety and welfare secured, and substantial justice done.”  
 

Section 1801 states that the Mayor and Council [should] consider if the following are true in its 
consideration of a variance request: 

 
1. There are special conditions pertaining to the land or structure in question because of its size, 

shape, topography, or other physical characteristic and that condition is not common to other 
land or buildings in the general vicinity or in the same zoning district; 
 

2. The special conditions and circumstances do not result from the actions of the applicant; 
 
3. The application of the ordinance to this particular piece of property would create an 

unnecessary hardship; and 
 

4. Relief, if granted, would not cause substantial detriment to the public good or impair the  
                   purposes and intent of the zoning regulations. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Development Services Report 

Case V 18-09-07, V 18-09-08, V 18-09-09, & RZ 18-09-06 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff recommends overall disapproval of the PUD requested due to variance being requested by V 18-09-08 
regarding parking requirements. 

Staff recommends disapproval of the variance requested by V 18-09-08.  

Staff recommends approval of the variance requested by V 18-09-07 and V 18-09-09.  

Staff recommends approval of the zoning map amendment requested by RZ 18-09-06. 
 
If overall PUD is approved, by-laws and restrictive covenants will be required to be recorded prior to construction 
commencement. 
 
At the regularly scheduled meeting held Tuesday, October 2, 2018 at 5:00 PM, the Planning Commission voted 
6-0 to approve the variances and zoning map amendment requested by V 18-09-07, RZ 18-09-06, V 18-09-08, 
and V 18-09-09 with the following condition(s): 
 

(a) By-laws and restrictive covenants required to be recorded prior to construction commencement. 

(b) Minimum of 0.7 parking spaces required per bed within a one mile radius of the development site’s 
location. 

(c) Rental lease agreement for each dwelling unit to have a two parking space limit.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Development Services Report 

Case V 18-09-07, V 18-09-08, V 18-09-09, & RZ 18-09-06 

EXHIBIT A:  LOCATION MAP 

  



Development Services Report 

Case V 18-09-07, V 18-09-08, V 18-09-09, & RZ 18-09-06 

EXHIBIT B: FUTURE DEVELOPMENT MAP 

 

 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case V 18-09-07, V 18-09-08, V 18-09-09, & RZ 18-09-06 

EXHIBIT C: SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTY PHOTOS 

Picture 1: View of subject site from Georgia Avenue at the northwestern corner of the site. 

 

 

Picture 2: View of subject site from Georgia Avenue at the southeastern corner of the site.  

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case V 18-09-07, V 18-09-08, V 18-09-09, & RZ 18-09-06 

EXHIBIT C: SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTY PHOTOS (CONT’D) 

Picture 3: Looking south along Georgia Avenue, view of the subject site’s frontage along Georgia Avenue.  

 

Picture 4: Looking north along Georgia Avenue, view of the subject site’s frontage along Georgia Avenue.  

 

 
 
 



Development Services Report 

Case V 18-09-07, V 18-09-08, V 18-09-09, & RZ 18-09-06 

EXHIBIT C: SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTY PHOTOS (CONT’D) 

 

Picture 5: Looking northwest from the subject site, currently Zaxby’s restaurant. 

 

Picture 6: View of surrounding properties to the northwest of the subject site, currently Georgia Southern University student housing, 

Centennial Place. 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case V 18-09-07, V 18-09-08, V 18-09-09, & RZ 18-09-06 

EXHIBIT C: SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTY PHOTOS (CONT’D) 
 

Picture 7: View of surrounding properties to the northwest of the subject site, currently Georgia Southern University Campus and 

Dining Commons. 

 

 

Picture 8: View of surrounding properties to the north of the subject site, currently Dingus Magee’s Bar & Restaurant. 

 

 
 



Development Services Report 

Case V 18-09-07, V 18-09-08, V 18-09-09, & RZ 18-09-06 

EXHIBIT C: SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTY PHOTOS (CONT’D) 
 

Picture 9: View of surrounding properties to the east of the subject site, currently Georgia Southern University student housing, Eagle 

Village. 

 

 

Picture 10: View of surrounding properties to the northeast of the subject site, currently single family homes. 

 

 

 
 



Development Services Report 

Case V 18-09-07, V 18-09-08, V 18-09-09, & RZ 18-09-06 

EXHIBIT C: SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTY PHOTOS (CONT’D) 
 

Picture 11: View of the property on the southern boundary of the subject site, currently Georgia Southern University student parking 

facilities, Lot C and Lot J. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case V 18-09-07, V 18-09-08, V 18-09-09, & RZ 18-09-06 

EXHIBIT D: Site and Landscape Plan 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 



Development Services Report 

Case V 18-09-07, V 18-09-08, V 18-09-09, & RZ 18-09-06 

EXHIBIT E: Schematic Elevations 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case V 18-09-07, V 18-09-08, V 18-09-09, & RZ 18-09-06 

EXHIBIT E: Schematic Elevations (Continued) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case V 18-09-07, V 18-09-08, V 18-09-09, & RZ 18-09-06 

EXHIBIT E: Schematic Elevations (Continued) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case V 18-09-07, V 18-09-08, V 18-09-09, & RZ 18-09-06 

EXHIBIT F: ALTA Land Title Survey 

 



Development Services Report 

Case V 18-09-07, V 18-09-08, V 18-09-09, & RZ 18-09-06 

 

EXHIBIT G: Proposed Development Matrix 

 



Development Services Report 

Case V 18-09-07, V 18-09-08, V 18-09-09, & RZ 18-09-06 

EXHIBIT H: Proposed Floor Plans 

 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case V 18-09-07, V 18-09-08, V 18-09-09, & RZ 18-09-06 

EXHIBIT H: Proposed Floor Plans (Continued) 

 

 

 

 



CITY OF STATESBORO 
 

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum, District 1 

Sam Jones, District 2 

Jeff Yawn, District 3 

John Riggs, District 4 

Derek Duke, District 5 

 
 

 

Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 

Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

Sue Starling, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 • STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence    Certified City of Ethics  

Telephone: (912) 764-5468      Fax: (912) 764-4691                                                                   

www.statesboroga.gov  

To: Randy Wetmore, City Manager and Sue Starling, City Clerk 

 

From: Justin Williams, City Planner I 

 

Date: October 8, 2018 

 

RE: October 16, 2018 City Council Agenda Items 

 

Policy Issue: Statesboro Zoning Ordinance: Sign Variance Request 

 

Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the variance request as 

described.   

 

Background: Bobby Wilcox (Wilcox Sign Company) requests a variance from 

Article XV, Section 1509 to exceed the freestanding sign height limit of 8 feet, in 

order to place a 8.75 foot sign at 6922 Veterans Memorial Parkway(Tax Parcel 

MS42000012 000). 

 

Budget Impact: None 

 

Council Person and District: Jones (District 2) 

 

Attachments: Developmental Services Report V-18-09-10 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.statesboroga.gov/


 

Development Services Report 

Case: V- 18-09-10 

City of Statesboro-Department of Planning and Development 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
P.O. Box 348    (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia 30458  (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

 V- 18-09-10 

VARIANCE REQUEST 

6922 VETERANS MEMORIAL PARKWAY 

LOCATION: 6922 Veterans Memorial Parkway (1067 South Main 

Street) 

 

REQUEST: Sign variance request.  

APPLICANT: Bobby Wilcox (Wilcox Sign Company) 

OWNER(S): J C Lewis Investment Co LLC 

ACRES: 13.51 

PARCEL TAX  

MAP #: 
MS42000012 000 

COUNCIL        

DISTRICT:            
District 2 (Jones) 

PROPOSAL: 

The applicant requests a variance to Appendix A; Section 1509, Table 5 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance. 
Specifically this application seeks variance to the restriction on the height of freestanding signs, listed as 8 
feet. Applicant desires to place a pre-existing 8.75 monument foot sign. 

BACKGROUND:   

The currently developing JC Lewis Ford Dealership is located at 6922 Veterans Memorial Parkway. The 
location was previously undeveloped. On November 15, 2016, City Council approved rezoning property from 
CR (Commercial Retail) to HOC (Highway Oriented Commercial). The addressing of the property was 1067 
South Main Street on 7 November 2017. Upon consideration this address was changed. 
 

 

SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING:  

 ZONING: LAND USE: 

NORTH: R4 (High Density Residential 
District), R10 (Single Family 
Residential), & Heavy Industrial-
Bulloch County) 

Apartment houses and Single Family Residences 

SOUTH: CR (Commercial Retail) & HC 
(Highway Commercial-Bulloch 
County) 

Food Service facilities, retail facilities and automobile sales 

EAST: CR (Commercial Retail) & R4 
(High Density Residential) 

Service Station 

WEST HI (Heavy Industrial-Bulloch 
County) & HC (Highway 
Commercial-Bulloch County) 

Warehouses 



Development Services Report 

Case: V-18-09-10 

The subject property is located within the HOC (Highway Oriented Commercial) district. Surrounding parcels 
include several service stations, retail establishments and multifamily developments (See Exhibit A –
Location Map, Exhibit B—Future Development Map & Exhibit C—Photos of Subject Site). 

ATTACHMENTS: Exhibit A (Location Map), Exhibit B (Future Development Map), Exhibit C (Photos of 
Subject Site), Exhibit D (Plans for Proposed Signage), Exhibit E (Table 5 – Statesboro Zoning Ordinance) 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: 

The City of Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan’s Future Development Map includes the subject site in 

the following character area: 

“Gateway – City Limits” 

Vision: 

Gateways into the Urban Core should make it clear to residents and visitors that they 

are entering into the heart of the City and the central business district. Changes in the 

street design, streetscape elements, building types, and paving materials can all serve 

as gateway elements. 

Suggested 

Development & 

Implementation 

Strategies:  

 

 

 Promote street designs that denote entrance to a city and foster traffic 

calming, such as narrower travel lanes, on-street parking, and prominent 

bicycle and pedestrian facilities.  

 Locate parking beside or behind buildings. 

 Install streetscape improvements and hardscape elements which reflect the 

character of Statesboro through special treatment of sidewalks (such as 

pavers, scored concrete, etc.), pedestrian-scaled lighting, street trees, 

hardscape, seasonal plantings, etc. 

Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan, Community Agenda page 32. 

 

In addition, the Future Development Map and Defining Narrative section of the Comprehensive Plan states 
the following:  

“Commercial encroachment into residential neighborhoods seems to be less of a current concern, but 
as Statesboro continues to grow, the potential for this conflict increases. Commercial, retail, and office 
uses can co-exist compatibly in residential areas if the design of the establishment is properly 
considered.” 

Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan, Community Agenda page 9. 

 

 

ANALYSIS 

 

I. Variance from Article XV Section 1509(C) Table 5: Sign District 3 Dimension standards 
to allow for installation of freestanding sign in excess of allowed height. 

The applicant is requesting a variance from Article XV (Signs) regarding the maximum square footage of 
freestanding signs. Article XV (Signs) Section 1509 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance regulates the 
dimensional standards for all building signs within the City of Statesboro. The subject site is located in the 
HOC (Highway Oriented Commercial) zoning district and is regulated by the dimensional standards of 
Sign District 3. Although the parcel fronts on both Veterans Memorial, and South Main, the building is 
oriented to Veterans, which places it in Sign District 3.  



Development Services Report 

Case: V-18-09-10 

 

As per Table 5 (Exhibit E), the maximum allowed height of freestanding signage cannot exceed 8 feet. 
The applicant seeks to place a sign measuring at 8.75 feet in height.  

 
Section 1503(G) states that no variances shall be permitted from the terms of Article XV regarding signs in 
the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance. It continues to state that “Specifically, no variances under article XVIII of 
this ordinance [chapter] shall be applicable to the standards contained within this article.” However, Article 
XV regarding signs is part of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance, which provides for the award of variances 
by the City Council from the zoning regulations stating that “approval of a variance must be in the public 
interest, the spirit of the ordinance must be observed, public safety and welfare secured, and substantial 
justice done” and Section 1801 states that the Mayor and Council [should] consider if the following 
are true in its consideration of a variance request: 

 

1. There are special conditions pertaining to the land or structure in question because of its 
size, shape, topography, or other physical characteristic and that condition is not common 
to other land or buildings in the general vicinity or in the same zoning district; 

2. The special conditions and circumstances do not result from the actions of the applicant; 
3. The application of the ordinance to this particular piece of property would create an 

unnecessary hardship; and 
4. Relief, if granted, would not cause substantial detriment to the public good or impair the 

purposes and intent of the zoning regulations. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends approval of variance V18-09-10. 
 
At the regularly scheduled Planning Commission meeting on 2 Oct. 2018, Planning Commission 
recommended approval with a 6-0 vote.  

  



Development Services Report 

Case: V-18-09-10 

EXHIBIT A:  LOCATION MAP 
 

  



Development Services Report 

Case: V-18-09-10 

EXHIBIT B: FUTURE DEVELOPMENT MAP 

 

 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case: V-18-09-10 

EXHIBIT C: SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTY PHOTOS 

Picture 1: Frontal View of subject site from South Main/ Veterans Memorial Intersection 

 

Picture 2: Secondary view of property from Veterans Memorial/South Main intersection. Proposed stanchion location 

  

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case: V-18-09-10 

Picture 3: Adjacent business from site. 

 

 
Picture 4: Frontal view of primary building. 

 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case: V-18-09-10 

Picture 5: Frontal View of Secondary building 

 

Picture 6: Adjacent Residential Property 

 

  



Development Services Report 

Case: V-18-09-10 

Exhibit D: Proposed Signage Sketches 

Sketch 1: Proposed Monument Sign (Pre-existing) 

 

  



Development Services Report 

Case: V-18-09-10 

Exhibit E: Table 5: Statesboro Zoning Ordinance 

 



CITY OF STATESBORO 
 

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum, District 1 

Sam Jones, District 2 

Jeff Yawn, District 3 

John Riggs, District 4 

Derek Duke, District 5 

 
 

 

Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 

Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

Sue Starling, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 • STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence    Certified City of Ethics  

Telephone: (912) 764-5468      Fax: (912) 764-4691                                                                   

www.statesboroga.gov  

To: Randy Wetmore, City Manager and Sue Starling, City Clerk 

 

From: Justin Williams, City Planner I 

 

Date: October 8, 2018 

 

RE: October 16, 2018 City Council Agenda Items 

 

Policy Issue: Statesboro Zoning Ordinance: Sign Variance Request 

 

Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the variance request as 

described.   

 

Background: Bobby Wilcox (Wilcox Sign Company) requests a variance from 

Article XV, Section 1509 to exceed the freestanding sign height limit of 8 feet, in 

order to place a 36.708 foot sign at 6922 Veterans Memorial Parkway(Tax Parcel 

MS42000012 000). 

 

 

Budget Impact: None 

 

Council Person and District: Jones (District 2) 

 

Attachments: Developmental Services Report V-18-09-11 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.statesboroga.gov/


 

Development Services Report 

Case: V18-09-11 

City of Statesboro-Department of Planning and Development 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
P.O. Box 348    (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia 30458  (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

 V18-09-11  

VARIANCE REQUEST 

6922 VETERANS MEMORIAL PARKWAY 

LOCATION: 6922 Veterans Memorial Parkway (1067 South Main 

Street) 

 

REQUEST: Sign variance request.  

APPLICANT: Bobby Wilcox (Wilcox Sign Company) 

OWNER(S): CFN Partners/L&S Acquisitions LLC 

ACRES: 13.51 

PARCEL TAX  

MAP #: 
MS42000012 000 

COUNCIL        

DISTRICT:            
District 2 (Jones) 

PROPOSAL: 

The applicant requests a variance to Appendix A; Section 1509, Table 5 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance. 
Specifically, the applicant seeks to place a pre-existing freestanding sign at 36.708 in height, in a district that 
allows a maximum height of 8 feet for all freestanding signage.   

BACKGROUND:   

The currently developing JC Lewis Ford Dealership is located at 6922 Veterans Memorial Parkway. The 
location was previously undeveloped. On November 15, 2016, City Council approved rezoning property from 
CR (Commercial Retail) to HOC (Highway Oriented Commercial). The addressing of the property was 1067 
South Main Street on 7 November 2017. Upon consideration this address was changed. 
 

 

SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING:  

 ZONING: LAND USE: 

NORTH: R4 (High Density Residential 
District), R10 (Single Family 
Residential), & Heavy Industrial-
Bulloch County) 

Apartment houses and Single Family Residences 

SOUTH: CR (Commercial Retail) & HC 
(Highway Commercial-Bulloch 
County) 

Food Service facilities, retail facilities and automobile sales 

EAST: CR (Commercial Retail) & R4 
(High Density Residential) 

Service Station 

WEST HI (Heavy Industrial-Bulloch 
County) & HC (Highway 
Commercial-Bulloch County) 

Warehouses 



Development Services Report 

Case: V18-09-11Error! Reference source not found. 

The subject property is located within the HOC (Highway Oriented Commercial) district. Surrounding parcels 
include several service stations, retail establishments and multifamily developments (See Exhibit A –
Location Map, Exhibit B—Future Development Map & Exhibit C—Photos of Subject Site). 

ATTACHMENTS: Exhibit A (Location Map), Exhibit B (Future Development Map), Exhibit C (Photos of 
Subject Site), Exhibit D (Plans for Proposed Signage), Exhibit E (Table 5 – Statesboro Zoning Ordinance) 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: 

The City of Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan’s Future Development Map includes the subject site in 

the following character area: 

“Gateway – City Limits” 

Vision: 

Gateways into the Urban Core should make it clear to residents and visitors that they 

are entering into the heart of the City and the central business district. Changes in the 

street design, streetscape elements, building types, and paving materials can all serve 

as gateway elements. 

Suggested 

Development & 

Implementation 

Strategies:  

 

 

 Promote street designs that denote entrance to a city and foster traffic 

calming, such as narrower travel lanes, on-street parking, and prominent 

bicycle and pedestrian facilities.  

 Locate parking beside or behind buildings. 

 Install streetscape improvements and hardscape elements which reflect the 

character of Statesboro through special treatment of sidewalks (such as 

pavers, scored concrete, etc.), pedestrian-scaled lighting, street trees, 

hardscape, seasonal plantings, etc. 

Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan, Community Agenda page 32. 

 

In addition, the Future Development Map and Defining Narrative section of the Comprehensive Plan states 
the following:  

“Commercial encroachment into residential neighborhoods seems to be less of a current concern, but 
as Statesboro continues to grow, the potential for this conflict increases. Commercial, retail, and office 
uses can co-exist compatibly in residential areas if the design of the establishment is properly 
considered.” 

Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan, Community Agenda page 9. 

 

 

ANALYSIS 

I. Variance from Article XV Section 1509(C) Table 5: Sign District 3 Dimension standards 
to allow for installation of freestanding sign in excess of allowed maximum height. 

The applicant is requesting a variance from Article XV (Signs) regarding the maximum square footage of 
freestanding signs. Article XV (Signs) Section 1509 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance regulates the 
dimensional standards for all building signs within the City of Statesboro. The subject site is located in the 
HOC (Highway Oriented Commercial) zoning district and is regulated by the dimensional standards of 
Sign District 3. 



Development Services Report 

Case: V18-09-11Error! Reference source not found. 

The ordinance states maximum allowed height of freestanding signage cannot exceed 8 feet. The 
applicant seeks to place a sign measuring at 36.708 feet.  

 
 
Section 1503(G) states that no variances shall be permitted from the terms of Article XV regarding signs in 
the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance. It continues to state that “Specifically, no variances under article XVIII of 
this ordinance [chapter] shall be applicable to the standards contained within this article.” However, Article 
XV regarding signs is part of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance, which provides for the award of variances 
by the City Council from the zoning regulations stating that “approval of a variance must be in the public 
interest, the spirit of the ordinance must be observed, public safety and welfare secured, and substantial 
justice done” and Section 1801 states that the Mayor and Council [should] consider if the following 
are true in its consideration of a variance request: 

 

1. There are special conditions pertaining to the land or structure in question because of its 
size, shape, topography, or other physical characteristic and that condition is not common 
to other land or buildings in the general vicinity or in the same zoning district; 

2. The special conditions and circumstances do not result from the actions of the applicant; 
3. The application of the ordinance to this particular piece of property would create an 

unnecessary hardship; and 
4. Relief, if granted, would not cause substantial detriment to the public good or impair the 

purposes and intent of the zoning regulations. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

Staff Recommends approval of variance V18-09-11.  

  



Development Services Report 

Case: V18-09-11Error! Reference source not found. 

EXHIBIT A:  LOCATION MAP 
 

  



Development Services Report 

Case: V18-09-11Error! Reference source not found. 

EXHIBIT B: FUTURE DEVELOPMENT MAP 

 

 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case: V18-09-11Error! Reference source not found. 

EXHIBIT C: SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTY PHOTOS 

Picture 1: Frontal View of subject site from South Main/ Veterans Memorial Intersection 

 

Picture 2: Secondary view of property from Veterans Memorial/South Main intersection. Proposed stanchion location 

  

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case: V18-09-11Error! Reference source not found. 

Picture 3: Adjacent business from site. 

 

 
Picture 4: Frontal view of primary building. 

 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case: V18-09-11Error! Reference source not found. 

Picture 5: Frontal View of Secondary building 

 

Picture 6: Adjacent Residential Property 

 

  



Development Services Report 

Case: V18-09-11Error! Reference source not found. 

Exhibit D: Proposed Signage Sketches 

Sketch 1:  Proposed Stanchion Sign (Pre-Existing) 

 

  



Development Services Report 

Case: V18-09-11Error! Reference source not found. 

Exhibit E: Table 5: Statesboro Zoning Ordinance 

 



CITY OF STATESBORO 
 

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum, District 1 

Sam Jones, District 2 

Jeff Yawn, District 3 

John Riggs, District 4 

Derek Duke, District 5 

 
 

 

Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 

Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

Sue Starling, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 • STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence    Certified City of Ethics  

Telephone: (912) 764-5468      Fax: (912) 764-4691                                                                   

www.statesboroga.gov  

To: Randy Wetmore, City Manager and Sue Starling, City Clerk 

 

From: Justin Williams, City Planner I 

 

Date: October 8, 2018 

 

RE: October 16, 2018 City Council Agenda Items 

 

Policy Issue: Statesboro Zoning Ordinance: Sign Variance Request 

 

Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the variance request as 

described.   

 

Background: Bobby Wilcox (Wilcox Sign Company) requests a variance from 

Article XV, Section 1509 to exceed the freestanding sign square footage 

allowance of 120 square feet in order to place 2 signs totaling 239.507 square 

feet at 6922 Veterans Memorial Parkway (Tax Parcel MS42000012 000). 

 

Budget Impact: None 

 

Council Person and District: Jones (District 2) 

 

Attachments: Developmental Services Report V-18-09-12 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.statesboroga.gov/


 

Development Services Report 

Case: V 18-09-12 

City of Statesboro-Department of Planning and Development 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
P.O. Box 348    (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia 30458  (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

 V 18-09-12  

VARIANCE REQUEST 

6922 VETERANS MEMORIAL PARKWAY 

LOCATION: 6922 Veterans Memorial Parkway (1067 South Main 

Street) 

 

REQUEST: Sign variance request.  

APPLICANT: Bobby Wilcox (Wilcox Sign Company) 

OWNER(S): J C Lewis Investment Co LLC 

ACRES: 13.51 

PARCEL TAX  

MAP #: 
MS42000012 000 

COUNCIL        

DISTRICT:            
District 2 (Jones) 

PROPOSAL: 

The applicant requests a variance to Appendix A; Section 1509, Table 5 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance. 
Specifically, the applicant is seeking to place pre-existing freestanding signage of 239.507 square foot, while 
they are restricted by the Ordinance which allows for 120 square foot with a double frontage.   

BACKGROUND:   

The currently developing JC Lewis Ford Dealership is located at 6922 Veterans Memorial Parkway. The 
location was previously undeveloped. On November 15, 2016, City Council approved rezoning property from 
CR (Commercial Retail) to HOC (Highway Oriented Commercial). The addressing of the property was 1067 
South Main Street on 7 November 2017. Upon consideration this address was changed. 
 

 

SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING:  

 ZONING: LAND USE: 

NORTH: R4 (High Density Residential 
District), R10 (Single Family 
Residential), & Heavy Industrial-
Bulloch County) 

Apartment houses and Single Family Residences 

SOUTH: CR (Commercial Retail) & HC 
(Highway Commercial-Bulloch 
County) 

Food Service facilities, retail facilities and automobile sales 

EAST: CR (Commercial Retail) & R4 
(High Density Residential) 

Service Station 

WEST HI (Heavy Industrial-Bulloch 
County) & HC (Highway 
Commercial-Bulloch County) 

Warehouses 



Development Services Report 

Case: V 18-09-12 

The subject property is located within the HOC (Highway Oriented Commercial) district. Surrounding parcels 
include several service stations, retail establishments and multifamily developments (See Exhibit A –
Location Map, Exhibit B—Future Development Map & Exhibit C—Photos of Subject Site). 

ATTACHMENTS: Exhibit A (Location Map), Exhibit B (Future Development Map), Exhibit C (Photos of 
Subject Site), Exhibit D (Plans for Proposed Signage), Exhibit E (Table 5 – Statesboro Zoning Ordinance) 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: 

The City of Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan’s Future Development Map includes the subject site in 

the following character area: 

“Gateway – City Limits” 

Vision: 

Gateways into the Urban Core should make it clear to residents and visitors that they 

are entering into the heart of the City and the central business district. Changes in the 

street design, streetscape elements, building types, and paving materials can all serve 

as gateway elements. 

Suggested 

Development & 

Implementation 

Strategies:  

 

 

 Promote street designs that denote entrance to a city and foster traffic 

calming, such as narrower travel lanes, on-street parking, and prominent 

bicycle and pedestrian facilities.  

 Locate parking beside or behind buildings. 

 Install streetscape improvements and hardscape elements which reflect the 

character of Statesboro through special treatment of sidewalks (such as 

pavers, scored concrete, etc.), pedestrian-scaled lighting, street trees, 

hardscape, seasonal plantings, etc. 

Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan, Community Agenda page 32. 

 

In addition, the Future Development Map and Defining Narrative section of the Comprehensive Plan states 
the following:  

“Commercial encroachment into residential neighborhoods seems to be less of a current concern, but 
as Statesboro continues to grow, the potential for this conflict increases. Commercial, retail, and office 
uses can co-exist compatibly in residential areas if the design of the establishment is properly 
considered.” 

Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan, Community Agenda page 9. 

 

 

ANALYSIS 

I. Variance from Article XV Section 1509(C) Table 5: Sign District 3 Dimension standards 
to allow for installation of freestanding signs in excess of the Square Footage allowed. 

The applicant is requesting a variance from Article XV (Signs) regarding the maximum square footage of 
freestanding signs. Article XV (Signs) Section 1509 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance regulates the 
dimensional standards for all building signs within the City of Statesboro. The subject site is located in the 
HOC (Highway Oriented Commercial) zoning district and is regulated by the dimensional standards of 
Sign District 3.  

 



Development Services Report 

Case: V 18-09-12 

The ordinance states maximum freestanding signage allowed is 60 square feet. As the property fronts on 
both Veterans Memorial and South Main Street, the maximum allowable sign square footage would be 120 
square feet. The requested signage exceeds the maximum allowed by 119.5 square feet (See Exhibit D). 

 
 
Section 1503(G) states that no variances shall be permitted from the terms of Article XV regarding signs in 
the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance. It continues to state that “Specifically, no variances under article XVIII of 
this ordinance [chapter] shall be applicable to the standards contained within this article.” However, Article 
XV regarding signs is part of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance, which provides for the award of variances 
by the City Council from the zoning regulations stating that “approval of a variance must be in the public 
interest, the spirit of the ordinance must be observed, public safety and welfare secured, and substantial 
justice done” and Section 1801 states that the Mayor and Council [should] consider if the following 
are true in its consideration of a variance request: 

 

1. There are special conditions pertaining to the land or structure in question because of its 
size, shape, topography, or other physical characteristic and that condition is not common 
to other land or buildings in the general vicinity or in the same zoning district; 

2. The special conditions and circumstances do not result from the actions of the applicant; 
3. The application of the ordinance to this particular piece of property would create an 

unnecessary hardship; and 
4. Relief, if granted, would not cause substantial detriment to the public good or impair the 

purposes and intent of the zoning regulations. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends approval of variance V18-09-12.  
 
At the regularly scheduled Planning Commission meeting on 2 Oct. 2018, Planning Commission 
recommended approval with a 6-0 vote. 

  



Development Services Report 

Case: V 18-09-12 

EXHIBIT A:  LOCATION MAP 
 

  



Development Services Report 

Case: V 18-09-12 

EXHIBIT B: FUTURE DEVELOPMENT MAP 

 

 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case: V 18-09-12 

EXHIBIT C: SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTY PHOTOS 

Picture 1: Frontal View of subject site from South Main/ Veterans Memorial Intersection 

 

Picture 2: Secondary view of property from Veterans Memorial/South Main intersection. Proposed stanchion location 

  

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case: V 18-09-12 

Picture 3: Adjacent business from site. 

 

 
Picture 4: Frontal view of primary building. 

 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case: V 18-09-12 

Picture 5: Frontal View of Secondary building 

 

Picture 6: Adjacent Residential Property 

 

  



Development Services Report 

Case: V 18-09-12 

Exhibit D: Proposed Signage Sketches 

Sketch 1:  Proposed Stanchion Sign (Pre-Existing) 

 

  



Development Services Report 

Case: V 18-09-12 

Sketch 2: Proposed Monument Sign (Pre-existing) 

 

  



Development Services Report 

Case: V 18-09-12 

Exhibit E: Table 5: Statesboro Zoning Ordinance 

 



CITY OF STATESBORO 
 

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum, District 1 

Sam Jones, District 2 

Jeff Yawn, District 3 

John Riggs, District 4 

Derek Duke, District 5 

 
 

 

Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 

Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

Sue Starling, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 • STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence    Certified City of Ethics  

Telephone: (912) 764-5468      Fax: (912) 764-4691                                                                   

www.statesboroga.gov  

To: Randy Wetmore, City Manager and Sue Starling, City Clerk 

 

From: Justin Williams, City Planner I 

 

Date: October 8, 2018 

 

RE: October 16, 2018 City Council Agenda Items 

 

Policy Issue: Statesboro Zoning Ordinance: Sign Variance Request 

 

Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the variance request as 

described.   

 

Background: Bobby Wilcox (Wilcox Sign Company) requests a variance from 

Article XV, Section 1509 to exceed the wall sign square footage allowance of 

200 square feet in order to place signs totaling 330.746 square feet at 6922 

Veterans Memorial Parkway (Tax Parcel MS24000012 000). 

 

Budget Impact: None 

 

Council Person and District: Jones (District 2) 

 

Attachments: Developmental Services Report V-18-09-13 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.statesboroga.gov/


 

Development Services Report 

Case: 18-09-13 

City of Statesboro-Department of Planning and Development 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
P.O. Box 348    (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia 30458  (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

 V 18-09-13  

VARIANCE REQUEST 

6922 VETERANS MEMORIAL PARKWAY 

LOCATION: 6922 Veterans Memorial Parkway (1067 South Main 

Street) 

 

REQUEST: Sign variance request.  

APPLICANT: Bobby Wilcox (Wilcox Sign Company) 

OWNER(S): J C Lewis Investment Co LLC 

ACRES: 13.51 

PARCEL TAX  

MAP #: 
MS42000012 000 

COUNCIL        

DISTRICT:            
District 2 (Jones) 

PROPOSAL: 

The applicant requests a variance to Appendix A; Section 1509, Table 5 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance. 
Specifically, the applicant is seeking 330.746 square feet of wall signage total. As per Table 5, only 200 square 
feet would be allowed without variance.   

BACKGROUND:   

The currently developing JC Lewis Ford Dealership is located at 6922 Veterans Memorial Parkway. The 
location was previously undeveloped. On November 15, 2016, City Council approved rezoning property from 
CR (Commercial Retail) to HOC (Highway Oriented Commercial). The addressing of the property was 1067 
South Main Street on 7 November 2017. Upon consideration this address was changed. 
 

 

SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING:  

 ZONING: LAND USE: 

NORTH: R4 (High Density Residential 
District), R10 (Single Family 
Residential), & Heavy Industrial-
Bulloch County) 

Apartment houses and Single Family Residences 

SOUTH: CR (Commercial Retail) & HC 
(Highway Commercial-Bulloch 
County) 

Food Service facilities, retail facilities and automobile sales 

EAST: CR (Commercial Retail) & R4 
(High Density Residential) 

Service Station 

WEST HI (Heavy Industrial-Bulloch 
County) & HC (Highway 
Commercial-Bulloch County) 

Warehouses 



Development Services Report 

Case: V 18-09-13 

The subject property is located within the HOC (Highway Oriented Commercial) district. Surrounding parcels 
include several service stations, retail establishments and multifamily developments (See Exhibit A –
Location Map, Exhibit B—Future Development Map & Exhibit C—Photos of Subject Site). 

ATTACHMENTS: Exhibit A (Location Map), Exhibit B (Future Development Map), Exhibit C (Photos of 
Subject Site), Exhibit D (Plans for Proposed Signage), Exhibit E (Table 5 – Statesboro Zoning Ordinance) 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: 

The City of Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan’s Future Development Map includes the subject site in 

the following character area: 

“Gateway – City Limits” 

Vision: 

Gateways into the Urban Core should make it clear to residents and visitors that they 

are entering into the heart of the City and the central business district. Changes in the 

street design, streetscape elements, building types, and paving materials can all serve 

as gateway elements. 

Suggested 

Development & 

Implementation 

Strategies:  

 

 

 Promote street designs that denote entrance to a city and foster traffic 

calming, such as narrower travel lanes, on-street parking, and prominent 

bicycle and pedestrian facilities.  

 Locate parking beside or behind buildings. 

 Install streetscape improvements and hardscape elements which reflect the 

character of Statesboro through special treatment of sidewalks (such as 

pavers, scored concrete, etc.), pedestrian-scaled lighting, street trees, 

hardscape, seasonal plantings, etc. 

Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan, Community Agenda page 32. 

 

In addition, the Future Development Map and Defining Narrative section of the Comprehensive Plan states 
the following:  

“Commercial encroachment into residential neighborhoods seems to be less of a current concern, but 
as Statesboro continues to grow, the potential for this conflict increases. Commercial, retail, and office 
uses can co-exist compatibly in residential areas if the design of the establishment is properly 
considered.” 

Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan, Community Agenda page 9. 

 

 

ANALYSIS 

I. Variance from Article XV Section 1509(C) Table 5: Sign District 3 Dimension standards 
to allow for installation of building signs in excess of the square footage allowance.  

 

The applicant is requesting a variance from Article XV (Signs) regarding the maximum allowed square 
footage for building signs. Article XV (Signs) Section 1509 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance regulates 
the dimensional standards for all building signs within the City of Statesboro. The subject site is located in 
the HOC (Highway Oriented Commercial) zoning district and is regulated by the dimensional standards of 
Sign District 3.  



Development Services Report 

Case: V 18-09-13 

The ordinance states that the maximum square footage for building signs shall be 100 square feet for a 
building with a wall length greater than 100 feet. Because this location fronts on both Veterans Memorial, 
and South Main street, the location would be granted the permitted sign area for each street frontage, 
totaling at 200 square feet. Total wall signage requested would total 330.75 Square Feet (See Exhibit D).  

 

  

Section 1503(G) states that no variances shall be permitted from the terms of Article XV regarding signs in 
the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance. It continues to state that “Specifically, no variances under article XVIII of 
this ordinance [chapter] shall be applicable to the standards contained within this article.” However, Article 
XV regarding signs is part of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance, which provides for the award of variances 
by the City Council from the zoning regulations stating that “approval of a variance must be in the public 
interest, the spirit of the ordinance must be observed, public safety and welfare secured, and substantial 
justice done” and Section 1801 states that the Mayor and Council [should] consider if the following 
are true in its consideration of a variance request: 

 

1. There are special conditions pertaining to the land or structure in question because of its 
size, shape, topography, or other physical characteristic and that condition is not common 
to other land or buildings in the general vicinity or in the same zoning district; 

2. The special conditions and circumstances do not result from the actions of the applicant; 
3. The application of the ordinance to this particular piece of property would create an 

unnecessary hardship; and 
4. Relief, if granted, would not cause substantial detriment to the public good or impair the 

purposes and intent of the zoning regulations. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends approval of variance V18-09-13.  
 
At the regularly scheduled Planning Commission meeting on 2 Oct. 2018, Planning Commission 
recommended approval with a 6-0 vote. 

  



Development Services Report 

Case: V 18-09-13 

EXHIBIT A:  LOCATION MAP 
 

  



Development Services Report 

Case: V 18-09-13 

EXHIBIT B: FUTURE DEVELOPMENT MAP 

 

 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case: V 18-09-13 

EXHIBIT C: SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTY PHOTOS 

Picture 1: Frontal View of subject site from South Main/ Veterans Memorial Intersection 

 

Picture 2: Secondary view of property from Veterans Memorial/South Main intersection. Proposed stanchion location 

  

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case: V 18-09-13 

Picture 3: Adjacent business from site. 

 

 
Picture 4: Frontal view of primary building. 

 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case: V 18-09-13 

Picture 5: Frontal View of Secondary building 

 

Picture 6: Adjacent Residential Property 

 

  



Development Services Report 

Case: V 18-09-13 

Exhibit D: Proposed Signage Sketches 

Sketch 1: Primary Dealership Signage 

 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case: V 18-09-13 

Sketch 2: Secondary Building Signage 

 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case: V 18-09-13 

Exhibit E: Table 5: Statesboro Zoning Ordinance 

 



CITY OF STATESBORO 
 

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum, District 1 

Sam Jones, District 2 

Jeff Yawn, District 3 

John Riggs, District 4 

Derek Duke, District 5 

 
 

 

Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 

Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

Sue Starling, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 • STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence    Certified City of Ethics  

Telephone: (912) 764-5468      Fax: (912) 764-4691                                                                   

www.statesboroga.gov  

To: Randy Wetmore, City Manager and Sue Starling, City Clerk 

 

From: Justin Williams, City Planner I 

 

Date: October 8, 2018 

 

RE: October 16, 2018 City Council Agenda Items 

 

Policy Issue: Statesboro Zoning Ordinance: Sign Variance Request 

 

Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the variance request as 

described.   

 

Background: Bobby Wilcox (Wilcox Sign Company) requests a variance from 

Article XV, Section 1509 to exceed the wall sign limit per elevation to place four 

(4) wall signs on one elevation at 6922 Veterans Memorial Parkway (Tax Parcel 

MS24000012 000). 

 

Budget Impact: None 

 

Council Person and District: Jones (District 2) 

 

Attachments: Developmental Services Report V-18-09-14 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.statesboroga.gov/


 

Development Services Report 

Case: V 18-09-14 

City of Statesboro-Department of Planning and Development 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
P.O. Box 348    (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia 30458  (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

 V 18-09-14  

VARIANCE REQUEST 

6922 VETERANS MEMORIAL PARKWAY 

LOCATION: 6922 Veterans Memorial Parkway (1067 South Main 

Street) 

 

REQUEST: Sign variance request.  

APPLICANT: Bobby Wilcox (Wilcox Sign Company) 

OWNER(S): J C Lewis Investment Co LLC 

ACRES: 13.51 

PARCEL TAX  

MAP #: 
MS42000012 000 

COUNCIL        

DISTRICT:            
District 2 (Jones) 

PROPOSAL: 

The applicant requests a variance to Appendix A; Section 1509, Table 5 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance. 
Specifically, the applicant is seeking to place four (4) signs on one elevation. As per Table 5, locations are 
allowed 1 sign per elevation.  

BACKGROUND:   

The currently developing JC Lewis Ford Dealership is located at 6922 Veterans Memorial Parkway. The 
location was previously undeveloped. On November 15, 2016, City Council approved rezoning property from 
CR (Commercial Retail) to HOC (Highway Oriented Commercial). The addressing of the property was 1067 
South Main Street on 7 November 2017. Upon consideration this address was changed. 
 

 

SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING:  

 ZONING: LAND USE: 

NORTH: R4 (High Density Residential 
District), R10 (Single Family 
Residential), & Heavy Industrial-
Bulloch County) 

Apartment houses and Single Family Residences 

SOUTH: CR (Commercial Retail) & HC 
(Highway Commercial-Bulloch 
County) 

Food Service facilities, retail facilities and automobile sales 

EAST: CR (Commercial Retail) & R4 
(High Density Residential) 

Service Station 

WEST HI (Heavy Industrial-Bulloch 
County) & HC (Highway 
Commercial-Bulloch County) 

Warehouses 



Development Services Report 

Case: V-18-09-14 

The subject property is located within the HOC (Highway Oriented Commercial) district. Surrounding parcels 
include several service stations, retail establishments and multifamily developments (See Exhibit A –
Location Map, Exhibit B—Future Development Map & Exhibit C—Photos of Subject Site). 

ATTACHMENTS: Exhibit A (Location Map), Exhibit B (Future Development Map), Exhibit C (Photos of 
Subject Site), Exhibit D (Plans for Proposed Signage), Exhibit E (Table 5 – Statesboro Zoning Ordinance) 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: 

The City of Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan’s Future Development Map includes the subject site in 

the following character area: 

“Gateway – City Limits” 

Vision: 

Gateways into the Urban Core should make it clear to residents and visitors that they 

are entering into the heart of the City and the central business district. Changes in the 

street design, streetscape elements, building types, and paving materials can all serve 

as gateway elements. 

Suggested 

Development & 

Implementation 

Strategies:  

 

 

 Promote street designs that denote entrance to a city and foster traffic 

calming, such as narrower travel lanes, on-street parking, and prominent 

bicycle and pedestrian facilities.  

 Locate parking beside or behind buildings. 

 Install streetscape improvements and hardscape elements which reflect the 

character of Statesboro through special treatment of sidewalks (such as 

pavers, scored concrete, etc.), pedestrian-scaled lighting, street trees, 

hardscape, seasonal plantings, etc. 

Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan, Community Agenda page 32. 

 

In addition, the Future Development Map and Defining Narrative section of the Comprehensive Plan states 
the following:  

“Commercial encroachment into residential neighborhoods seems to be less of a current concern, but 
as Statesboro continues to grow, the potential for this conflict increases. Commercial, retail, and office 
uses can co-exist compatibly in residential areas if the design of the establishment is properly 
considered.” 

Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan, Community Agenda page 9. 

 

 

ANALYSIS 

I. Variance from Article XV Section 1509(C) Table 5: Sign District 3 Dimension standards 
to allow for installation of building signs in excess of the number allowed per elevation. 

The applicant is requesting a variance from Article XV (Signs) regarding the maximum allowed number of 
signs per elevation. Article XV (Signs) Section 1509 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance regulates the 
dimensional standards for all building signs within the City of Statesboro. The subject site is located in the 
HOC (Highway Oriented Commercial) zoning district and is regulated by the dimensional standards of 
Sign District 3.  

 



Development Services Report 

Case: V-18-09-14 

The ordinance states that the number of signs allowed is “one per elevation.” The Ford building has a 
proposal of 4 signs on the front elevation facing Veterans Memorial Parkway (See Exhibit D). 

 
 
Section 1503(G) states that no variances shall be permitted from the terms of Article XV regarding signs in 
the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance. It continues to state that “Specifically, no variances under article XVIII of 
this ordinance [chapter] shall be applicable to the standards contained within this article.” However, Article 
XV regarding signs is part of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance, which provides for the award of variances 
by the City Council from the zoning regulations stating that “approval of a variance must be in the public 
interest, the spirit of the ordinance must be observed, public safety and welfare secured, and substantial 
justice done” and Section 1801 states that the Mayor and Council [should] consider if the following 
are true in its consideration of a variance request: 

 

1. There are special conditions pertaining to the land or structure in question because of its 
size, shape, topography, or other physical characteristic and that condition is not common 
to other land or buildings in the general vicinity or in the same zoning district; 

2. The special conditions and circumstances do not result from the actions of the applicant; 
3. The application of the ordinance to this particular piece of property would create an 

unnecessary hardship; and 
4. Relief, if granted, would not cause substantial detriment to the public good or impair the 

purposes and intent of the zoning regulations. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends approval of variance V18-09-14. 
 
At the regularly scheduled Planning Commission meeting on 2 Oct. 2018, Planning Commission 
recommended approval with a 6-0 vote. 

  



Development Services Report 

Case: V-18-09-14 

EXHIBIT A:  LOCATION MAP 
 

  



Development Services Report 

Case: V-18-09-14 

EXHIBIT B: FUTURE DEVELOPMENT MAP 

 

 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case: V-18-09-14 

EXHIBIT C: SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTY PHOTOS 

Picture 1: Frontal View of subject site from South Main/ Veterans Memorial Intersection 

 

Picture 2: Secondary view of property from Veterans Memorial/South Main intersection. Proposed stanchion location 

  

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case: V-18-09-14 

Picture 3: Adjacent business from site. 

 

 
Picture 4: Frontal view of primary building. 

 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case: V-18-09-14 

Picture 5: Frontal View of Secondary building 

 

Picture 6: Adjacent Residential Property 

 

  



Development Services Report 

Case: V-18-09-14 

Exhibit D: Proposed Signage Sketches 

Sketch 1: Primary Dealership Signage 

 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case: V-18-09-14 

Exhibit E: Table 5: Statesboro Zoning Ordinance 

 



CITY OF STATESBORO 
 

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum, District 1 

Sam Jones, District 2 

Jeff Yawn, District 3 

John Riggs, District 4 

Derek Duke, District 5 

 
 

 

Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 

Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

Sue Starling, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 • STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence    Certified City of Ethics  

Telephone: (912) 764-5468      Fax: (912) 764-4691                                                                   

www.statesboroga.gov  

To: Randy Wetmore, City Manager and Sue Starling, City Clerk 

 

From: Justin Williams, City Planner I 

 

Date: October 8, 2018 

 

RE: October 16, 2018 City Council Agenda Items 

 

Policy Issue: Statesboro Zoning Ordinance: Sign Variance Request 

 

Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the variance request as 

described.   

 

Background: Bobby Wilcox (Wilcox Sign Company) requests a variance from 

Article XV, Section 1509 to exceed the aggregate square footage allowance of 

300 square feet in order to place signage totaling 570.253 square feet at 6922 

Veterans Memorial Parkway (Tax Parcel MS24000012 000). 

 

Budget Impact: None 

 

Council Person and District: Jones (District 2) 

 

Attachments: Developmental Services Report V-18-09-15 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

http://www.statesboroga.gov/


 

Development Services Report 

Case: V 18-09-15 

City of Statesboro-Department of Planning and Development 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
P.O. Box 348    (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia 30458  (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

 V 18-09-15  

VARIANCE REQUEST 

6922 VETERANS MEMORIAL PARKWAY 

LOCATION: 6922 Veterans Memorial Parkway (1067 South Main 

Street) 

 

REQUEST: Sign variance request.  

APPLICANT: Bobby Wilcox (Wilcox Sign Company) 

OWNER(S): J C Lewis Investment Co LLC 

ACRES: 13.51 

PARCEL TAX  

MAP #: 
MS42000012 000 

COUNCIL        

DISTRICT:            
District 2 (Jones) 

PROPOSAL: 

The applicant requests a variance to Appendix A; Section 1509, Table 5 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance. 
Specifically, the applicant is seeking to place freestanding and wall signage at a total 570.253 square feet, 
exceeding the aggregate square footage allowed by 270.253 square feet 

BACKGROUND:   

The currently developing JC Lewis Ford Dealership is located at 6922 Veterans Memorial Parkway. The 
location was previously undeveloped. On November 15, 2016, City Council approved rezoning property from 
CR (Commercial Retail) to HOC (Highway Oriented Commercial). The addressing of the property was 1067 
South Main Street on 7 November 2017. Upon consideration this address was changed. 
 

 

SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING:  

 ZONING: LAND USE: 

NORTH: R4 (High Density Residential 
District), R10 (Single Family 
Residential), & Heavy Industrial-
Bulloch County) 

Apartment houses and Single Family Residences 

SOUTH: CR (Commercial Retail) & HC 
(Highway Commercial-Bulloch 
County) 

Food Service facilities, retail facilities and automobile sales 

EAST: CR (Commercial Retail) & R4 
(High Density Residential) 

Service Station 

WEST HI (Heavy Industrial-Bulloch 
County) & HC (Highway 
Commercial-Bulloch County) 

Warehouses 



Development Services Report 

Case: V-18-09-15 

The subject property is located within the HOC (Highway Oriented Commercial) district. Surrounding parcels 
include several service stations, retail establishments and multifamily developments (See Exhibit A –
Location Map, Exhibit B—Future Development Map & Exhibit C—Photos of Subject Site). 

ATTACHMENTS: Exhibit A (Location Map), Exhibit B (Future Development Map), Exhibit C (Photos of 
Subject Site), Exhibit D (Plans for Proposed Signage), Exhibit E (Table 5 – Statesboro Zoning Ordinance) 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: 

The City of Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan’s Future Development Map includes the subject site in 

the following character area: 

“Gateway – City Limits” 

Vision: 

Gateways into the Urban Core should make it clear to residents and visitors that they 

are entering into the heart of the City and the central business district. Changes in the 

street design, streetscape elements, building types, and paving materials can all serve 

as gateway elements. 

Suggested 

Development & 

Implementation 

Strategies:  

 

 

 Promote street designs that denote entrance to a city and foster traffic 

calming, such as narrower travel lanes, on-street parking, and prominent 

bicycle and pedestrian facilities.  

 Locate parking beside or behind buildings. 

 Install streetscape improvements and hardscape elements which reflect the 

character of Statesboro through special treatment of sidewalks (such as 

pavers, scored concrete, etc.), pedestrian-scaled lighting, street trees, 

hardscape, seasonal plantings, etc. 

Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan, Community Agenda page 32. 

 

In addition, the Future Development Map and Defining Narrative section of the Comprehensive Plan states 
the following:  

“Commercial encroachment into residential neighborhoods seems to be less of a current concern, but 
as Statesboro continues to grow, the potential for this conflict increases. Commercial, retail, and office 
uses can co-exist compatibly in residential areas if the design of the establishment is properly 
considered.” 

Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan, Community Agenda page 9. 

ANALYSIS 

I. Variance from Article XV Section 1509(C) Table 5: Sign District 3 Dimension standards 
to allow for installation of signage exceeding the aggregate square footage of all 
signage. 

The applicant is requesting a variance from Article XV (Signs) regarding the maximum square footage of 
freestanding signs. Article XV (Signs) Section 1509 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance regulates the 
dimensional standards for all building signs within the City of Statesboro. The subject site is located in the 
HOC (Highway Oriented Commercial) zoning district and is regulated by the dimensional standards of 
Sign District 3. 

The allowed aggregate square footage of all signage for Sign District 3 is 150. Based on the double 
frontage, the allowance is 300 square feet. Signage request exceeds the allowed aggregate by 270.253 
square feet.  



Development Services Report 

Case: V-18-09-15 

Section 1503(G) states that no variances shall be permitted from the terms of Article XV regarding signs in 
the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance. It continues to state that “Specifically, no variances under article XVIII of 
this ordinance [chapter] shall be applicable to the standards contained within this article.” However, Article 
XV regarding signs is part of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance, which provides for the award of variances 
by the City Council from the zoning regulations stating that “approval of a variance must be in the public 
interest, the spirit of the ordinance must be observed, public safety and welfare secured, and substantial 
justice done” and Section 1801 states that the Mayor and Council [should] consider if the following 
are true in its consideration of a variance request: 

 

1. There are special conditions pertaining to the land or structure in question because of its 
size, shape, topography, or other physical characteristic and that condition is not common 
to other land or buildings in the general vicinity or in the same zoning district; 

2. The special conditions and circumstances do not result from the actions of the applicant; 
3. The application of the ordinance to this particular piece of property would create an 

unnecessary hardship; and 
4. Relief, if granted, would not cause substantial detriment to the public good or impair the 

purposes and intent of the zoning regulations. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends approval of variance V18-09-15.  
 
At the regularly scheduled Planning Commission meeting on 2 Oct. 2018, Planning Commission 
recommended approval with a 6-0 vote. 

  



Development Services Report 

Case: V-18-09-15 

EXHIBIT A:  LOCATION MAP 
 

  



Development Services Report 

Case: V-18-09-15 

EXHIBIT B: FUTURE DEVELOPMENT MAP 

 

 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case: V-18-09-15 

EXHIBIT C: SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTY PHOTOS 

Picture 1: Frontal View of subject site from South Main/ Veterans Memorial Intersection 

 

Picture 2: Secondary view of property from Veterans Memorial/South Main intersection. Proposed stanchion location 

  

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case: V-18-09-15 

Picture 3: Adjacent business from site. 

 

 
Picture 4: Frontal view of primary building. 

 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case: V-18-09-15 

Picture 5: Frontal View of Secondary building 

 

Picture 6: Adjacent Residential Property 

 

  



Development Services Report 

Case: V-18-09-15 

Exhibit D: Proposed Signage Sketches 

Sketch 1: Primary Dealership Signage 

 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case: V-18-09-15 

Sketch 2: Secondary Building Signage 

 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case: V-18-09-15 

Sketch 3:  Proposed Stanchion Sign (Pre-Existing) 

 

  



Development Services Report 

Case: V-18-09-15 

Sketch 4: Proposed Monument Sign (Pre-existing) 

 

  



Development Services Report 

Case: V-18-09-15 

Exhibit E: Table 5: Statesboro Zoning Ordinance 

 



CITY OF STATESBORO 
 

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum, District 1 

Sam Jones, District 2 

Jeff Yawn, District 3 

John Riggs, District 4 

Derek Duke, District 5 

 
 

 

Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 

Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

Sue Starling, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 • STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence    Certified City of Ethics  

Telephone: (912) 764-5468      Fax: (912) 764-4691                                                                   

www.statesboroga.gov  

To: Randy Wetmore, City Manager and Sue Starling, City Clerk 

 

From: Owen Dundee, City Planner II 

 

Date: October 8, 2018 

 

RE: October 16, 2018 City Council Agenda Items 

 

Policy Issue: Statesboro Zoning Ordinance: Conditional Use Variance Request 

 

Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the conditional use variance 

requested by application CUV 18-09-16 with conditions. 

 

Background: Journey to Sober Living, LLC request a conditional use variance 

from Article V of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance for 0.55 acres of property 

located at 24 Carmel Drive to utilize the property as a community living 

arrangement facility (Tax Parcel S59 000083 000).  

 

Budget Impact: None 

 

Council Person and District: Boyum (District 1) 

 

Attachments: Development Services Report CUV-18-09-16 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.statesboroga.gov/


 
 

City of Statesboro-Department of Planning and Development 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
P.O. Box 348    (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia 30458  (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

 

CUV 18-09-16 

CONDITIONAL USE VARIANCE REQUEST 

24 Carmel Drive 

LOCATION: 24 Carmel Drive  

REQUEST: 

Request for a conditional use variance 

from Article V of the Statesboro Zoning 

Ordinance for 0.55 acres of property 

located at 24 Carmel Drive to utilize the 

property as a long term residential 

addiction recovery community facility (Tax 

Parcel # S59 000083 000). 

APPLICANT: Journey to Sober Living, LLC 

OWNER(S): Courtney LLC 

ACRES: 0.55 acres 

PARCEL TAX  

MAP #: 
S59 000083 000 

COUNCIL        

DISTRICT:            
1 (Boyum) 

   

 

PROPOSAL: 

The applicant is requesting a conditional use variance to utilize 24 Carmel Drive (Tax Parcel S59 000083 000) as a long 
term residential addiction recovery community facility of six (6) adults (See Exhibit A – Location Map). The subject site 
is currently zoned R-15 (Single Family Residential) and the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance does not address or define 
group homes, personal care homes or recovery residences or designate an appropriate zoning district for such uses. In 
addition, Article II of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance states that a family in the R-15 zoning district may not consist of 
more than three (3) unrelated persons.  

SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING: 

 ZONING: LAND USE: 

NORTH: R-15 (Single Family Residential) Single-family detached dwelling units 

SOUTH: R-15 (Single Family Residential) Single-family detached dwelling units  

EAST: R-3 (Medium Density Multiple Family 
Residential) 

Statesboro High School 

WEST R-15 (Single Family Residential) Single-family detached dwelling units  

 

Properties to the north, south and west are single family residential land uses. The property to the east is Statesboro 
High School (See Exhibit B—Photos of Subject Site and Surrounding Properties). 

 

 

 

 



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 2 of 9 

 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 

April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # CUV 18-09-16 

September 20, 2018 

 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: 

The subject site lies within the “Activity Centers/Regional Centers” character area and lies adjacent to the 
“Established/Existing Traditional Neighborhood” as identified by the City of Statesboro 2014 Future Development Map 
(See Exhibit C—2014 Future Development Map) within the City of Statesboro Updated 2014 Comprehensive Plan.   

Vision:  

“Currently dominated by auto-oriented design and large surface parking lots, the Activity Centers will evolve into 
pedestrian-oriented shopping, office, and entertainment places that may also accommodate high-density residential 
development. Where excess parking is located, infill development can break up large surface lots. Tree plantings and 
landscaping will be generous to soften the development intensity in these areas. Access to these activity centers will be 
easily achieved for pedestrians, cyclists, and drivers alike.” 
 

Appropriate land uses include:  

 Small, mid-size, and regional retail and commercial, including big box stores. 

 Redeveloped shopping center should be encouraged to include diverse uses and pedestrian-scaled elements. 

 Diverse mix of higher density housing types, such as multi-family, town houses, apartments, lofts, and condos. 

 Entertainment, Services, Employment Centers, Office, Medical, and Multi-Family. 
 

Suggested Development & Implementation Strategies 

 New residential development that reflects traditional neighborhood design principles, such as smaller lots, 
orientation to street, mix of housing types, pedestrian access to neighborhood commercial centers. 

 New developments that contain a mix of residential, commercial uses and community facilities at small enough 
scale and proximity to encourage walking between destinations. 

 Statesboro Updated 2014 Comprehensive Plan, Community Agenda page 25-26. 

COMMUNITY FACILITIES AND TRANSPORTATION: 

The subject property is currently serviced by city utilities, sanitation, and public safety.  No significant impact is expected 
on community facilities or services as a result of this request.  

ENVIRONMENTAL: 

The subject property does not contain wetlands and is not located in a special flood hazard area. There is no expected 
environmental impact associated with this request. Any potential issues will be brought forth and discussed during 
standard permitting and review procedures. 

ANALYSIS: 

Section 2007 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance provides eight (8) standards for the Mayor and City Council 
to consider “in making its determination” regarding a zoning map amendment and “balancing the 
promotions of the public health, safety, morality (morals), and general welfare against the right of 
unrestricted use of property.” Those standards are numbered below 1-8.  Staff findings regarding some of 
the factors are given for Council’s consideration of the application: 

1.) Existing uses and zoning or [of] property nearby.  

2.) The extent to which property values are diminished by the particular zoning restrictions.  

3.) The extent to which the description of property values of the property owner promotes the health, 
safety, morals or general welfare of the public.  

a. The variance is needed in order to provide rehabilitative services to an adult population.  

4.) The relative gain to the public, as compared to the hardship imposed upon the property owner.  

5.) The suitability of the subject property for the zoned purposes.  

a. The subject site is suitable for the proposed use and could still be used as a single-family residence 
should this use, if granted, cease.  

6.) The length of time the property has been vacant as zoned, considered in the context of land 
development in the area in the vicinity of the property.  

7.) The extent the proposed change would impact the following: 

a. Population density in the area.  



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 3 of 9 

 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 

April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # CUV 18-09-16 

September 20, 2018 

 

i. The request would add six (6) additional persons to the area.  

b. Community facilities. 

c. Living conditions in the area.  

d. Traffic patterns and congestion.  

e. Environmental aspects.  

f. Existing and future land use patterns.  

g. Property values in adjacent areas.  

8.) Consistency with other governmental land use, transportation and development plans for the 
community. 

In addition to the standards for determination outlined in Section 2007, the Mayor and Council will consider 
the following factors established by Article XXIV Section 2406 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance:  

1.) Adequate provision is made by the applicant to reduce any adverse environmental impact of the 
proposed use to an acceptable level.  

2.) Vehicular traffic and pedestrian movement on adjacent streets will not be substantially hindered or 
endangered. 

3.) Off-street parking and loading, and the entrances to and exits from such parking and loading, will be 
adequate in terms of location, amount, and design to serve the use.  

4.) Public facilities and utilities are capable of adequately serving the proposed use.  

5.) The proposed use will not have a significant adverse effect on the level of property values or the general 
character of the area.  

6.) Unless otherwise noted, the site plan submitted in support of an approved conditional use shall be 
considered part of the approval and must be followed.  

7.) Approval of a proposed use by the mayor and council does not constitute and [an] approval for future 
expansion of or additions or changes to the initially approved operation. Any future phases or changes 
that are considered significant by the planning commission and not included in the original approval are 
subject to the provisions of this section and the review of new detailed plans and reports for said 
alterations by the governing authority. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:    

Staff recommends approval of the use requested by application CUV 18-09-16 with conditions. 

At the regularly scheduled meeting, held Tuesday, October 2, 2018 at 5:00 PM, the Planning Commission voted 6-0 to 
approve application CUV 18-09-16 with staff recommendations and the following conditions: 

(a) Applicant will be required to coordinate with the City of Statesboro Fire Department to ensure life safety 
standards meet current code requirements. 

(b) The applicant must not exceed reasonable standards for parking and avoid excessive parking at the location. 

(c) The applicant may not install signage at the location. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 4 of 9 

 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 

April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # CUV 18-09-16 

September 20, 2018 

 

EXHIBIT A: LOCATION MAP 

 



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 5 of 9 

 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 

April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # CUV 18-09-16 

September 20, 2018 

 

EXHIBIT B: PHOTOS OF SUBJECT SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTIES 

Picture 1: Picture of the subject property, 24 Carmel Drive, currently a single family residence being operated as a 
long term residential addiction treatment community residence.  

 

Picture 2: View of surrounding properties, currently a single family residence located to the south of the subject 
site. 

 



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 6 of 9 

 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 

April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # CUV 18-09-16 

September 20, 2018 

 

EXHIBIT B: PHOTOS OF SUBJECT SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 

Picture 3: View of the adjacent property to the southeast of the subject site, currently a single family residence. 

 

Picture 4: View of the adjacent property to the southwest of the subject site, currently a single family residence. 

 



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 7 of 9 

 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 

April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # CUV 18-09-16 

September 20, 2018 

 

EXHIBIT B: PHOTOS OF SUBJECT SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 

Picture 5: View of surrounding properties, currently a single family residence being operated as a long term 
residential addiction treatment community residence and being considered under CUV 18-09-17 (17 Carmel Drive). 

 

Picture 6: View of surrounding properties, looking north along Carmel Drive.  

  



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 8 of 9 

 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 

April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # CUV 18-09-16 

September 20, 2018 

 

EXHIBIT B: PHOTOS OF SUBJECT SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 

Picture 7: View of surrounding properties, looking south along Carmel Drive. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 9 of 9 

 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 

April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # CUV 18-09-16 

September 20, 2018 

 

EXHIBIT C: 2014 FUTURE DEVELOPMENT MAP 

 



CITY OF STATESBORO 
 

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum, District 1 

Sam Jones, District 2 

Jeff Yawn, District 3 

John Riggs, District 4 

Derek Duke, District 5 

 
 

 

Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 

Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

Sue Starling, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 • STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence    Certified City of Ethics  

Telephone: (912) 764-5468      Fax: (912) 764-4691                                                                   

www.statesboroga.gov  

To: Randy Wetmore, City Manager and Sue Starling, City Clerk 

 

From: Owen Dundee, City Planner II 

 

Date: October 8, 2018 

 

RE: October 16, 2018 City Council Agenda Items 

 

Policy Issue: Statesboro Zoning Ordinance: Conditional Use Variance Request 

 

Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the conditional use variance 

requested by application CUV 18-09-17 with conditions. 

 

Background: Journey to Sober Living, LLC request a conditional use variance 

from Article V of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance for 0.48 acres of property 

located at 17 Carmel Drive to utilize the property as a community living 

arrangement facility (Tax Parcel S59 000090 000).  

 

Budget Impact: None 

 

Council Person and District: Boyum (District 1) 

 

Attachments: Development Services Report CUV-18-09-17 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

http://www.statesboroga.gov/


 
 

City of Statesboro-Department of Planning and Development 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
P.O. Box 348    (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia 30458  (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

 

CUV 18-09-17 

CONDITIONAL USE VARIANCE REQUEST 

17 Carmel Drive 

LOCATION: 17 Carmel Drive  

REQUEST: 

Request for a conditional use 

variance from Article V of the 

Statesboro Zoning Ordinance for 

0.48 acres of property located at 

17 Carmel Drive to utilize the 

property as a long term residential 

addiction recovery community 

facility (Tax Parcel # S59 000090 

000). 

APPLICANT: Journey to Sober Living, LLC 

OWNER(S): James Hendry (Seabean LLC) 

ACRES: 0.48 acres 

PARCEL TAX  

MAP #: 
S59 000090 000 

COUNCIL        

DISTRICT:            
1 (Boyum) 

   

 

PROPOSAL: 

The applicant is requesting a conditional use variance to utilize 17 Carmel Drive (Tax Parcel S59 000090 000) as a long 
term residential addiction recovery community facility of ten (10) adults (See Exhibit A – Location Map). The subject site 
is currently zoned R-15 (Single Family Residential) and the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance does not address or define 

group homes, personal care homes or recovery residences or designate an appropriate zoning district for such uses. In 
addition, Article II of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance states that a family in the R-15 zoning district may not consist of 
more than three (3) unrelated persons.  

SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING: 

 ZONING: LAND USE: 

NORTH: R-15 (Single Family Residential) Single-family detached dwelling units 

SOUTH: CR (Commercial Retail)  Enterprise Rent-A-Car, Statesboro Golf Carts, and 
Horace Mann Insurance Agency 

EAST: R-15 (Single Family Residential) Single-family detached dwelling units 

WEST R-15 (Single Family Residential) Single-family detached dwelling units  

 

Properties to the north, east, and west are single family residential land uses. The properties to the south are 
commercial retail uses including Enterprise Rent-A-Car, Statesboro Golf Carts, and Horace Mann Insurance Agency 
(See Exhibit B—Photos of Subject Site and Surrounding Properties). 

 

 



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 2 of 9 

 
Case # RZ 15-03-04 

April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # CUV 18-09-17 
September 21, 2018 

 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: 

The subject site lies within the “Activity Centers/Regional Centers” character area and lies adjacent to the 
“Established/Existing Traditional Neighborhood” as identified by the City of Statesboro 2014 Future Development Map 
(See Exhibit C—2014 Future Development Map) within the City of Statesboro Updated 2014 Comprehensive Plan.   

Vision:  

“Currently dominated by auto-oriented design and large surface parking lots, the Activity Centers will evolve into 
pedestrian-oriented shopping, office, and entertainment places that may also accommodate high-density residential 
development. Where excess parking is located, infill development can break up large surface lots. Tree plantings and 
landscaping will be generous to soften the development intensity in these areas. Access to these activity centers will be 
easily achieved for pedestrians, cyclists, and drivers alike.” 
 

Appropriate land uses include:  

 Small, mid-size, and regional retail and commercial, including big box stores. 

 Redeveloped shopping center should be encouraged to include diverse uses and pedestrian-scaled elements. 

 Diverse mix of higher density housing types, such as multi-family, town houses, apartments, lofts, and condos. 

 Entertainment, Services, Employment Centers, Office, Medical, and Multi-Family. 
 

Suggested Development & Implementation Strategies 

 New residential development that reflects traditional neighborhood design principles, such as smaller lots, 
orientation to street, mix of housing types, pedestrian access to neighborhood commercial centers. 

 New developments that contain a mix of residential, commercial uses and community facilities at small enough 
scale and proximity to encourage walking between destinations. 

 Statesboro Updated 2014 Comprehensive Plan, Community Agenda page 25-26. 

COMMUNITY FACILITIES AND TRANSPORTATION: 

The subject property is currently serviced by city utilities, sanitation, and public safety.  No significant impact is expected 
on community facilities or services as a result of this request.  

ENVIRONMENTAL: 

The subject property does not contain wetlands and is not located in a special flood hazard area. There is no expected 
environmental impact associated with this request. Any potential issues will be brought forth and discussed during 
standard permitting and review procedures. 

ANALYSIS: 

Section 2007 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance provides eight (8) standards for the Mayor and City Council 
to consider “in making its determination” regarding a zoning map amendment and “balancing the 
promotions of the public health, safety, morality (morals), and general welfare against the right of 
unrestricted use of property.” Those standards are numbered below 1-8.  Staff findings regarding some of 
the factors are given for Council’s consideration of the application: 

1.) Existing uses and zoning or [of] property nearby.  

2.) The extent to which property values are diminished by the particular zoning restrictions.  

3.) The extent to which the description of property values of the property owner promotes the health, 
safety, morals or general welfare of the public.  

a. The variance is needed in order to provide rehabilitative services to an adult population.  

4.) The relative gain to the public, as compared to the hardship imposed upon the property owner.  

5.) The suitability of the subject property for the zoned purposes.  

a. The subject site is suitable for the proposed use and could still be used as a single-family residence 
should this use, if granted, cease.  

6.) The length of time the property has been vacant as zoned, considered in the context of land 
development in the area in the vicinity of the property.  

7.) The extent the proposed change would impact the following: 

a. Population density in the area.  



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 3 of 9 

 
Case # RZ 15-03-04 

April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # CUV 18-09-17 
September 21, 2018 

 

i. The request would add ten (10) additional persons to the area.  

b. Community facilities. 

c. Living conditions in the area.  

d. Traffic patterns and congestion.  

e. Environmental aspects.  

f. Existing and future land use patterns.  

g. Property values in adjacent areas.  

8.) Consistency with other governmental land use, transportation and development plans for the 
community. 

In addition to the standards for determination outlined in Section 2007, the Mayor and Council will consider 
the following factors established by Article XXIV Section 2406 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance:  

1.) Adequate provision is made by the applicant to reduce any adverse environmental impact of the 
proposed use to an acceptable level.  

2.) Vehicular traffic and pedestrian movement on adjacent streets will not be substantially hindered or 
endangered. 

3.) Off-street parking and loading, and the entrances to and exits from such parking and loading, will be 
adequate in terms of location, amount, and design to serve the use.  

4.) Public facilities and utilities are capable of adequately serving the proposed use.  

5.) The proposed use will not have a significant adverse effect on the level of property values or the general 
character of the area.  

6.) Unless otherwise noted, the site plan submitted in support of an approved conditional use shall be 
considered part of the approval and must be followed.  

7.) Approval of a proposed use by the mayor and council does not constitute and [an] approval for future 
expansion of or additions or changes to the initially approved operation. Any future phases or changes 
that are considered significant by the planning commission and not included in the original approval are 
subject to the provisions of this section and the review of new detailed plans and reports for said 
alterations by the governing authority. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:    

Staff recommends approval of the use requested by application CUV 18-09-17 with conditions. 

At the regularly scheduled meeting, held Tuesday, October 2, 2018 at 5:00 PM, the Planning Commission voted 6-0 to 
approve application CUV 18-09-17 with staff recommendations and the following conditions: 

(a) Applicant will be required to coordinate with the City of Statesboro Fire Department to ensure life safety 
standards meet current code requirements. 

(b) The applicant must not exceed reasonable standards for parking and avoid excessive parking at the location. 

(c) The applicant may not install signage at the location. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 4 of 9 

 
Case # RZ 15-03-04 

April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # CUV 18-09-17 
September 21, 2018 

 

EXHIBIT A: LOCATION MAP 

 



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 5 of 9 

 
Case # RZ 15-03-04 

April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # CUV 18-09-17 
September 21, 2018 

 

EXHIBIT B: PHOTOS OF SUBJECT SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTIES 

Picture 1: Picture of the subject property, 17 Carmel Drive, currently a single family residence being operated as a 
long term residential addiction treatment community residence.  

 

Picture 2: View of the adjacent property, currently a single family residence located to the southwest of the 
subject site. 

 

 



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 6 of 9 

 
Case # RZ 15-03-04 

April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # CUV 18-09-17 
September 21, 2018 

 

EXHIBIT B: PHOTOS OF SUBJECT SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 

Picture 3: View of the adjacent property to the southeast of the subject site, currently a single family residence. 

 

Picture 4: View of the adjacent property to the northwest of the subject site, currently a single family residence. 

   



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 7 of 9 

 
Case # RZ 15-03-04 

April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # CUV 18-09-17 
September 21, 2018 

 

 

EXHIBIT B: PHOTOS OF SUBJECT SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 

Picture 5: View of surrounding properties, currently a single family residence being operated as a long term 
residential addiction treatment community residence and being considered under CUV 18-09-16 (24 Carmel Drive). 

 

Picture 6: View of surrounding properties, looking north along Carmel Drive.  

  



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 8 of 9 

 
Case # RZ 15-03-04 

April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # CUV 18-09-17 
September 21, 2018 

 

EXHIBIT B: PHOTOS OF SUBJECT SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 

Picture 7: View of surrounding properties, looking south along Carmel Drive. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 9 of 9 

 
Case # RZ 15-03-04 

April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # CUV 18-09-17 
September 21, 2018 

 

EXHIBIT C: 2014 FUTURE DEVELOPMENT MAP 

 



CITY OF STATESBORO 
 

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum, District 1 

Sam Jones, District 2 

Jeff Yawn, District 3 

John Riggs, District 4 

Derek Duke, District 5 

 
 

 

Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 

Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

Sue Starling, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 • STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence    Certified City of Ethics  

Telephone: (912) 764-5468      Fax: (912) 764-4691                                                                   

www.statesboroga.gov  

To: Randy Wetmore, City Manager and Sue Starling, City Clerk 

 

From: Owen Dundee, City Planner II 

 

Date: October 8, 2018 

 

RE: October 16, 2018 City Council Agenda Items 

 

Policy Issue: Statesboro Zoning Ordinance: Conditional Use Variance Request 

 

Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the conditional use variance 

requested by application CUV 18-09-18 with conditions. 

 

Background: Journey to Sober Living, LLC request a conditional use variance 

from Article V of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance for 0.55 acres of property 

located at 207 Donaldson Street to utilize the property as a community living 

arrangement facility (Tax Parcel S29 000123 000).  

 

Budget Impact: None 

 

Council Person and District: Yawn (District 3) 

 

Attachments: Development Services Report CUV-18-09-18 
 

http://www.statesboroga.gov/


 
 

City of Statesboro-Department of Planning and Development 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
P.O. Box 348    (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia 30458  (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

 

CUV 18-09-18 

CONDITIONAL USE VARIANCE REQUEST 

207 Donaldson Street 

LOCATION: 207 Donaldson Street  

REQUEST: 

Request for a conditional use variance 

from Article V of the Statesboro Zoning 

Ordinance for 0.36 acres of property 

located at 207 Donaldson Street to 

utilize the property as a long term 

residential addiction recovery 

community facility (Tax Parcel # S29 

000123 000). 

APPLICANT: Journey to Sober Living, LLC 

OWNER(S): James Hendry (Seabean LLC) 

ACRES: 0.36 acres 

PARCEL TAX  

MAP #: 
S29 000123 000 

COUNCIL        

DISTRICT:            
3 (Yawn) 

   

 

PROPOSAL: 

The applicant is requesting a conditional use variance to utilize 207 Donaldson Street (Tax Parcel S29 000123 000) as a 
long term residential addiction recovery community facility of twelve (12) adults (See Exhibit A – Location Map). The 
subject site is currently zoned R-15 (Single Family Residential) and the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance does not address 
or define group homes, personal care homes or recovery residences or designate an appropriate zoning district for such 
uses. In addition, Article II of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance states that a family in the R-15 zoning district may not 
consist of more than three (3) unrelated persons.  

SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING: 

 ZONING: LAND USE: 

NORTH: R-15 (Single Family Residential) Single-family detached dwelling units 

SOUTH: R-15 (Single Family Residential) Single-family detached dwelling units 

EAST: R-15 (Single Family Residential) Single-family detached dwelling units 

WEST O (Office and Business District)  Chi Alpha Christian Fellowship Building 

 

Properties to the north, south, and east are single family residential land uses. The properties to the west are office and 
business uses including Chi Alpha Christian Fellowship (See Exhibit B—Photos of Subject Site and Surrounding 
Properties). 

 

 

 



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 2 of 8 

 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 

April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # CUV 18-09-18 

September 21, 2018 

 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: 

The subject site lies within the “Commercial Redevelopment” character area and lies between the “Established/Existing 
Traditional Neighborhood” and “Urban Core/Downtown” character areas as identified by the City of Statesboro 2014 
Future Development Map (See Exhibit C—2014 Future Development Map) within the City of Statesboro Updated 2014 
Comprehensive Plan.   

Vision:  

“The Commercial Redevelopment areas are currently in decline with vacant or underutilized properties. These areas 
are characterized by a high degree of access by vehicular traffic; onsite parking; and a low degree of open space. It is 
the desire of the community to identify and target these areas for redevelopment and investment, thus returning these 
areas to their intended state of a thriving commercial and/or mixed use district.” 
 

Appropriate land uses include:  

 Major employers. 

 Commercial, including big box. 

 Medium/High density residential. 

 Single-Family residential along arterials. 
 

Suggested Development & Implementation Strategies 

 Location of higher density housing near commercial centers or along arterial roads, and single family detached 
housing elsewhere in the neighborhood. 

 New housing opportunities that are created out of former undeveloped commercial, warehouse, or industrial 
spaces. 

 Revitalization of existing neighborhood commercial centers to capture more market activity and serve as 
community focal points. 

 Statesboro Updated 2014 Comprehensive Plan, Community Agenda page 26-28. 

COMMUNITY FACILITIES AND TRANSPORTATION: 

The subject property is currently serviced by city utilities, sanitation, and public safety.  No significant impact is expected 
on community facilities or services as a result of this request.  

ENVIRONMENTAL: 

The subject property does not contain wetlands and is not located in a special flood hazard area. There is no expected 
environmental impact associated with this request. Any potential issues will be brought forth and discussed during 
standard permitting and review procedures. 

ANALYSIS: 

Section 2007 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance provides eight (8) standards for the Mayor and City Council 
to consider “in making its determination” regarding a zoning map amendment and “balancing the 
promotions of the public health, safety, morality (morals), and general welfare against the right of 
unrestricted use of property.” Those standards are numbered below 1-8.  Staff findings regarding some of 
the factors are given for Council’s consideration of the application: 

1.) Existing uses and zoning or [of] property nearby.  

2.) The extent to which property values are diminished by the particular zoning restrictions.  

3.) The extent to which the description of property values of the property owner promotes the health, 
safety, morals or general welfare of the public.  

a. The variance is needed in order to provide rehabilitative services to an adult population.  

4.) The relative gain to the public, as compared to the hardship imposed upon the property owner.  

5.) The suitability of the subject property for the zoned purposes.  

a. The subject site is suitable for the proposed use and could still be used as a single-family residence 
should this use, if granted, cease.  

6.) The length of time the property has been vacant as zoned, considered in the context of land 
development in the area in the vicinity of the property.  



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 3 of 8 

 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 

April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # CUV 18-09-18 

September 21, 2018 

 

7.) The extent the proposed change would impact the following: 

a. Population density in the area.  

i. The request would add twelve (12) additional persons to the area.  

b. Community facilities. 

c. Living conditions in the area.  

d. Traffic patterns and congestion.  

e. Environmental aspects.  

f. Existing and future land use patterns.  

g. Property values in adjacent areas.  

8.) Consistency with other governmental land use, transportation and development plans for the 
community. 

In addition to the standards for determination outlined in Section 2007, the Mayor and Council will consider 
the following factors established by Article XXIV Section 2406 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance:  

1.) Adequate provision is made by the applicant to reduce any adverse environmental impact of the 
proposed use to an acceptable level.  

2.) Vehicular traffic and pedestrian movement on adjacent streets will not be substantially hindered or 
endangered. 

3.) Off-street parking and loading, and the entrances to and exits from such parking and loading, will be 
adequate in terms of location, amount, and design to serve the use.  

4.) Public facilities and utilities are capable of adequately serving the proposed use.  

5.) The proposed use will not have a significant adverse effect on the level of property values or the general 
character of the area.  

6.) Unless otherwise noted, the site plan submitted in support of an approved conditional use shall be 
considered part of the approval and must be followed.  

7.) Approval of a proposed use by the mayor and council does not constitute and [an] approval for future 
expansion of or additions or changes to the initially approved operation. Any future phases or changes 
that are considered significant by the planning commission and not included in the original approval are 
subject to the provisions of this section and the review of new detailed plans and reports for said 
alterations by the governing authority. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:    

Staff recommends approval of the use requested by application CUV 18-09-18 with conditions. 

At the regularly scheduled meeting, held Tuesday, October 2, 2018 at 5:00 PM, the Planning Commission voted 6-0 to 
approve application CUV 18-09-18 with staff recommendations and the following conditions: 

(a) Applicant will be required to coordinate with the City of Statesboro Fire Department to ensure life safety 
standards meet current code requirements. 

(b) The applicant must not exceed reasonable standards for parking and avoid excessive parking at the location. 

(c) The applicant may not install signage at the location. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 4 of 8 

 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 

April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # CUV 18-09-18 

September 21, 2018 

 

EXHIBIT A: LOCATION MAP 

 



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 5 of 8 

 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 

April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # CUV 18-09-18 

September 21, 2018 

 

EXHIBIT B: PHOTOS OF SUBJECT SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTIES 

Picture 1: Picture of the subject property, 207 Donaldson Street, currently a single family residence being operated 
as a long term residential addiction treatment community residence.  

 

Picture 2: View of the surrounding properties, currently an apartment community located to the northeast of the 
subject site. 

 



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 6 of 8 

 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 

April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # CUV 18-09-18 

September 21, 2018 

 

 

EXHIBIT B: PHOTOS OF SUBJECT SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 

Picture 3: View of the surrounding properties, currently a single family residence located to the east of the subject 
site. 

 

Picture 4: View of the adjacent property to the south of the subject site, currently a single family residence. 

   



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 7 of 8 

 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 

April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # CUV 18-09-18 

September 21, 2018 

 

 

EXHIBIT B: PHOTOS OF SUBJECT SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 

Picture 5: View of surrounding properties, looking north along Donaldson Street. 

 

Picture 6: View of surrounding properties, looking south along Donaldson Street.  

  



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 8 of 8 

 

Case # RZ 15-03-04 

April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # CUV 18-09-18 

September 21, 2018 

 

 
EXHIBIT C: 2014 FUTURE DEVELOPMENT MAP 

 





















RESOLUTION 2018-27: A RESOLUTION TO ADOPT THE FIRST AMENDMENT 
TO THE SIX-YEAR CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS PROGRAM FOR THE FISCAL 

YEAR 2018-2019 THROUGH 2023-2024 FOR THE CITY OF STATESBORO, 
GEORGIA. 

 
 THAT WHEREAS, the City of Statesboro’s Six-Year Capital Improvements 
program was adopted by the City Council on June 19, 2018 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Statesboro desires to amend the Six-Year Capital 
Improvements Program 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the 
City of Statesboro, Georgia as follows: 
 
 Section 1.  That the proposed project to the Six-Year Capital Improvements 
Program, attached hereto as Attachment #1 and incorporated herein as a part of this 
Resolution, are hereby adopted as the First Amendment to the Six-Year Capital 
Improvements Program for the City's Fiscal Year 2019. 
 
 Section 2.  That this Resolution shall be and remain in full force and effect from 
and after its date of adoption. 
 
 Adopted this 16th day of October, 2018. 
 
 
 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 
 
 
 
__________________________________________ 
By:  Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 
 
 
 
__________________________________________ 
Attest: Sue Starling, City Clerk 
 
 



Attachment #1 
 

Project  STM-34 Little Lotts Creek Flood Control and Drainage Stud     
  

       
  

Description 
      

  
This area of the community has been the initial phase of storm water system studies.  This project will allow for the 
continuation of studies in this area as well as to investigate flood control measures ranging from stream realignment to 
detention and retention structures.  Potential fund sources include Stormwater Funds, State grants and loans, Federal 
grants and loans.  Estimated cost of improvements:  $6,000,000. 

           
Funding 

     
  

 
Total 

  
 

Adopted Projected Projected Projected Projected Projected   
  

 
FY 2019 FY 2020 FY 2021 FY 2022 FY 2023 FY 2024   

Operating 
Income, State 
grants and loans, 
Federal grants 
and loans  $   500,000   $    500,000  $    2,000,000  $ 2,000,000  $  1,000,000   $             -     $  6,000,000  
Total   $     500,000  $     500,000  $    2,000,000  $ 2,000,000  $  1,000,000   $             -    $   6,000,000  
  

       
  

Impact on FY 2019 Operating Budget 
    

  
No impact on FY 2019 Operating Budget 

    
  

  
       

  
  

       
  

                  
 



 
 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence    Certified City of Ethics  
Telephone: (912) 764-5468      Fax: (912) 764-4691                                                                   www.statesboroga.gov  
 

CITY OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 • STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 
Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

Robert Cheshire, Deputy City Manager 
Sue Starling, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phil Boyum, District 1 
Sam Jones, District 2 
Jeff Yawn, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Derek Duke, District 5 

 
  
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
To: Randy Wetmore, City Manager 
      
 
From: Darren Prather, Central Services Director 
 
Date: 10-8-18 
 
RE: Policy Issue:  Contract Award—Vehicle Purchases/PD and Water Dept. 
 
Recommendation:  
 
We recommend the contract to purchase these vehicles be awarded to Wade Ford as they have 
offered the lowest responsive sealed bid for this group of vehicles. If approved, the bid amounts 
awarded are as follows: 
 

1. Wade Ford (10) Explorer SUVs $29,009.00 each (SWC)  $290,090.00 Total 
2. Wade Ford (1) F-150 Crew  $26,476.00 each    $26,476.00 Total 
3. Wade Ford (2) F-150   $21,397.00 each   $42,794.00 Total 
4. Wade Ford (1) Cab & Chas. $35,297.00 each   $35,297.00 Total 

 
The Police vehicles are funded under CIP# PD-1 with remaining funds from the recent 1 mill increase 
with a budget not to exceed $545,000.00 and the Waste Water Department trucks are funded by 
general operational funds under CIP# WWD-49 ($75,050), WWD-101($30,000) and WWD-139 ($30,000). 
 
Background: 
 
The City of Statesboro solicited sealed bids for the purchase of vehicles for the Police Department and 
Waste Water Department. This group of vehicles included, 7 police patrol SUVs, 2 K9 SUVs, 1 unmarked 
police SUV, 1 unmarked police pickup, 2 half-ton Water Dept. pickups and 1 Cab and Chassis with a 
platform body Water Dept. truck for a total of 14 vehicles. The Police vehicles are funded under CIP# 
PD-1 with remaining funds from the recent 1 mill increase with a budget not to exceed $545,000.00 and 
the Waste Water Department trucks are funded by general operational funds under CIP# WWD-49 
($75,050), WWD-101($30,000) and WWD-139 ($30,000).  All Police Department vehicles include a 
specified 7 year /100,000 mile warranty that is included in the bid price. Remaining funds from the 
$545,000.00 budgeted for the patrol cars will be used to up fit the patrol cars with lights, radios, laptops 
etc. The bid package clearly stated all vehicles would be awarded based on the lowest responsive 
price per vehicle meaning multiple vendors potentially could be awarded vehicle purchase contracts. 
The City sent out an invitation to bid to all local dealerships as well as other dealerships around the state. 
This opportunity was advertised per our policy, directly emailed to all local and selected out of town 
dealerships and numerous contacts via phone calls and emails were made to all dealerships to make 
them fully aware of this opportunity. Several factors were used in the evaluation of the submitted sealed 

http://www.statesboroga.gov/


Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.gov 

 

bids such as, lowest responsive bid price, the City of Statesboro’s 3% in-county advantage, delivery time 
requirements and the State of Georgia’s State Wide Contract (SWC) was factored in as a bid response 
as well. An invitation to bid was sent to 7 dealerships resulting in three submittals along with the State of 
Georgia State Wide Contract (SWC). The submitted sealed bids are as follows: 
 
Dealership: 
 

1. Allan Vigil Ford 
 

A. 7 Police Patrol SUVs    $29,672.00 each  
B. 2 K9 Police SUVs  $29,672.00 each 
C. 1 Unmarked Police SUV $29,737.00 each 
D. 1 Unmarked Police PU  $27,006.00 each / GA SWC $27.309.00 
E. 2 ½ Ton Water Dept. PUs $21,424.00 each / GA SWC $21,411.00 
F. 1 Cab and Chas. WD   $No Bid 

 
2. Franklin Chevrolet 

 
A. 7 Police Patrol SUVs  $35,269.00 each 
B. 2 K9 Police SUVs  $35,269.00 each 
C. 1 Unmarked Police SUV $35,269.00 each 
D. 1 Unmarked Police PU  $34,884.53 each 
E. 2 ½ Ton Water Dept. Pus $32,652.00 each 
F. 1 Cab and Chas. WD  $41,587.00 each 

 
3. Wade Ford 

 
A. 7 Police Patrol SUVs  $34,749.00 each / GA SWC $29,009.00 
B. 2 K9 Police SUVs  $35,287.00 each / GA SWC $29,009.00 
C. 1 Unmarked Police SUV $34,749.00 each / GA SWC $29,009.00 
D. 1 Unmarked Police PU  $26,476.00 each 
E. 2 ½ Ton Water Dept. PUs $21,397.00 each 
F. 1 Cab and Chas. WD  $35,297.00 each / GA SWC $38,684.31 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Council Person and District: All 
 
Attachments: None 
 
 
 
 



 
 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence    Certified City of Ethics  
Telephone: (912) 764-5468      Fax: (912) 764-4691                                                                   www.statesboroga.gov  
 

CITY OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 • STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 
Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

Robert Cheshire, Deputy City Manager 
Sue Starling, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phil Boyum, District 1 
Sam Jones, District 2 
Jeff Yawn, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Derek Duke, District 5 

 
  
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
To: Randy Wetmore, City Manager 
      
 
From: Darren Prather, Central Services Director 
 
Date: 10-8-18 
 
RE: Policy Issue:  Contract Award—Compensation Study 
 
Recommendation:  
 
It is recommended the contract to provide a Compensation Study to the City of Statesboro be 
awarded to Condrey and Associates in the amount of $29,900.00 as they have been unanimously 
selected by our evaluation team as providing the best overall response to our RFP given the evaluation 
criteria contained therein.  
 
Background: 
 
The City of Statesboro solicited proposals for a Compensation Study. The purpose of this study is to 
provide a competitive compensation package that will both retain and attract highly-qualified 
employees. If approved, this study will provide documented research on comparative compensation 
packages for all City positions as compared to other governmental entities as well as private sector 
positions that we are competing with to retain and hire highly-qualified employees. The last 
compensation study the City received was well over three years ago and it did not factor in the private 
sector when establishing submitted recommendations to the City. If approved by Council, the selected 
company will utilize numerous research tools and canvas similar organizations/jobs, both in the public 
and private sector, to produce a recommended compensation package for all City of Statesboro 
employment positions. During this process, the company will meet with Council and staff to keep us fully 
informed and make sure all needs are being met through this study. This RFP process was advertised per 
our policy and sent to numerous companies specializing in the provision of compensation studies to 
governmental entities. The submittals were evaluated by a two-stage process involving an individual 
ranking and secondly a final group evaluation stage in which a consensus was reached after viewing 
presentations that were offered by the companies making this second stage of evaluation. The criteria 
used to evaluate these companies included, the quality of the submitted proposal, related experience 
of the firm and staff, recommendations provided and credentials of staff, a sample of a previously 
performed compensation study, the ability of the firm to provide the services requested and cost. 
During this process, the City received three responses to our RFP and they included, Condrey and 
Associates, Evergreen Solutions and Slavine Management Consultants. As stated previously, the City 
evaluation team graded each company individually and they selected the top-rated companies to 
move on the next round of evaluations which included in-person presentations. Condrey and 
Associates and Evergreen Solutions were selected to offer presentations as a result of this process. At the 

http://www.statesboroga.gov/


Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.gov 

 

conclusion of these presentations, the evaluation team came to a unanimous consensus as to the final 
ranking. Condrey and Associates was the top-ranked company by our evaluation team. As is customary 
for this type of RFP process, once a final order is established, negotiations involving the final cost is 
performed starting with the top-rated company until either an agreed cost is reached or both parties 
come to an impasse and, in which case, negotiations begin with the next highest ranked company. The 
final negotiated cost with Condrey and Associates was $29,900.00 versus Evergreen Solutions submitted 
cost of $24,000.00. The evaluation team came to a unanimous recommendation to award the 
compensation study contract to Condrey and Associates based on factoring in all the evaluation 
criteria. It was felt Condrey and Associates offered the best personnel assigned to the City and the best 
approach to providing a useable compensation system that will grow with our employees as the City 
progresses. Even with a slightly higher cost, it is recommended to award the contract to Condrey and 
Associates as the evaluation team views Condrey and Associates as the best choice given all 
evaluation criteria that was used in the evaluation process. 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Council Person and District: All 
 
Attachments: None 
 
 
 
 



 
 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence    Certified City of Ethics  
Telephone: (912) 764-5468      Fax: (912) 764-4691                                                                   www.statesboroga.gov  
 

CITY OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 • STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 
Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

Robert Cheshire, Deputy City Manager 
Sue Starling, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phil Boyum, District 1 
Sam Jones, District 2 
Jeff Yawn, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Derek Duke, District 5 

 
  
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
To: Randy Wetmore, City Manager 
      
From: Darren Prather, Central Services Director 
 
Date: 10-8-18 
 
RE: Policy Issue:  Contract Award—Security Door System/Police Dept. 
 
Recommendation:  
 
It is recommended to award a contract to provide a managed security door system for the Police 
Department in the amount of $34,500.00 for the installation of equipment and an amount of $528.00 for 
monthly monitoring/maintenance to ADS. ADS is the sole source provider of the Secure Door brand 
security system currently in use at the Fire Department facilities. This project was approved as a CIP in 
the amount of $45,000.00. 
 
Background: 
 
Approximately twelve years ago, the new Police Station was built and included a door security system. 
Since then, that current system has needed many repairs and has become obsolete. Since it is no 
longer in production, parts are hard to find and the service technician has to be sent from Florida when 
repairs are needed leading to expensive repairs and mileage costs for these numerous problems that 
are encountered. A few years ago, a bid was awarded to the Fire Department for a remotely managed 
security door system from ADS who is the sole provider for the Secure Door system currently in use at our 
Fire Stations. This system allows for instant access permission changes at any point during the day or 
night. By piggy backing the Fire Department contract, the Police Department will gain the ability to 
coordinate with the Fire Department as to access permissions between the two agencies. This is only 
possible if both departments are on the same security system as ADS is the sole source provider for this 
proposed system. The price quoted by ADS ($34,200.00 installation of equipment and a monthly 
monitoring/maintenance fee of $528.00) is based on the existing contract with the Fire Department 
facilities. This door security system proposed by ADS, will allow designated police offers to fully manage 
all access points in their facility as each key fob can be individualized based on needed access 
privileges required by each officer on duty.  
 
 
 
Council Person and District: All 
 
Attachments: None 
 
 

http://www.statesboroga.gov/


 
 

 
Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 

Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

Sue Starling, City Clerk 
I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phil Boyum, District 1 
Sam Jones, District 2 
Jeff Yawn, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Derek Duke, District 5 

 
  
 
 
  
 
 
    
To:   Randy Wetmore, City Manager 
 
From:  Jason Boyles, Director of Public Works and Engineering 
  David Campbell, Interim City Engineer 
 
Date:  10/8/2018 
 
RE:  FY2019 Resurfacing List and LMIG Application 
 
Policy Issue:  Street Resurfacing 
 
Recommendation:  
 
Engineering staff recommends approval of the attached resolution, list for 
resurfacing projects for FY2019, and the GDOT LMIG FY2019 application.  
 
Background:  
 
Local Maintenance and Improvement Grant (LMIG), is an annual program in 
which GDOT allocates transportation funds to local governments. The City uses 
these funds to supplement the Street Resurfacing Budget.  City Engineering staff 
evaluates City streets annually to prioritize and select streets for the yearly LMIG 
resurfacing list that is submitted to GDOT. 
 
Budget Impact:   
 
For FY2019, GDOT will allocate $300,561.86 to the City of Statesboro with a 
minimum requirement of at least 30% matching funds.  The City has $772,000 in 
2019 TSPLOST funds.  The total budget for the resurfacing project will be 
$1,072,561.86. 
 
Council Person and District: 
The street resurfacing list includes streets in each district. 
 
Attachments:  LMIG Application 
   Resolution 
   Street Resurfacing List 
   Street Resurfacing Map 



RESOLUTION #2018-28: 

 A Resolution approving the City of Statesboro Proposed Fiscal Year 2019 Street Resurfacing Program 
List and further authorizing the Mayor to execute the Georgia Department of Transportation (GDOT) 
Local Maintenance & Improvement Grant (LMIG) Application for Fiscal Year 2019. 

 THAT WHEREAS, the City participates in the GDOT LMIG Program; 

 WHEREAS, this program provides funding assistance for road improvement projects within the 
City of Statesboro for the benefit of the citizenry; 

 WHEREAS, the LMIG program requires that the City present a list of streets for participation 
annually and that the City execute the Local Government Affidavit and Certification in order to 
receive funding assistance for the listed streets, with the City providing at least 30% matching 
funds; 

 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Statesboro, 
Georgia as follows: 

Section 1. The City Engineer has prepared a list of roads for funding through the LMIG program to the 
City Manager. The City Manager has reviewed the list and recommends approval by the City Council. 

Section 2. The City Council has reviewed the list prepared by the City Engineer attached to this 
resolution and has received the recommendation of the City Manager. The City Council authorized the 
Mayor to execute the Local Government Affidavit and Certification with GDOT. 

Section 3. That this Resolution shall be and remain effective from and after its date of adoption. 

Adopted this 16th day of October, 2018. 

CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 

 

By:  ________________________                         Attest:  ______________________      
       Jonathan McCollar, Mayor                Sue Starling, City Clerk                                                 









District 1

District 1

District 4

District 2

District 3

District 5

District 5

Lee Street
Lewis Street to

Lewis Street

Kensington Mews
Cul-de-sac to

Cul-de-sac

West Cherry Street
South College Street to

South College Street

Rowand Circle
North Edgewood Drive to
North Edgewood Drive

Florence Ave
East Inman Street to

East Inman Street

Prince Way
Terminus to

Terminus

Terrell Drive
Gentilly Road to
Gentilly Road

Institute Street
West Grady Street to
West Grady Street

Carter Drive
Terminus to
Terminus

North/South Easy Street
North Main Street to

North Main Street

Benson Drive
Kensington Mews to

Kensington Mews

Bulloch Street
Martin Luther King Jr. Drive to
Martin Luther King Jr. Drive

Meadowlark Circle
Terminus to
Terminus

Holly Drive
North Edgewood Drive to
North Edgewood Drive

Lewis Street
Raymond Street to
Raymond Street

Rogers Road
Terminus to
Terminus

Wildwood Drive
Wood Valley Circle to

Wood Valley Circle

Jef Road
Zetterower Road to

Zetterower Road

North College Street
Pinewood Drive to

Pinewood Drive Joyce Street
Shelby Street to
Shelby Street

Bel-Air Drive
Peg-Wen Boulevard to
Peg-Wen Boulevard

Chelsea Circle
Terminus to
Terminus

Sources: Esri, HERE, Garmin, USGS, Intermap, INCREMENT P, NRCan, Esri Japan, METI, Esri China (Hong Kong), Esri Korea, Esri (Thailand), NGCC, ©
OpenStreetMap contributors, and the GIS User Community

2019 Resurfacing



 
 

 
Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 

Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

Sue Starling, City Clerk 
I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phil Boyum, District 1 
Sam Jones, District 2 
Jeff Yawn, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Derek Duke, District 5 

 
  
 
 
  
 
 
    
To:   Randy Wetmore, City Manager 
 
From:  Jason Boyles, Director of Public Works and Engineering 
  David Campbell, Interim City Engineer 
 
Date:  10/08/2018 
 
RE: Consideration to Abandon West Cherry Street between South College Street and Martin 

Luther King Jr. Drive 
 
Policy Issue:  Property and Right-of-Way 
 
Recommendation:  
Engineering Staff recommends approval of Resolution for abandonment of West Cherry Street between 
South College Street and Martin Luther King Jr. Drive.  Disposition of property will be presented during 
the November 6, 2018 City Council Meeting. 
 
Background:  
A public hearing was held at the October 2, 2018 city council meeting on behalf of The West District 
Development who has requested that the City abandon the segment of West Cherry Street from South 
College Street to Martin Luther King, Jr. Drive. In addition to currently developing the property to the 
south of West Cherry Street the owners of the development have recently acquired the property to the 
north of West Cherry Street and are seeking to utilize the currently right of way as a common area to 
both improvements. The only potential impact to this request would be to the Open Hearts Community 
Mission on Martin Luther King, Jr. Drive. The developers have contacted the Mission regarding this 
proposal and have received an endorsement from them for this. If approved, the developers have 
agreed to allow the Mission and both pedestrians and vehicles to traverse the property from South 
College Street to Martin Luther King, Jr. Drive. Public Works & Engineering staff have evaluated this 
request and have consulted with the city attorney for agreement. Staff found that this street sees 
minimal daily vehicle and pedestrian traffic due the presence of West Main Street to the North and 
Bulloch Street to the South, each of which provides a more natural and convenient connection between 
South College Street and Martin Luther King, Jr. Drive. In addition, this road is in disrepair and in need of 
maintenance. Further, the city attorney has advised that Georgia case law provides the Mayor and City 
Council with broad discretion in determining what is in the public interest in consideration of 
abandonment. Therefore, I am of the opinion that the Mayor and City Council consider formally 
abandoning and closing this segment of West Cherry Street and convey the property to the adjacent 
property owners with the caveat that utility easements, where deemed necessary by the City, be 
dedicated to the City for the maintenance and operation of infrastructure. The public hearing notice has 
been properly advertised in accordance with State law and past practice. Additionally, pertinent 
departments and public safety agencies have been notified of this proposed abandonment. 
 



Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

 

 
Budget Impact: 
The abandonment of this segment of West Cherry Street will remove the City’s obligation for street 
maintenance and repair from the overall budget. This road is currently in disrepair and in need of 
resurfacing.   
 
Council Person and District: Sam Jones, District 2 
 
Attachments:  

• Utility Easement for West District 
• Resolution for Abandonment of West Cherry Street 

 



RESOLUTION 2018-29: 

A RESOLUTION TO ABANDON A PORTION OF WEST CHERRY STREET BETWEEN SOUTH COLLEGE AND 
MARTIN LUTHER KING JR. DRIVE. 

THAT WHEREAS, OCGA § 32-7-2(C) vests the Mayor and City Council of Statesboro authority to close public 
streets and alleys when it finds that a closure of a public street or alley to be in the interest of the public 
at large; 

WHEREAS, West Cherry Street is the subject of this resolution is identified on the Attached 
Exhibit A. 

WHEREAS, a Public Hearing on this matter was held on October 2, 2018 before the Mayor and  
City Council; 

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Statesboro, 
Georgia as follows: 

Section 1. The Mayor and City Council make the following findings of fact based on the evidence 
presented at the Public hearing that was held on October 2, 2018.  The Mayor and City Council agree with 
the City Engineers analysis.  The entirety of the property, as indicated on Exhibit A, are now owned by a 
single entity instead of individual property owners.  Thus, the city is utilizing public funding and personnel 
to maintain a roadway that is rarely used by the traveling public. 

Section 2. The Mayor and City Council should retain appropriate utility easements in the property, 
and grant appropriate easements to others prior to quitclaiming the City’s interest in the property to the 
adjoining landowners. 

Section 3. Based on the above finding of fact the Mayor and City Council finds that the closing of this 
roadway identified in Exhibit A is for the benefit of the public at large, and hereby authorize the Mayor to 
execute any documents necessary to retain needed easements in the property; grant appropriate 
easements in the property to others, to determine the fair market value of any interest in land conveyed 
to an adjoining property owner, and to execute any documents necessary to convey the City’s remaining 
interest in the property to the adjoining landowners. 

Section 4. That this Resolution shall be and remain effective from and after its date of adoption. 

Adopted this _____ day of _____________2018 
 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 

 
 

By:_________________________________                     Attest:_______________________________ 
Jonathan McCollar, Mayor                                                   Sue Sterling, City Clerk  
 
 




	10-16-2018 Council Agenda
	10-2018 proclamation Domestic Violence
	10-02-2018 Council Minutes
	10-2018-09 Ordinance Diversity Memo
	10-2018-09 Ordinance Diversity and Inclusion Comm Resolution
	10-2018-10 Ordinance Youth memo
	10-2018-10 Ordinance Youth Comm Resolution (1)
	10-2018-11 OrdinanceWorks! memo
	10-2018-11 Ordinance Works! Comm Resolution (1)
	10-2018 Planning and zoning
	CBD 18-09-01
	V 18-09-02
	RZ 18-09-03
	RZ 18-09-04
	RZ 18-09-05
	V 18-09-07, RZ 18-09-06, V 18-09-08, V 18-09-09
	V 18-09-10
	V 18-09-11
	V 18-09-12
	V 18-09-13
	V 18-09-14
	V 18-09-15
	CUV 18-09-16
	CUV 18-09-17
	CUV 18-09-18

	10-2018 Eagle Creek
	10-2018 Blue Room
	10-2018-27 A RESOLUTION TO ADOPT THE FIRST AMENDMENT TO THE CIP
	10-2018 Vehicle Rec (1)
	10-2018  Salary Study Rec
	10-2018 Door Security Rec PD
	10-2018-28 LMIG Memo
	10-2018-28 LMIG resolution for City Council FY2019
	10-2018-28  LMIG Application
	10-20108-28 Street Resurfacing List
	10-2018-28 Street Resurfacing Map
	10-2018-29 memo for W Cherry St abandonment
	10-2018-29 Reolution W Cherry St Abandonment
	10-2018-29 Exhibit A West Cherry

